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Amkor Technology ...
Providing Solutions for a Connected World

Amkor is one of the world’s leading providers of
outsourced semiconductor packaging and test services.
Founded in 1968, we pioneered the outsourcing of
semiconductor packaging and test services, and today
we are a strategic design and manufacturing partner for
many of the world’s leading semiconductor companies
and electronics original equipment manufacturers.

By capitalizing on strong outsourcing trends and
consistently meeting customer needs, we have enjoyed
significant growth over our 45-year history.

We are a leader in developing and commercializing
advanced semiconductor packaging and test solutions.
Creating successful interconnect solutions for
advanced semiconductor devices often poses unique
thermal, electrical and mechanical design criteria, and
we employ a large number of engineers to solve these
challenges. We produce hundreds of package types
which encompass more than 1,000 unique products,
representing one of the broadest package offerings

in the semiconductor industry. This wide variety of
package offerings is necessary to meet the diverse
needs of our customers for the optimal combination of
performance, size and cost.

We also have a broad and geographically diversified
operational footprint. Our operations comprise more
than five million square feet of manufacturing space
strategically located in five countries in many of the
world’s important electronics manufacturing regions.

Packaging and test are integral steps in the process

of manufacturing semiconductor devices. The
semiconductor manufacturing process begins with

the fabrication of individual transistors, or multiple
transistors and other electronic elements combined
into an integrated circuit (generally known as a “chip”
or “die”), onto semiconductor material such as a silicon
wafer. Each chip on the wafer is probe tested. The good
chips are identified and the wafer is then separated
into individual die. Each good die is then assembled
into a package that typically encapsulates the die for
protection and creates the electrical connections used
to connect the package to a printed circuit board,
module or other part of the electronic device.

In some packages, chips are attached to a substrate
or leadframe carrier through wirebonding or flip

chip interconnects and then encased in a protective
material. Or, for a wafer-level package, the electrical
interconnections are created directly on the surface of
the die (while the wafer is still intact) so that the chip
may be attached directly to other parts of an electronic
device without a substrate or leadframe. The packages
are then tested using sophisticated equipment to
ensure that each packaged chip meets its design and
performance specifications.

If you look inside a microelectronic product you won’t
see Amkor’s name on the actual packages, but you will
see the names of our customers - more than 200 of
the world’s leading semiconductor suppliers.
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PART |
ltem 1. Business
DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Thisbusiness section contains forward-looking statements. 1n some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by
terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,”
“potential,” “continue,” “intend” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. Because such statements
includerisksand uncertainties, actual resultsmay differ materially fromthoseantici patedin suchforward-looking statements.
In evaluating these statements, you shoul d specifically consider variousfactors, including therisksoutlinedin Part |, Item 1A
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. These factors may cause our actual results to differ materially from any forward-
looking statement.

OVERVIEW

Amkor isone of theworld’sleading providers of outsourced semiconductor packaging (sometimesreferred to as assembly)
and test services. Amkor pioneered the outsourcing of semiconductor packaging and test services through a predecessor
corporation in 1968 and over the years we have built aleading position by:

» Designing and developing new packaging and test technologies;
» Offering abroad portfolio of packaging and test technologies and services;

e Cultivating long-standing relationships with our customers, which include many of the world’s leading
semiconductor companies, and collaborating with original equipment manufacturers (“OEMS’) and equipment
and material suppliers;

» Developing a cost competitive cost structure with disciplined capital investment and building expertise in high-
volume manufacturing processes and

» Having adiversified operational scope with research and development, engineering and production capabilities at
various facilities throughout China, Japan, Korea, the Philippines, Taiwan and the United States (“U.S.”).

Packaging and test are integral steps in the process of manufacturing semiconductor devices. The semiconductor
manufacturing process begins with the fabrication of individual transistors, or multiple transistors and other electronic
elements combined into an integrated circuit (generally known asa*“chip” or “die”), onto semiconductor material such as
asilicon wafer. Each chip on the wafer is probe tested. The good chips are identified and the wafer is then separated into
individual die. Each good dieisthen assembled into a package that typically encapsulatesthe die for protection and creates
the electrical connections used to connect the package to a printed circuit board, module or other part of the electronic
device. Insomepackages, chipsareattachedto asubstrateor |eadframecarrier through wirebonding or flip chipinterconnects
and then encased in a protective material. Or, for awafer-level package, the electrical interconnections are created directly
onthe surface of thedie (whilethewafer isstill intact) so that the chip may be attached directly to other parts of an electronic
device without a substrate or leadframe. The packages are then tested using sophisticated equipment to ensure that each
packaged chip meets its design and performance specifications. The test services we offer include probe testing and final
testing.

Our packaging services are designed to meet application and chip specific requirements including the type of interconnect
technology employed; size; thickness and electrical, mechanical and thermal performance. We are able to provide turnkey
packaging and test servicesincluding semiconductor wafer bump, wafer probe, wafer backgrind, package design, packaging,
test and drop shipment services.

Our customersinclude, among others: Altera Corporation; Analog Devices, Inc.; Broadcom Corporation; Intel Corporation;
LSl Corporation; Qualcomm Incorporated; Sony Corporation; STMicroelectronics N.V.; Texas Instruments Incorporated
and Toshiba Corporation. The outsourced semiconductor packaging and test market is very competitive. We also compete
with the internal semiconductor packaging and test capabilities of many of our customers.



AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Amkor files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). You may read and copy any document we file at the SEC’s Public Reference Room,
100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Pleasecall the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for information on the Public Reference
Room. The SEC maintains a web site that contains annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other
information that issuers (including Amkor) file electronically with the SEC. The SEC'sweb siteis http://www.sec.gov.

Amkor’sweb siteis http://www.amkor.com. Amkor makes available free of charge through its web site, our annual reports
on Form 10-K; quarterly reports on Form 10-Q; current reports on Form 8-K; Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed on behalf of directors
and executive officers and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the
SEC. We aso make available, free of charge, through our web site, our Corporate Governance Guidelines, the charters of
the Audit Committee, Nominating and Governance Committee and Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors,
our Code of Business Conduct, our Code of Ethicsfor Directors and other information and materials. The information on
Amkor’s web site is not incorporated by reference into this report.

INDUSTRY BACKGROUND

Semiconductor devices are the essential building blocks used in most electronic products. As e ectronic and semiconductor
devices have evolved, several important trends have emerged that have fueled the growth of the overall semiconductor
industry, as well as the market for outsourced semiconductor packaging and test services. These trends include:

e Anincreasing demandfor mobileandinternet-connected devices, including worl d-wide adoption of mobile* smart”
phones and tablets that can access the web and provide multimedia capabilities. The demand for digital video
content has driven a range of higher performance internet connected home and mobile consumer €electronics
products including the rapidly growing smartphone and tablet categories.

* Increasing mobility and connectivity capabilitiesand growing digital content aredriving demandfor new broadband
wired and wireless networking equipment.

e Theproliferation of semiconductor devicesinto well established end products such as automotive systems due to
increased use of electronics for safety, navigation, fudl efficiency, emission reduction and entertainment systems.

* Anoveral increasein the semiconductor content within el ectronic productsin order to providegreater functionality
and higher levels of performance.

Our businessisimpacted by market conditionsin the semiconductor industry, which is cyclical by nature and impacted by
broad economic factors, such as world-wide gross domestic product and consumer spending. Historical trends indicate
therehasbeen astrong correl ation betweenworld-widegrossdomestic product level s, consumer spending and semi conductor
industry cycles.

Semiconductor companies outsource their packaging and test needs to contract service providers such as Amkor for the
following reasons:

Contract service providers have developed expertise in advanced packaging and test technologies.

Semiconductor packaging and test technologies continue to become more sophisticated, complex and customized due to
increasing demands for miniaturization, greater functionality and improved thermal and electrical performance. Thistrend
has led many semiconductor companies and OEMs to view packaging and test as enabling technologies requiring
sophisti cated expertiseand technol ogical innovation. Many of these companiesareal so relying on contract service providers
of packaging and test services as key sources for new package designs and advanced interconnect technologies, thereby
enabling them to reduce their internal research and development costs.



Contract service providers offer a cost effective solution in a highly cyclical, capital intensive industry.

The semiconductor industry is cyclical by nature and impacted by broad economic factors, such as changesin world-wide
gross domestic product and consumer spending. Semiconductor packaging and test are complex processes requiring
substantial investment in specialized equipment, factories and human resources. Asaresult of thiscyclicality and thelarge
investments required, manufacturing facilities must operate at consistently high levels of utilization to be cost effective.
Shorter product life cycles, coupled with the need to update or replace packaging and test equipment to accommodate new
package types, make it more difficult for integrated semiconductor companiesto maintain cost effective utilization of their
packaging and test assets throughout semiconductor industry cycles. Contract service providers of packaging and test
services, on the other hand, can typically use their assetsto support abroad range of customers, potentially generating more
efficient use of their production assets and a more cost effective solution.

Contract service providers can facilitate a more efficient supply chain and help shorten time-to-market for new products.

We believe that semiconductor companies, together with their customers, are seeking to shorten the time-to-market for their
new products, and that having an effective supply chain is a critical factor in facilitating timely and successful product
introductions. Contract service providers of packaging and test services have the resources and expertise to timely develop
their packaging and test capabilities and implement new packaging technology in volume. For this reason, semiconductor
companiesand OEMsare leveraging capabilities of contract service providers of packaging and test servicesto deliver their
new products to market more quickly.

The availability of high quality packaging and test services from contract service providers allows semiconductor
manufacturers to focus their resources on semiconductor design and wafer fabrication.

As semiconductor process technology migrates to larger wafers and smaller feature sizes, the cost of building a state-of -
the-art wafer fabrication factory hasrisen significantly and can now be several billionsof dollars. The high cost of investing
in next generation silicon technology and equipment is causing many semiconductor companies to adopt or maintain a
“fabless’ or “fab-lite” strategy to reduce or eliminate their investment in wafer fabrication and associated packaging and
test operations. As a result, these companies are increasing their reliance on outsourced providers of semiconductor
manufacturing services, including packaging and test. “Fabless’” semiconductor companies do not have factories and focus
exclusively on the semiconductor design process and outsource virtually every step of the manufacturing process.

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS AND STRATEGY

Webelievewe arewell-positioned in the outsourced packaging and test servicesmarket. To build upon our industry position
and to remain one of the preferred providers of semiconductor packaging and test services, we are pursuing the following
strategies:

Leading Technology Innovator

We are a leader in developing advanced semiconductor packaging and test solutions. We have designed and devel oped
several state-of-the-art packageformatsand technol ogiesincluding our Package-on-Package (“ PoP”) platformwith Through
Mold Via (“TMV") technology, FusionQuad, flip chip ball grid array, multi-chip modules with a silicon interposer placed
between the modul e chipsand substrate, copper pillar bumping and fine pitch copper pillar flip chip packaging technol ogies.
In addition, we believe that as semiconductor technology continuesto achieve smaller device geometrieswith higher levels
of speed and performance, packageswill increasingly requireflip chip and three dimensional or “3D” interconnect solutions
that stack multiple chipsin asingle package. We have been investing in our technology leadership in electroplated wafer
bumping, wafer-level processing and 3D packaging technologies. Wehave also been aleader in devel oping environmentally
friendly integrated circuit packaging, which involves the elimination of lead and certain other materials.

In the area of 3D packaging, we have been a market and technology leader in both stacked die, such as stacked chip scale
packages and FlipStack, and stacked package technologies such as PoP and TMV. The semiconductor industry is now in
aperiod of 3D packaging development where Through Silicon Via (“ TSV") interconnect technology will be used to create
3D integrated circuits. We continue to invest in developing the key processes and package and test technologies required
for our customersto deliver 3D solutionsto market. We are aleader in wafer thinning, micro-bumping and TSV-based flip



chip stacking technologies, and we are leveraging our technology development relationships with key customersin diverse
applications to develop and deploy new 3D packaging and test solutions with high density TSV interconnections.

We provide a complete range of test engineering services from test program development to full product characterization
for radio frequency mixed signal, logic and memory devices. We are amajor provider of radio frequency test servicesand
aleader in strip test, an innovative paralldl test solution that offers customers lower cost, faster index time and improved
yields.

We have approximately 400 employees engaged in research and devel opment focusing on the design and devel opment of
new semiconductor packaging and test technologies.

Long-Standing Relationships and Collaboration with Prominent Semiconductor Companies

Our customers include most of the world's largest semiconductor companies and over the last four decades, we have
developed long-standing rel ationshi ps with many of these companies. We believe that our production excellence has been
akey factor in our successin attracting and retaining customers. We work with our customers and our suppliersto develop
proprietary process technol ogiesto enhance our existing capabilities, reduce time-to-market, increase quality and lower our
costs.

We believe that our focus on research and product development will enable us to enter new markets early, capture market
share and promote the adoption of our new package designs as industry standards. We collaborate with customers and
leading OEM s to devel op comprehensive packaging solutions that make it easier for next-generation semiconductors to be
designed into next-generation end products. By collaborating with leading semiconductor companies and OEM electronic
companies, we gain access to technology roadmaps for next generation semiconductor designs and obtain the opportunity
to develop new packages that satisfy their future requirements.

Broad Offering of Semiconductor Package Design, Packaging and Test Services

Creating successful interconnect solutions for advanced semiconductor devices often poses unique thermal, electrical and
mechanical design challenges, and we employ alarge number of engineersto solve these challenges. We produce hundreds
of package types which encompass more than 1,000 unique products, representing one of the broadest package offerings
in the semiconductor industry. This wide variety of packaging offerings is necessary to meet the diverse needs of our
customersfor the optimal combination of performance, size and cost attributes. Our solutionsenable our customersto focus
on semiconductor design and wafer fabrication while utilizing Amkor as their turnkey design and manufacturing provider
and, in many cases, their packaging technology innovator.

We also offer an extensive line of advanced probe and final test services for analog, digital, logic, mixed signal and radio
frequency semiconductor devices. We believe that the breadth of our design, packaging and test services is important to
customers seeking to limit the number of their suppliers.

Geographically Diversified Operational Base

We have a broad and geographically diversified operational footprint. Our operations comprise more than five million
square feet of manufacturing space strategically located in five countries in many of the world’s important electronics
manufacturing regions. We believe that our scale and scope allow us to provide cost effective solutions to our customers

by:
»  Offering capacity to absorb large orders and accommaodate quick turn-around times;

e Obtaining favorable pricing on materials and equipment, where possible, by using our purchasing power and
leading industry position;

*  Qualifyingproduction of customer devicesat multiplemanufacturing sitesto mitigatetherisksof supply disruptions
and

*  Providing capabilities and solutions for customer-specific requirements.



Competitive Cost Structure and Disciplined Capital Investment

There has been a continuous push throughout the entire semiconductor supply chain for lower cost solutions, and a
competitive cost structure and disciplined capital investment decisions are key factors for achieving profitability and
generating cashflow. Someof our cost control effortshaveincluded: (1) increasing strip densitiesto drivehigher throughput;
(2) migrating from capillary underfill to molded underfill; (3) developing thinner and shorter gold wire solutions; (4)
migrating from gold wire to copper wire for certain wirebond packages; (5) reducing test cycle times and (6) increasing
labor productivity.

We operate in a cyclical industry. During an industry downturn we seek to reduce our costs and drive grester factory and
administrative efficiencies. Cost control efforts can include reducing labor costs by temporarily lowering compensation,
reducing employee and contractor headcount, shortening work weeks and obtaining labor-related foreign government
subsidies where available.

PACKAGING AND TEST SERVICES

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the amount of packaging and test net sales and the percentage of
such net sales:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions, except percentage of net sales)
Packaging services. . ......... $ 2,439 88.4% $ 2,493 89.8% $ 2,650 90.2%
Testservices................ 321 11.6% 283 10.2% 289 9.8%
Total netsales............ $ 2,760 100.0% $ 2,776 100.0% $ 2,939 100.0%

Packaging Services

We offer a broad range of package formats and services to our customers. The differentiating characteristics of package
formats can include: (1) size and thickness, (2) number of electrical connections, (3) thermal, mechanical and electrical
characteristics, (4) number of chips incorporated, (5) types of interconnect technologies employed and (6) integration of
active and passive components.

Interconnect Technologies
Wirebond and flip chip are the two interconnect technol ogies used to connect the die to the package carrier.

Wirebond Technology: In packages that employ wirebond interconnect technology, the die is mounted face up on the
substrate or leadframe and very fine gold or copper wires are attached from the perimeter of the die to the substrate or
leadframe. Wirebonding is generally considered to be the most cost-effective and flexible interconnect technology and is
used to assemble the majority of semiconductor packages.

Flip Chip Technology: In packagesthat employ flip chip interconnect technol ogy, the interconnection between the die and
substrate or leadframe is made through a conductive “bump” that is placed directly on the die surface utilizing a process
called wafer bumping. The bumped die is then “flipped over” and placed face down, with the bumps connecting directly
tothesubstrate or leadframe. Flip chip packages provide ahigher density interconnection capability than wirebond packages
as flip chip technology uses the entire surface area of the die, and sometimes the perimeter as well, instead of just the
perimeter used by wirebond packages. Flip chip technology also provides enhanced thermal and electrical performance,
and enables smaller die and thinner, smaller form factors (or physical package dimensions).

Hybrid Technologies: Certain 3D and system-in-package applicationsmay contain both wirebond and flip chipinterconnect
technologies in a single package. These structures are commonly referred to as FlipStack and are supported in both chip
scale and ball grid array package types.



Package Carrier

Leadframe: Leadframe packages utilize metal (typically copper) as the package carrier and typically place the electrical
interconnect |eadsto the system board around the perimeter of the package. Leadframe packagesare used invirtually every
electronic device and remain the most practical and cost-effective solution for many low to medium pin count applications.
Traditional leadframe packages are typically not cost or form factor effective for pin counts above 200. To address this
limitation, Amkor devel oped FusionQuad, aleadframe package that integratesinternal leads with perimeter leadsto enable
pin counts of up to 376.

Substrate: Substrate packages utilize a laminate as the package carrier. Laminate substrates are composed of multiple
layers of epoxy resin, woven glass fibers and metal conductors. These substrate packages have the electrical interconnects
to the system board on the bottom of the package in the form of solder balls that are distributed across the bottom surface
of the package (called a“ball grid array” format). The chip is attached to the substrate through either wirebond or flip chip
technologies. Substrate packages were developed to facilitate the higher number of interconnections required by many
advanced semiconductor devices.

Wafer-Level: Wafer-level packages do not use aleadframe or substrate as the package carrier. The interconnect bumping
process is carried out on the entire wafer for all chips on the wafer. The bumped wafer is subsequently singulated into
individual chips (“diced”), and the wafer-level package is then attached directly to the system board.

Package Families

Chip Scale Packages: Chip scale packages are substrate-based packages where the package size is not much larger than
thechipitself, and which havevery small form factorsand fineball or pillar pitches ("pitch" isthe distance between adjacent
balls or pillars). The size advantage provided by chip scale packaging technol ogies has made this the package of choice
for a wide variety of applications that require very small form factors such as wireless handsets and mobile consumer
electronic devices. For example, we have developed afine pitch copper pillar flip chip packaging solution which creates
interconnections at finer pad pitches using fine pitch copper pillar bumping and a packaging process to reduce the number
of substrate layers and facilitate very thin packages.

Advances in packaging technology now allow the placement of two or more chips on top of each other within a single
package. This concept, known as 3D packaging, permits a higher level of semiconductor density and greater functionality.
Some of our 3D chip scale packages include:

»  Stacked chip scale packages that contain two or more chips placed on top of each other and are ideal for chipset
and memory applications and

»  PoPsolutionsusing extremely thin chip scal e packagesthat are stacked on top of each other, enabling theintegration
of logic and memory in asingle small footprint package, as well as multiple memory applications.

Our chip scale package family aso includes system-in-package modules which integrate two or more chips and passive
device elements into a single package, thus enabling space and power efficiency, high performance and lower production
costs.

Ball Grid Array Packages: Ball grid array packages are large form factor substrate-based packages which are used where
processing power and speed are needed, and small form factors are not required. Ball grid array packages are used for
networking, storage, gaming, computing and consumer applications.

Examples of ball grid array packagesinclude:

e Flipchipball grid array packages that incorporate aface down bumped die onto a substrate using aball grid array
format and are increasingly being used with advanced silicon nodes that enable our customersto implement more
powerful new applications and smaller devices and

* Plasticball grid array packages that use wirebond technology in applications requiring higher pin count than chip
scale or leadframe packages, but typically have lower interconnect density than flip chip.



Leadframe Packages: Leadframe packages place the electrical interconnects to the system board around the perimeter of
the package. Wirebond or flip chip technology isused to interconnect the chip to theleadframe package carrier. Leadframe-
based packages are the most widely used package family in the semiconductor industry.

Traditional leadframe-based packages support a wide variety of device types and applications. Two of our most popular
traditional |eadframe package types are small outline integrated circuit and quad flat package, commonly known as*“ dual”
and “quad” products, respectively, based upon the number of sidesfrom which the leads extend. Thetraditional |eadframe
package family has evolved from “through hole design,” where the leads are plugged into holes on the circuit board to
“surface mount design,” where the leads are soldered to the surface of the circuit board. We offer a wide range of lead
counts and body sizesto satisfy variationsin the size of customers' semiconductor devices.

Through a process of continuous engineering and customization, we have designed several advanced |eadframe package
types that are thinner and smaller than traditional |eadframe packages, and which have the ability to accommodate more
leads on the perimeter of the package. These advanced |eadframe packages typically have superior thermal and electrical
characteristics, which allow them to dissipate heat generated by high-powered semiconductor devices while providing
enhanced electrical connectivity. We are developing increasingly smaller versions of these packages to keep pace with
continually shrinking semiconductor device sizes and demand for miniaturization of portable electronic products. One of
our more successful advanced |eadframe package offerings is the MicroL eadFrame family of quad flat no lead packages.

Micro-electro-mechanical systems (MEMS) are miniaturized mechanical and el ectro-mechanical sensors that can sense or
mani pulate the physical world. Examples of MEMS devices include microphones, accelerometers and pressure sensors.
MEMS are most typically created on silicon wafers but can also employ other substrate typesaswell. MEM S devices often
require an extra fabrication process where the device wafer is bonded to a second wafer which effectively encapsul ates the
MEMS structure. This method |eaves the device free to move within a vacuum or an inert gas atmosphere. However,
applications such as microphones and pressure sensors require the MEMS structure to remain unencapsulated, requiring
innovative cavity style packages. MEMS are an enabling technology rather than a semiconductor package platform, and
they can be based on or use aleadframe package, aball grid array package or a chip scale package.

Other Packaging Services

Thecategory of " other packaging services' isprimarily composed of wafer bumping services. Wafer bumpingisapreliminary
step in the manufacture of both flip chip and wafer-level packages. The wafer bumping process consists of preparing the
wafer for bumping and forming or placing the bumps. Preparation may include cleaning, removing insulating oxides, and
providing apad metallurgy that will protect the interconnections while making good mechanical and electrical connection
between the bump and the substrate.

Test Services

Amkor provides acomplete range of semiconductor testing servicesincluding wafer testing or probe, varioustypes of final
testing, strip testing and compl ete end-of-line test services up to and including final shipping. We have testing operations
in our facilitiesin China, Japan, Korea, the Philippines and Taiwan, and this geographical diversity enables fast feedback,
streamlined logistics and shorter cycle times. We also offer many specialized logistical services including security
certification and anti-counterfeit measures. Substantially all of our test business is derived from testing packages that we
assemble.

We test a variety of device types across all of our package families including radio frequency, analog and mixed signal,
digital, power management, memory and various combinations such as application-specific integrated circuits, multi chip
modules, system-in-package, and stacked chips. Testing services vary depending upon the complexity of the device.
Specialized solutions are required for packages that also process non-electric stimuli, including sensors, accelerometers,
gyrometers and various types of micro-electro-mechanical devices.

Test Development Services

We offer afull range of test software, hardware, integration and product engineering services, and we support a range of
business models and test capabilities. Some customers develop their test solutions and provide them to us, while other



customers need our engineering resources. We support a variety of co-development and collaboration models. Our test
development centers located in China, Korea, the Philippines and the U.S. arein close proximity to many of our customers
design centers.

Wafer Test Services

Wafer test, also referred to as wafer probe, is performed after wafer fabrication or wafer bumping to screen out defective
devices prior to packaging. We offer arange of wafer test coverage that can be tailored based on the cost and complexity
of the die, the package and the product. These servicesrange from coarse level screening for major defects all the way up
toprobing at highdigital speedsand canincludefull radiofrequency transmit and receiveand testing at multipletemperatures.
Wafer testing can also involve arange of wafer mapping and inspection operations.

Final Test Services

After the packaging process, final test is performed to ensure that the packaged device meets the customer’s requirements.
Final test spans arange of rigor and complexity depending on the device and end market application. Morerigorous types
of final test include testing multiple times under different electrical and temperature conditions and before and after device
reliability stresses, such as burn-in. In addition to electrical testing, specialized solutions are required for packages that
also process non-electric stimuli.

The electrical testsare amix of functional, structural and system-level tests depending on the customer’s requirements and
cost and reliability parameters. The electrical test equipment we use includes commercialy available automated test
equipment, customized and proprietary system level test equipment and innovative types of low cost test equipment
developed by Amkor.



Principal End Markets

Thefollowing table lists the major end markets that use our products. Thetable also lists some of our applications and our
packages and test services used within these key end markets.

Amkor Packaging and
End Market Applications Test Services
Communications Handsets (Cell Phones, Feature Flip Chip Chip Scale Package
Phones, Smart Phones) Flip Chip Stacked Chip Scale Package
Tablets Test Services
WirelessLAN Fine Pitch Copper Pillar Flip Chip
Handheld Devices Chip Scale Package
Stacked Chip Scale Package
ChipArray Ball Grid Array
MicroL eadFrame
Wafer Bumping
Wafer Level Chip Scale Package
Consumer Gaming Flip Chip Ball Grid Array
Television Thin Quad Flat Pack
Set Top Boxes ChipArray Ball Grid Array
Portable Media Test Services
Digital Cameras MicroL eadFrame
Plastic Ball Grid Array
Computing Desk Top Computer Thin Quad Flat Pack
Laptop Computer ChipArray Ball Grid Array
Notebook Computer MicroL eadFrame
Netbook Computer Plastic Ball Grid Array
Hard Disk Drive Test Services
Computer Server Flip Chip Ball Grid Array
Printers Small Outline Integrated Circuit
Other Peripherals
Networking Servers Flip Chip Ball Grid Array
Routers Plastic Ball Grid Array
Switches Wafer Bumping
Thin Quad Flat Pack
Test Services
ChipArray Ball Grid Array
Other Automotive Small Outline Integrated Circuit
Industrial Plastic Ball Grid Array
MicroL eadFrame
Thin Quad Flat Pack
Test Services
Quad Flat Pack

For packaging and test segment information, see Note 18 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsin Part I1, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

RELATIONSHIP WITH J-DEVICES CORPORATION

In 2009, Amkor and Toshibainvested in J-Devices (formerly Nakaya Microdevices Corporation) and formed ajoint venture
to provide semiconductor packaging and test servicesin Japan. Our original investment in J-Devicesincluded a 30% equity
interest and options to acquire additional equity interests, and in January 2013, we exercised our option to increase our
ownership interest in J-Devicesto 60%. Thetransaction isexpected to closein April 2013, subject to regulatory approval.

Aspart of theoriginal transactionwith Toshibain 2009, J-Devicesacquired certai n assets and busi ness, including technol ogy
development, of Toshiba's LSl semiconductor packaging business. In December 2012, J-Devices acquired certain LSI
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packaging and test facilities and business of Fujitsu Semiconductor Limited. JDevices is now the largest independent
semiconductor packaging and test company in Japan, with six factories located in Japan.

In January 2013, J-Devices signed aMemorandum of Understanding with Renesas El ectronics Corporation for the possible
acquisition of the semiconductor back-end production business of threefacilities operated by Renesas and itswholly owned
subsidiary, Hokkai Electronics Co., Ltd. The transaction is subject to negotiation of definitive agreements, regulatory
approvals and other customary closing conditions.

JDevicesisaseparate business and is not integrated with our existing Japan-based businesses. The governance provisions
applicableto J-Devicesrestrict our ability, even after obtaining majority ownership, to cause J-Devicesto take certain actions
without the consent of the other investors. Accordingly, we account for our investment in J-Devices using the equity method
of accountingandwill continueto account for J-Devicesunder theequity method of accounting after increasing our ownership
interest as discussed above.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Our research efforts focus on developing new packaging solutions and test services, and improving the efficiency and
capabilities of our existing production processes. We believe that technology development is one of the keysto successin
the semiconductor packaging and test industry. By concentrating our research and development on our customers’ needs
for innovative packages, increased performance and lower cost, we gain opportunitiesto enter markets early, capture market
share and promote our new package offeringsasindustry standards. In addition, weleverage our research and devel opment
by licensing our leading edge technology, such as MicroL eadFrame, Fine Pitch Copper Pillar Flip Chip, TMV, Lead Free
Bumping and FusionQuad.

Our areas for research and development include:
» 3D packaging;
e Advanced flip chip packaging;
»  Advanced micro-electromechanical system packaging and testing;
e Copper Pillar bumping and packaging;
»  Copper wire interconnects;
e Engineering and characterization tools;
» Laminate and leadframe packaging;
e Manufacturing cost reductions;
*  Silicon Photonics;
«  Silver wirebond technology;
*  TMYV technology;
e TSV technology;
»  Wafer Level Fan Out technology and
e Wadfer level processing.

We have key development partners within our customer and supplier base. We work with our partners and allocate our
resources to develop applications that have promising potential for a healthy return on investment.

Asof December 31, 2012, we had approximately 400 employees engaged in research and development activities. 1n 2012,
2011 and 2010, we spent $54.1 million, $50.4 million and $47.5 million, respectively, on research and devel opment.
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MARKETING AND SALES

Our marketing and sales offices are located throughout Asia, Europe and North America. Our support personnel manage
and promote our packaging and test services and provide key customer and technical support.

To provide comprehensive sales and customer service, we typically assign our customers a direct support team consisting
of an account manager, technical program manager, test program manager and both field and factory customer support
representatives. We also support our largest multinational customers from multiple office locations to ensure that we are
aligned with their global operational and business requirements.

Our direct support teams are further supported by an extended staff of product, process, quality and reliability engineers,
as well as marketing and advertising specialists, information systems technicians and factory personnel. Together, these
direct and extended support teams deliver an array of servicesto our customers. These services include:

e Managing and coordinating ongoing manufacturing activity;

»  Providing information and expert advice on our portfolio of packaging and test services and related trends;

e Managing the start-up of specific packaging and test programs;

*  Working to improve our customers’ time-to-market;

e Providing a continuous flow of information to our customers regarding products and programs in process;

»  Partnering with customers on design solutions;

» Researching and assisting in the resolution of technical and logistical issues;

»  Aligning our technologies and research and devel opment activities with the needs of our customers and OEMs;
e Providing guidance and solutions to customers in managing their supply chains;

*  Driving industry standards;

e Providing design and simulation services to ensure package reliability and

Collaborating with our customers on continuous quality improvement initiatives.
Further, we implement direct electronic links with our customers to:

» Achievenear rea time and automated communications of order fulfillment information, such asinventory control,
production schedules and engineering data, including production yields, device specifications and quality
indices and

e Connect our customersto our sales and marketing personnel world-wide and to our factories.

SEASONALITY
Our sales have generally been higher in the second half of the year than in thefirst half due to the effect of consumer buying

patternsin the U.S., Europe and Asia. In addition, semiconductor companies generally reduce their production during the
holidays at the end of December which resultsin a decreasein unitsfor packaging and test services during thefirst quarter.
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CUSTOMERS

As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately 200 customers, including many of the largest semiconductor companies
intheworld. The table below lists our top 25 customersin 2012 based on net sales:

Altera Corporation ON Semiconductor Corporation
Analog Devices, Inc. Panasonic Corporation

Atmel Corporation Qualcomm Incorporated
Broadcom Corporation Renesas Electronics Corporation
Entropic Communications, Inc. RF Micro Devices, Inc.

Freescale Semiconductor, Ltd. Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd.
GLOBALFOUNDRIES Inc. Sony Corporation

Infineon Technologies AG STMicroelectronics N.V.

Intel Corporation Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company Limited
International Business Machines Corporation (“IBM”) Texas Instruments | ncorporated
LS| Corporation Toshiba Corporation

Maxim Integrated Products, Inc. Xilinx, Inc.

Micron Technology, Inc.

Our top 25 customersaccounted for 83.9% of our net salesin 2012, and our ten largest customersaccounted for approximately
62.2%, 61.0% and 54.2% and of our net sal esfor theyearsended December 31,2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Qualcomm
Incorporated accounted for more than 10% of our net sales in 2012. Qualcomm Incorporated and Texas |nstruments
Incorporated each accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated net salesin 2011. No customer accounted for more
than 10% of our consolidated net salesin 2010.

For segment information, see Note 18 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsin Part |1, Item 8 of thisAnnual Report on
Form 10-K.

MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT
Materials

Our materials are used primarily for packaging activities. Our packaging operations depend upon obtaining adequate
supplies of materials on atimely basis. The principal materials used in our packaging process are leadframes, laminate
substrates, gold and copper wire, mold compound, epoxy, tubes and trays. The silicon wafer is generally consigned from
the customer. We do not take ownership of the customer consigned wafer, and titleand risk of lossremainswith the customer
for these materials. Test materials congtitute a very small portion of our total test cost. We purchase materials based on
customer forecasts, and our customers are generally responsible for any unused materials which we purchased based on
such forecasts.

We obtain the materialsrequired for packaging servicesfrom various suppliers. We source most of our materials, including
critical materials such asleadframes, |laminate substrates and gold wire, from alimited group of suppliers. Wework closely
with our primary material suppliersto ensurethat materialsare available and delivered on time and, we al so negotiate world-
wide pricing agreements with our major suppliersto take advantage of the scale of our operations.

Equipment
Our ability to meet the changing demand from our customersfor manufacturing capacity depends upon obtaining packaging

and test equipment in atimely manner. We work closely with our main equipment suppliersto coordinate the ordering and
delivery of equipment to meet our expected capacity needs.
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Packaging Equipment

The primary types of equipment used in providing our packaging services are wirebonders and die bonders. In addition,
wemaintain avariety of other packaging equipment, including mold, singulation, dieattach, ball attach and wafer backgrind,
along with numerous other types of manufacturing equipment. A substantial portion of our packaging equipment base can
generally be used and adapted to support the manufacture of many of our packages through the use of relatively low cost
tooling, although equi pment used i n advanced packaging can be moredifficult to redepl oy than equipment used intraditional
wirebond packaging.

We also purchase wafer bumping equipment to facilitate our flip chip and wafer level packaging services. Wafer bump
equipment includes sputter and spin coaters, electroplating equipment, reflow ovens and other types of equipment. This
equipment tendsto havelonger lead timesfor order and installation than other packaging equipment and issold inrelatively
larger increments of capacity.

Test Equipment

The primary equipment used in the testing process includes testers, handlers and probers. Handlers are used to transfer
individual or small groups of packaged integrated circuitsto atester. Test equipment is generally amore capital intensive
portion of the process and tends to have longer delivery lead times than most types of packaging equipment. We focus our
capital additions on standardized tester platformsin order to maximize test equipment utilization where possible.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

The semiconductor packaging process uses chemicals, materials and gases and generates byproducts that are subject to
extensive governmental regulations. For example, we produceliquid waste when semiconductor wafersare diced into chips
withtheaid of diamond saws, then cooled with runningwater. Inaddition, semiconductor packageshave historically utilized
metallic alloys containing lead (Pb) within the interconnect terminalstypically referred to asleads, pinsor balls. The usage
of lead (Pb) has decreased over the past few years, as we have ramped volume production of alternative lead (Pb)-free
processes. Federal, state and local regulations in the U.S., as well as environmental regulations internationally, impose
various controls on the storage, handling, discharge and disposal of chemicals and materials used in our manufacturing
processes and in the factories we occupy.

We are engaged in a continuing program to assure compliance with federal, state and local environmental laws and
regulations. We do not expect that capital expenditures or other costs attributable to compliance with environmental laws
and regulations will have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition or
cash flows.

COMPETITION

The outsourced semiconductor packaging and test market is very competitive. We face substantial competition from
established packaging and test service providers primarily located in Asia, including companies with significant
manufacturing capacity, financial resources, research and development operations, marketing and other capabilities. These
companies include;

»  Advanced Semiconductor Engineering, Inc.,

»  Siliconware Precision Industries Co., Ltd. and

«  STATSChipPAC Ltd.
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Such companies also have developed relationships with most of the world's largest semiconductor companies, including
current or potential customers of Amkor. We also compete with the internal semiconductor packaging and test capabilities
of many of our customers. Our integrated device manufacturer customers continually evaluate the attractiveness of
outsourced services against their own in-house packaging and test services and at times may decide to shift some or all of
their outsourced packaging and test services to internally sourced capacity. We also compete with companies (including
semiconductor foundries) that provide wafer bumping and other advanced packaging solutions that compete with our
packaging and test services. In addition, we compete with companies that offer only test services and not packaging.

The principal elements of competition in the semiconductor packaging and test services market include:
» technical competence;
e quadlity;
e price;
»  breadth of packaging and test services offered, including turnkey services,
* new package and test design, technology innovation and implementation;
e cycletimes;
*  customer service and
» available capacity and ahility to invest in capacity, geographic location and scale of manufacturing.

We believe that we generally compete favorably with respect to each of these elements.
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We maintain an active program to protect and derive value from our investment in technology and the associated intellectual
property rights. Intellectual property rightsthat apply to our various products and servicesinclude patents, copyrights, trade
secrets and trademarks. We have filed and obtained a number of patentsin the U.S. and abroad, and their durations vary
depending on thejurisdiction in which each patent isfiled. Although our patentsare animportant element of our intellectual
property strategy as a whole, we are not materially dependent on any one patent or any one technology. We expect to
continue to file patent applications when appropriate to protect our proprietary technologies, but we cannot assure you that
wewill receive patentsfrom pending or futureapplications. Inaddition, any patentsweobtain may be challenged, invalidated
or circumvented and may not provide meaningful protection or other commercial advantage to us.

We also protect certain detail sabout our processes, products and strategies astrade secrets by maintaining the confidentiality
of the information we believe provides us with a competitive advantage. We have ongoing programs designed to maintain
theconfidentiality of suchinformation. Further, todistinguish our productsfrom our competitors' products, we haveobtained
certain trademarks and service marks and may promote our particular brands through advertising and other marketing
techniques.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately 18,900 full-time employees. Of the total employee population,
approximately 14,000 were engaged in manufacturing services, 2,900 were engaged in manufacturing support, 400 were
engaged in research and devel opment, 300 were engaged in marketing and sales and 1,300 were engaged in administration,
business management and finance. We believethat our relationswith our employees are good, and we have not experienced
awork stoppagein any of our factories. Our employeesin France, the Philippines, Taiwan and the U.S. are not represented
by any union. Certain employeesat our factoriesin China, Japan and K oreaare members of aunion, and we operate subject
to collective bargaining agreements that we have entered into with the unions in Japan and Korea.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Thefactorsdiscussed below are cautionary statementsthat identify important factorsand risksthat could cause actual results
to differ materially from those anticipated by the forward-looking statements contained in thisreport. For moreinformation
regarding the forward-looking statements contained in this report, see the introductory paragraph to Part 11, Item 7 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described bel ow, together with all
of the other information included in this report, in considering our business and prospects. The risks and uncertainties
described below are not the only onesfacing Amkor. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to usmay also
impair our business operations. The occurrence of any of the following risks could affect our business, liquidity, results of
operations, financia condition or cash flows.

Dependence on the Highly Cyclical Semiconductor and Electronic Products Industries— We Operate in Volatile
Industries and Industry Downturns and Declines in Global Economic and Financial Conditions Could Harm Our
Performance.

Our businessisimpacted by market conditionsin the semiconductor industry, which is cyclical by nature and impacted by
broad economic factors, such as world-wide gross domestic product and consumer spending. The semiconductor industry
has experienced significant and sometimes prolonged downturns in the past. For example, the financial crisis and global
recession in 2008 and 2009 resulted in a downturn in the semiconductor industry that adversely affected our business and
results of operations during those periods. Although the world economy recovered somewhat in 2010, economic growth
dowed in 2011 and 2012 in the U.S. and internationally. In view of this slow growth and the current economic uncertainty
worldwide, consumer demand in the U.S. and globally may be adversely impacted which may harm the semiconductor
industry and our business.

Since our businessis, and will continue to be, dependent on the requirements of semiconductor companies for outsourced
packaging and test services, any downturn in the semiconductor industry or any other industry that usesasignificant number
of semiconductor devices, such as consumer electronic products, telecommunication devices or computing devices, could
have amaterial adverse effect on our business and operating results. It isdifficult to predict thetiming, strength or duration
of any economic slowdown or subsequent economic recovery, which, in turn, makesit more challenging for usto forecast
our operating results, make business decisions and identify risks that may affect our business, sources and uses of cash,
financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, if industry conditions deteriorate, we could suffer significant
losses, aswe havein the past, which could materially impact our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition
and cash flows.

Fluctuations in Operating Results and Cash Flows — Our Operating Results and Cash Flows Have Varied and May
Vary Significantly as a Result of Factors That We Cannot Control.

Many factors, including the impact of adverse economic conditions, could have a material adverse effect on our net sales,
gross profit, operating results and cash flows, or lead to significant variability of quarterly or annual operating results. Our
profitability and ability to generate cash from operations is principally dependent upon demand for semiconductors, the
utilization of our capacity, semiconductor package mix, the average selling price of our services, our ahility to manage our
capital expendituresin responseto market conditionsand our ability to control our costsincluding labor, material, overhead
and financing costs. The downturn in demand for semiconductorsin late 2008 and in 2009 resulted in significant declines
in our operating results and cash flows as capacity utilization declined. Although the world economy recovered somewhat
in 2010, the recent slow rate of economic growth in the U.S. and elsawhere and economic uncertainty worldwide, or the
negative impact on economic growth resulting from the action or inaction of the U.S. government relating to federal income
tax increases, the federal debt ceiling, the federal deficit and government spending restrictions, could adversely affect
consumer demand in the U.S. and globally, which may negatively impact our operating results.

Our net sales, gross profit, operating income and cash flows have historically fluctuated significantly from quarter to quarter
as aresult of many of the following factors, over which we have little or no control and which we expect to continue to
impact our business:

e fluctuation in demand for semiconductors and conditions in the semiconductor industry;

» changesin our capacity utilization rates,
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changes in average selling prices,
changes in the mix of semiconductor packages,
evolving packaging and test technology;

absence of backlog and the short-term nature of our customers' commitments and the impact of these factors on
the timing and volume of orders relative to our production capacity;

changesin costs, availability and delivery times of raw materials and components;

changes in labor costs to perform our services,

wage and commodity price inflation, including precious metals;

the timing of expendituresin anticipation of future orders;

changesin effective tax rates;

the availability and cost of financing;

intellectual property transactions and disputes;

high leverage and restrictive covenants;

warranty and product liability claims and the impact of quality excursions and customer disputes and returns;
costs associated with litigation judgments, indemnification claims and settlements;

international events, political instability, civil disturbancesor environmental or natural events, such asearthquakes,
that impact our operations;

pandemic illnesses that may impact our labor force and our ability to travel;

difficulties integrating acquisitions and the failure of our joint ventures to operate in accordance with business
plans;

our ability to attract and retain qualified employees to support our global operations;
loss of key personnd or the shortage of available skilled workers;

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and the cost of materials used in our packaging services such as gold and
copper;

delay, rescheduling and cancellation of large orders;
fluctuations in our manufacturing yields and

dependence on key customers or concentration of customers in certain market segments, such as mobile
communications.

It isoften difficult to predict the impact of these factors upon our resultsfor a particular period. The downturnin the global
economy and the semiconductor industry increased the risks associated with the foregoing factors as customer forecasts
becamemorevolatile, and therewaslessvisibility regarding future demand and significantly increased uncertainty regarding
the economy, credit markets and consumer demand. Although the world economy recovered somewhat in 2010, the recent
slow rate of economic growth in the U.S. and elsewhere and economic uncertainty worldwide could continue to cause
volatility in customer forecasts and reduce our visibility regarding future demand in the semiconductor industry. These
factors may have amaterial and adverse effect on our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows or lead to significant variability of quarterly or annual operating results. In addition, these factors may adversely
affect our credit ratings which could make it more difficult and expensive for usto raise capital and could adversely affect
the price of our securities.
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High Fixed Costs — Due to Our High Percentage of Fixed Costs, We Will Be Unable to Maintain Our Gross Margin
at Past Levels if We Are Unable to Achieve Relatively High Capacity Utilization Rates.

Our operations are characterized by relatively high fixed costs. Our profitability dependsin part not only on pricing levels
for our packaging and test services, but also on the efficient utilization of our human resources and packaging and test
equipment. In particular, increases or decreases in our capacity utilization can significantly affect gross margins since the
unit cost of packaging and test services generally decreases as fixed costs are allocated over alarger number of units. In
periods of low demand, we experience relatively low capacity utilization in our operations, which leads to reduced margins
during that period. For example, we experienced lower than optimum utilization in late 2008 and in 2009 due to a decline
in world-wide demand for our packaging and test services which impacted our gross margin. Transitions between different
packaging technologies, such as the transition from gold wirebond to flip chip and copper wirebond packages, can aso
impact our capacity utilization if we do not efficiently redeploy our equipment assets. For example, in 2011 the migration
of some customer demand from wirebond to flip chip packages resulted in under-utilized wirebond assets which negatively
impacted our capacity utilization and gross margin. Although our capacity utilization at times has been strong, we cannot
assure you that we will be able to achieve consistently high capacity utilization, and if we fail to do so, our gross margins
may decrease. If our gross margins decrease, our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, our fixed operating costs have increased in recent yearsin part as aresult of our effortsto expand our capacity
through significant capital additions. Forecasted customer demand for which we have made capital investments may not
materialize, especialy if industry conditions deteriorate. As aresult, our sales may not adequately cover our substantial
fixed costsresulting in reduced profit levels or causing significant losses, both of which may adversely impact our business,
liquidity, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Guidance — Our Failure to Meet Our Guidance or Analyst Projections Could Adversely Impact the Trading Prices of
Our Securities.

We periodically provide guidance to investors with respect to certain financial information for future periods. Securities
analysts also periodically publish their own projections with respect to our future operating results. As discussed above
under “Fluctuationsin Operating Results and Cash Flows — Our Operating Results and Cash Flows Have Varied and May
Vary Significantly as a Result of Factors That We Cannot Control,” our operating results and cash flows vary significantly
and aredifficult to accurately predict. Volatility in customer forecastsand reduced visibility caused by economic uncertainty
and fluctuations in global consumer demand make it particularly difficult to predict future results. To the extent we fail to
meet or exceed our own guidance or the analyst projections for any reason, the trading prices of our securities may be
adversely impacted. Moreover, even if we do meet or exceed that guidance or those projections, if analysts and investors
do not react favorably, or if analysts were to discontinue providing coverage of our company, the trading prices of our
securities may be adversely impacted.

Declining Average Selling Prices — The Semiconductor Industry Places Downward Pressure on the Prices of Our
Packaging and Test Services.

Pricesfor packaging and test services have generally declined over time. Historically, we have been ableto partialy offset
the effect of price declines by successfully developing and marketing new packages with higher margins, by negotiating
lower prices with our material vendors, recovering material cost increases from our customers and by driving engineering
and technological changesin our packaging and test processes, which resulted in reduced manufacturing costs. We expect
downward pressure on average selling prices for our packaging and test servicesto continuein the future. If weare unable
to offset a decline in average selling prices by developing and marketing new packages with higher prices, reducing our
purchasing costs, recovering more of our material cost increasesfrom our customers and reducing our manufacturing costs,
our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.
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Decisions by Our Integrated Device Manufacturer Customersto Curtail Outsourcing May Adversely Affect Our Business.

Historically, we have been dependent on the trend in outsourcing of packaging and test services by integrated device
manufacturers ("IDM"). Our IDM customers continually evaluate the need for outsourced services against their own in-
house packaging and test services. Asaresult, at any time and for avariety of reasons, IDMs may decide to shift some or
all of their outsourced packaging and test services to internally sourced capacity.

The reasons IDMs may shift their internal capacity include:

« their desireto realize higher utilization of their existing packaging and test capacity, especially during downturns
in the semiconductor industry;

» their unwillingness to disclose proprietary technology;
» their possession of more advanced packaging and test technologies and
» the guaranteed availability of their own packaging and test capacity.

In addition, to the extent we limit capacity commitments for certain customers, these customers may increase their level of
in-house packaging and test capabilities, which could make it more difficult for us to regain their business when we have
available capacity.

In adownturn in the semiconductor industry, IDMs could respond by shifting some or all outsourced packaging and test
servicestointernally serviced capacity on ashort termbasis. Also, thelDMscould curtail or reversethetrend of outsourcing
packaging and test services. If we experience asignificant loss of IDM business, it could have amaterial adverse effect on
our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows, especially during a prolonged industry
downturn.

Our Substantial Indebtedness Could Adversely Affect Our Financial Condition and Prevent Us from Fulfilling Our
Obligations.

We have asignificant amount of indebtedness. As of December 31, 2012, our total debt balance was $1,545.0 million and
was classified aslong-term. Asof December 31, 2012, we had availability of $149.7 million under our $150.0 million first
lien senior secured revolving credit facility. Additionally, our foreign subsidiaries had $80.0 million available to be drawn
under revolving credit facilities and $100.0 million available to be borrowed under term loans maturing between June 2013
and December 2019, of which we borrowed an additional $23.0 million under our term loansin 2013. Despite current debt
levels, the terms of the agreements governing our indebtedness allow us and our subsidiariesto incur more debt, subject to
certain limitations. We may consider investmentsin joint ventures, acquisitions or increased capital additions, which may
increase our indebtedness. For example, in light of possible investment opportunities, we are exploring additional lines of
credit of approximately $300 million. If new debt is added to our consolidated debt level, the related risks that we face
could intensify.

Our substantial indebtedness could:

* makeit moredifficult for usto satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness, including our obligations
under our indentures to purchase notes tendered as aresult of a change in control of Amkor;

e increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

» limit our ability to fund future working capital, capital expenditures, research and development and other business
opportunities,

e require usto dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service payments on our debt;
* increase the volatility of the price of our common stock;

e limit our flexibility to react to changesin our business and the industry in which we operate;
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» place us at a competitive disadvantage to any of our competitors that have less debt and

» limit, along with the financial and other restrictive covenantsin our indebtedness, among other things, our ability
to borrow additional funds.

We May Have Difficulty Funding Liquidity Needs.

We assess our liquidity based on our current expectations regarding sales, operating expenses, capital spending and debt
service requirements. Our liquidity is affected by, among other things, the performance of our business, our capital
expenditure levels and our ability to repay debt out of our operating cash flows or with the proceeds of debt or equity
financings.

We operate in a capital intensive industry. Servicing our current and future customers requires that we incur significant
operating expenses and continueto make significant capital expenditures, which are generally madein advance of therelated
revenues and without any firm customer commitments. During 2012, we had capital additions of $533.2 million. In 2013,
we expect to make capital additions of approximately $450 million and are aso planning an additional $150 million of
spending for the acquisition of land and construction related to our previously announced new factory and research and
development center in Korea. In total, we expect to spend approximately $300 million over the next several yearsfor the
construction of the facility. Ultimately, the amount of our capital additionsin 2013 and thereafter may vary materially and
will depend on several factorsincluding, among others, the timing and implementation of any capital projectsunder review,
the performance of our business, economic and market conditions, the cash needs and investment opportunities for the
business, the need for additional capacity to service anticipated customer demand and the availability of cash flows from
operations or financing.

In addition, we have asignificant level of debt, with $1,545.0 million outstanding at December 31, 2012, none of whichis
current. The terms of such debt require significant scheduled principal payments in the coming years, including none due
in 2013, $250.0 million duein 2014, $100.0 million duein 2015, noneduein 2016, $137.0 million duein 2017 and $1,058.0
million duethereafter. Theinterest paymentsrequired on our debt are also substantial. For example, in 2012, we paid $86.1
million of interest. The sources funding our operations, including making capital expenditures and servicing principal and
interest obligations with respect to our debt, are cash flows from our operations, existing cash and cash equivalents,
borrowings under available debt facilities, or proceeds from any additional debt or equity financing. As of December 31,
2012, we had cash and cash equivalents of $413.0 million and availability of $149.7 million under our $150.0 million senior
secured revolving credit facility which matures in June 2017. Additionally, our foreign subsidiaries had $80.0 million
availableto bedrawn under revolving credit facilitiesand $100.0 million availableto be borrowed under termloansmaturing
between June 2013 and December 2019, of which we borrowed an additional $23.0 million under our term loansin 2013.
In light of possible investment opportunities, we are exploring additional lines of credit of approximately $300 million.

The health of the worldwide banking system and financial markets affectstheliquidity inthe global economic environment.
Volatility in fixed income, credit and equity markets could make it difficult for us to maintain our existing credit facilities
or refinance our debt. In addition, thereisarisk that we could fail to generate the necessary net income or operating cash
flowsto meet the funding needs of our businessdueto avariety of factors, including the cyclical nature of the semiconductor
industry and the other factors discussed in this "Risk Factors' section. |f we fail to generate the necessary cash flows or
we are unable to access the capital markets when needed, our liquidity may be adversely impacted.

Our Ability To Draw On Our Current Loan Facilities May Be Adversely Affected by Conditions in the U.S. and
International Capital Markets.

If financial institutionsthat have extended credit commitmentsto us are adversely affected by the conditions of the U.S. and
international capital and credit markets, they may be unable to fund borrowings under their credit commitmentsto us. For
example, we have a $150.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility with three banks in the U.S. If any of these
banks are adversely affected by capital and credit market conditions and are unable to make loans to us when requested,
there could be a corresponding adverse impact on our financial condition and our ability to borrow additional funds, if
needed, for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, research and development and other corporate purposes.

20



Restrictive Covenants in the Indentures and Agreements Governing Our Currentand Future Indebtedness Could Restrict
Our Operating Flexibility.

The indentures and agreements governing our existing debt, and debt we may incur in the future, contain, or may contain,
affirmative and negative covenants that materially limit our ability to take certain actions, including our ability to incur
debt, pay dividends and repurchase stock, make certain investments and other payments, enter into certain mergers and
consolidations, engage in sale leaseback transactions and encumber and dispose of assets. In addition, our future debt
agreements may contain financial covenants and ratios.

The breach of any of these covenants by us or the failure by usto meet any of the financial ratios or conditions could result
in adefault under any or al of such indebtedness. If adefault occurs under any such indebtedness, al of the outstanding
obligations thereunder could become immediately due and payable, which could result in a default under our other
outstanding debt and could lead to an acceleration of obligations related to other outstanding debt. The existence of such
adefault or event of default could also preclude us from borrowing funds under our revolving credit facilities. Our ability
to comply with the provisions of the indentures, credit facilities and other agreements governing our outstanding debt and
indebtednesswemay incur inthefuture can be aff ected by eventsbeyond our control and adefault under any debt instrument,
if not cured or waived, could have a material adverse effect on us.

We Have Significant Severance Plan Obligations Associated With Our Manufacturing Operations in Korea Which Could
Reduce Our Cash Flow and Negatively Impact Our Financial Condition.

We sponsor an accrued severance plan for our Korean subsidiary, under which we have an accrued liability of $126.5million
as of December 31, 2012. Existing tax laws in Korea limit our ability to deduct severance expenses associated with the
current plan. These limitations are designed to encourage companiesto migrate to a defined contribution or defined benefit
plan. If weadopt anew plan, we may fund asignificant portion of the existing liability, which could have amaterial adverse
effect on our liquidity, financial condition and cash flows. If we do not adopt a new plan, our ability to deduct accrued
severance will continue to be limited, and as a result we will have to pay higher taxes, which could adversely affect our
liquidity, financial condition and cash flows.

Under the existing Korean plan, to the extent eligible employees are terminated, our Korean subsidiary would be required
to make lump-sum severance payments on behalf of these eligible employees based on their length of service, seniority and
rate of pay at the time of termination. Since our severance plan obligation is significant, in the event of a significant layoff
or other reduction in our labor forcein Korea, payments under the plan could have amaterial adverse effect on our liquidity,
financial condition and cash flows. See Note 13 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsin Part 11, Item 8 to thisAnnual
Report on Form 10-K.

If We Fail to Maintain an Effective System of Internal Controls, We May Not be Able to Accurately Report Financial
Results or Prevent Fraud.

Effective internal controls are necessary to provide reliable financial reports and to assist in the effective prevention of
fraud. Any inability to provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud could harm our business. We must annually
evaluateour internal proceduresto satisfy therequirementsof Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, whichrequires
management and our independent registered public accounting firm to assess the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting.

As previously reported, we are implementing a new enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system in amulti-year program
onaworld-widebasis. We haverecently implemented several significant ERP modul es and expect to implement additional
ERPmodulesinthefuture. Theimplementation of the ERP system representsachangein our internal control over financial
reporting. Although we continueto monitor and assess our internal controlsin the new ERP system environment as changes
are made and new modules are implemented, and have taken additiona steps to modify and enhance the design and
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, thereisarisk that deficiencies may occur that could constitute
significant deficiencies or in the aggregate a material weakness.

21



If we fail to remedy any deficiencies or maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, we could be subject to regulatory
scrutiny, civil or criminal penaltiesor shareholder litigation. In addition, failureto maintain adequateinternal controlscould
result in financial statements that do not accurately reflect our operating results or financial condition.

We Face Warranty Claims, Product Return and Liability Risks, the Risk of Economic Damage Claims and the Risk of
Negative Publicity if Our Packages Fail.

Our packages are incorporated into a number of end products, and our business is exposed to warranty claims, product
return and liability risks, the risk of economic damage claims and the risk of negative publicity if our packages fail.

We receive warranty claims from our customers which occur from time to timein the ordinary course of our business. If
we were to experience an unusually high incidence of warranty claims, we could incur significant costs and our business
could be adversely affected. In addition, we are exposed to the product and economic liability risks and therisk of negative
publicity affecting our customers. Our sales may declineif any of our customers are sued on a product liability claim. We
also may suffer adeclinein salesfromthe negative publicity associated with such alawsuit or with adverse public perceptions
in general regarding our customers products. Further, if our packages are delivered with impurities or defects, we could
incur additional devel opment, repair or replacement costsor suffer other economiclosses, and our credibility andthemarket’s
acceptance of our packages could be harmed.

Absence of Backlog — The Lack of Contractually Committed Customer Demand May Adversely Affect Our Sales.

Our packaging and test businessdoesnot typically operatewith any material backlog. Our quarterly net salesfrom packaging
and test services are substantially dependent upon our customers' demand in that quarter. None of our customers have
committed to purchaseany significant amount of packaging or test servicesor to provide uswith binding forecasts of demand
for packaging and test services for any future period, in any material amount. In addition, our customers often reduce,
cancel or delay their purchases of packaging and test services for avariety of reasons including industry-wide, customer-
specific and Amkor-specific reasons. Since alarge portion of our costsisfixed and our expense levels are based in part on
our expectations of future revenues, we may not be able to adjust costs in a timely manner to compensate for any sales
shortfall. If we are unable to adjust costs in atimely manner, our margins, operating results, financial condition and cash
flows would be adversely affected.

Risks Associated With International Operations — We Depend on Our Factories and Operations in China, Japan, Korea,
the Philippines and Taiwan. Many of Our Customers’ and Vendors’ Operations Are Also Located Outside of the U.S.

We provide packaging and test services through our factories and other operations located in China, Japan, Korea, the
Philippines and Taiwan. Substantially all of our property, plant and equipment is located outside of the United States.
Moreover, many of our customers' and vendors' operations are located outsidethe U.S. Thefollowing are some of therisks
we face in doing business internationally:

»  changesin consumer demand resulting from deteriorating conditionsin local economies;

» regulationsimposed by foreign governments, including limitations or taxesimposed on the payment of dividends
and other payments by non-U.S. subsidiaries;

» fluctuationsin currency exchange rates,

e political, military, civil unrest and terrorist risks, particularly an increase in tensions between North Korea and
South Koreg;

» disruptions or delaysin shipments caused by customs brokers or government agencies,
« changesin regulatory requirements, tariffs, customs, duties and other restrictive trade barriers or policies;

» difficultiesin staffing, retention and employee turnover and managing foreign operations, including foreign labor
disruptions;
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e difficulty in enforcing contractual rights and protecting our intellectual property rights and

» potentialy adverse tax consequences resulting from changesin tax laws in the foreign jurisdictions in which we
operate.

Changes in the U.S. Tax Law Regarding Earnings of Our Subsidiaries Located Outside the U.S. Could Materially Affect
Our Future Results.

There have been proposals to change U.S. tax laws that would significantly impact how U.S. corporations are taxed on
foreign earnings. We earn a substantial portion of our income in foreign countries. Although we cannot predict whether
or in what form any of these proposals might be enacted into law, if adopted they could have a material adverse impact on
our liquidity, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We Face Risks in Connection with the Continuing Development and Implementation of Changes to, and Maintenance
and Security of, Our Management Information Systems.

We depend on our management information systems for many aspects of our business. Some of our key software has been
developed by our own programmers, and this software may not be easily integrated with other software and systems. Our
systems may be susceptible to damage, disruptions or shutdowns due to failures during the process of upgrading, replacing
or maintaining software, databases or components thereof, power outages, hardware failures, computer viruses, attacks by
computer hackers, telecommunicationfailures, user errors, malfeasanceor catastrophicevents. Inaddition, security breaches
could result in unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. We have made and continue to make significant
investments to implement and evolve our management information systems. In addition, we are implementing anew shop
floor systemin certain of our factories. Wefacerisksin connectionwith current and future projectstoinstall new management
information systems or upgrade our existing systems. These risks include:

» we may face delaysin the design and implementation of the system;
e thecost of the system may exceed our plans and expectations and

» disruptions resulting from the implementation of the system may impact our ability to process transactions and
delay shipments to customers, impact our results of operations or financial condition or harm our control
environment.

Our business could be materially and adversely affected if our management information systems are disrupted or if we are
unable to successfully install new systems or improve, upgrade, integrate or expand upon our existing systems.

We Face Risks Trying to Attract and Retain Qualified Employees to Support Our Operations.

Our success depends to a significant extent upon the continued service of our key senior management, sales and technical
personnel, any of whom may be difficult to replace. Competition for qualified employeesisintense, and our business could
be adversely affected by the loss of the services of any of our existing key personnel, including senior management, as a
result of competition or for any other reason. We do not have employment agreements with our key employees, including
senior management or other contracts that would prevent our key employeesfrom working for our competitorsin the event
they cease working for us. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in our efforts to retain key employees or in
hiring and properly training sufficient numbersof qualified personnel and in effectively managing our growth. Our inability
to attract, retain, motivate and train qualified new personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Difficulties Consolidating and Integrating Our Operations — We Face Challenges as We Integrate Diverse Operations.

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, change in the scope and complexity of our operations resulting
primarily from existing and future facility consolidations, strategic acquisitions, joint ventures and other partnering
arrangements. Some of the risks from these activities include those associated with the following:

» increasing the scope, geographic diversity and complexity of our operations;

» conforming an acquired company's standards, practices, systems and controls with our operations;
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e increasing complexity from combining recent acquisitions of an acquired business;

» unexpected losses of key employees or customers of an acquired business; other difficultiesin the assimilation of
acquired operations, technologies or products and

« diversion of management and other resources from other parts of our operations and adverse effects on existing
business relationships with customers.

In connection with these activities, we may:
e useasignificant portion of our available cash;
* issue equity securities, which may dilute the ownership of current stockholders;
* incur substantial debt;
» incur or assume known or unknown contingent liabilities and
e incur large, immediate accounting write-offs and face antitrust or other regulatory inquiries or actions.

For example, the businesses we have acquired had, at the time of acquisition, multiple systems for managing their own
production, sales, inventory and other operations. Migrating these businesses to our systemstypically is aslow, expensive
process requiring us to divert significant resources from other parts of our operations. We may continue to face these
challengesin the future. For example, we have exercised our option to increase our ownership interest in J-Devices from
30% to 60%, which is expected to close in April 2013, subject to regulatory approval, and we have additiona options to
increase our ownership over timeto as much as 80%. Asaresult, we anticipate that we will need to integrate the J-Devices
operations with our existing operations. In addition, J-Devices will need to integrate with its operations the acquisitions it
has recently completed or has pending. Furthermore, the governance provisions applicable to J-Devices restrict our ability
to cause J-Devicesto take certain actions without the consent of the other investors. Asaresult of therisksdiscussed above,
the anticipated benefits of the increase in our investment in J-Devices or other future acquisitions, consolidations and
partnering arrangements may not be fully realized, if at al, and these activities could have amaterial adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Dependence on Materials and Equipment Suppliers — Our Business May Suffer If the Cost, Quality or Supply of
Materials or Equipment Changes Adversely.

We obtain from various vendors the materials and equipment required for the packaging and test services performed by our
factories. We source most of our materials, including critical materials such as leadframes, laminate substrates and gold
wire, from alimited group of suppliers. A disruption to the operations of one or more of our suppliers could have anegative
impact on our business. For example, the severe earthquake and tsunami in Japan in 2011 had a significant adverse effect
on the electronic industry supply chain impacting the supply of specialty chemicals, substrates, silicon wafers, equipment
and other suppliesto the electronics industry. In addition, we purchase the mgjority of our materials on a purchase order
basis. Our business may be harmed if we cannot obtain materials and other supplies from our vendorsin atimely manner,
in sufficient quantities, at acceptable quality or at competitive prices. Some of our customersare also dependent on alimited
number of suppliers for certain materials and silicon wafers. Shortages or disruptions in our customers' supply channels
could have amaterial adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operationsand cash flows. For example,
the shortageinthe supply of 28 nanometer wafersto some of our customersin 2012 delayed or otherwise adversely impacted
the demand for certain of our advanced packaging and test services.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act imposes new requirements regarding the supply of
minerals originating from the conflict zones of the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining countries. Industry
associations and some of our customers are also implementing initiatives to improve transparency and accountability
concerning the supply of these materials and, in some cases, requiring usto certify that the covered materials we usein our
packages do not come from the conflict areas. We may incur additional costs associated with complying with the new
requirements and customer initiatives. These new requirements and customer initiatives could affect the sourcing and
availability of metals used in the manufacture of semiconductor devices, and we cannot assure you that we will be able to
obtain conflict-free materialsin sufficient quantities and at competitive prices or that we will be able to verify the origin of
all of the metals we use in our manufacturing process. If we are unable to certify that the metals we use in our packages
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are conflict-free, it could adversely affect our business as some customers may move their business to other suppliers. Our
reputation could also be adversely affected.

We purchase new packaging and test equipment to maintain and expand our operations. From time to time, increased
demand for new equipment may cause lead times to extend beyond those normally required by equipment vendors. For
example, in the past, increased demand for equipment caused some equipment suppliers to only partially satisfy our
equipment ordersin the normal time frame or to increase prices during market upturns for the semiconductor industry. The
unavailability of equipment or failures to deliver equipment on atimely basis could delay or impair our ability to meset
customer orders. If we are unable to meet customer orders, we could lose potential and existing customers. Generally, we
acquire our equipment on a purchase order basis and do not enter into long-term equipment agreements. As aresult, we
could experience adverse changesin pricing, currency risk and potential shortages in equipment in a strong market, which
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We are alarge buyer of gold and other commaodity materials including substrates and copper. The prices of gold and other
commodities used in our businessfluctuate. Historically, we have been ableto partially offset the effect of commodity price
increases through price adjustments to some customers and changesin our product designs that reduce the material content
and cost, such as the use of shorter, thinner, gold wire and migration to copper wire. However, we typically do not have
long-term contracts that permit us to impose price adjustments, and market conditions may limit our ability to do so.
Significant price increases may adversely impact our gross margin in future periods to the extent we are unable to pass
along past or future commodity price increases to our customers.

Loss of Customers — The Loss of Certain Customers or Reduced Orders from Existing Customers May Have a Significant
Adverse Effect on Our Operations and Financial Results.

Theloss of asignificant customer, areduction in orders from a significant customer or disruption in any of our significant
strategic partnerships or other commercial arrangements may result in adecline in our sales and profitability. Although we
have approximately 200 customers, we have derived and expect to continue to derive alarge portion of our revenues from
asmall group of customersduring any particular period duein part to the concentration of market sharein the semiconductor
industry. Our ten largest customers together accounted for approximately 62.2%, 61.0% and 54.2% of our net salesin the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. One customer accounted for more than 10% of our
consolidated net salesin 2012. Two customers each accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated net sales in 2011,
and no customer exceeded 10% of consolidated net salesin 2010.

The demand for our services from each customer is directly dependent upon that customer’s level of business activity, the
quality and price of our services, our cycle time and delivery performance, the customer's qualification of additional
competitors on products we package or test and a number of other factors. Each of these factors could vary significantly
from year to year resulting in the loss or reduction of customer orders. Our business is likely to remain subject to this
variability in order levels, and we cannot assure you that our key customers or any other customers will continue to place
orders with usin the future at the same levels asin past periods.

The loss of one or more of our significant customers, or reduced orders by any one of them, and our inability to replace
these customers or make up for such orders could reduce our sales and profitability. For example, our facility in lwate,
Japan is primarily dedicated to asingle customer, Toshiba. We have also invested in an unconsolidated affiliate, J-Devices,
for which Toshibais the primary customer. |f we were to lose Toshiba as a customer or if it were to materially reduce its
business with us, it could be difficult for usto find one or more new customers to utilize the capacity, which could have a
material adverseeffect onour operationsandfinancial results. In2012, onecustomer accounted for 21.3% of our consolidated
net sales, representing approximately 20.0% of our packaging net sales and 31.9% of our test net sales. If wewereto lose
our largest customer, or if it significantly reduced itslevel of businesswith us, the loss could have a material adverse effect
on our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Capital Additions — We Make Substantial Capital Additions To Support the Demand Of Our Customers, Which May
Adversely Affect Our Business Ifthe Demand Of Our Customers Does Not Develop As We Expect or Is Adversely Affected.

We make significant capital additions in order to service the demand of our customers. For example, we expect that our
2013 capital additions will be approximately $450 million, in addition to $150 million of spending for the acquisition of
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land and construction relating to our new factory and research and development center in Korea. Additionally, over the
next several years, we expect to spend atotal of approximately $300 million for the construction of thefacility. Theamount
of our capital additions depends on several factors, including the performance of our business, our assessment of future
industry and customer demand, our capacity utilization levels and availability, our liquidity position and the availability of
financing. Our ongoing capital addition requirements may strain our cash and short-term asset balances, and, in periods
when we are expanding our capital base, we expect that depreciation expense and factory operating expenses associated
with our capital additions to increase production capacity will put downward pressure on our gross margin, at least over
the near term. From timeto time, we also make significant capital additions based on specific business opportunities with
oneor afew key customers, and the additional equipment purchased may not be readily usable to support other customers.
If demand isinsufficient tofill our capacity, or we are unableto efficiently redepl oy such equipment, our capacity utilization
and gross margin could be negatively impacted. Our capital additions have increased as we transition to new packaging
and test technol ogies because, among other things, new equipment used for these technologiesis generally more expensive
and often our existing equipment cannot be redeployed in whole or part for these technologies.

Furthermore, if we cannot generate or raise additional fundsto pay for capital additions, particularly in some of the advanced
packaging and bumping areas, as well as research and development activities, our growth and future profitability may be
adversely affected. Our ability to obtain external financing in the future is subject to a variety of uncertainties, including:

» our future financial condition, results of operations and cash flows;
e general market conditions for financing;

» volatility in fixed income, credit and equity markets and

e economic, political and other global conditions.

Thelead time needed to order, install and put into service various capital additionsis often significant, and, as aresult, we
often need to commit to capital additionsin advance of our receipt of firm orders or advance deposits based on our view of
anticipated future demand with only very limited visibility. Although we seek to limit our exposure in this regard, in the
past wehavefromtimetotimeexpended significant capital for additionsfor whichtheanticipated demand did not materialize
for avariety of reasons, many of which were outside of our control. To the extent this occurs in the future, our business,
liquidity, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, during periods where customer demand exceeds our capacity, customers may transfer some or all of their
business to other suppliers who are able to support their needs. To the extent this occurs, our business, liquidity, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Impairment Charges — Any Impairment Charges Required Under U.S. GAAP May Have a Material Adverse Effect on
Our Net Income.

Under U.S. GAAPR, wereview our long-lived assetsincluding property, plant and equipment, intellectual property and other
intangibles for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.
Factors we consider include significant under-performance relative to expected historical or projected future operating
results, significant negative industry or economic trends and our market capitalization relative to net book value. We may
be required in the future to record a significant charge to earnings in our financial statements during the period in which
any impairment of our long-lived assetsis determined. Such charges have had and could have asignificant adverse impact
on our results of operations and our operating flexibility under our debt covenants.

Litigation Incident to Our Business Could Adversely Affect Us.

We have been a party to various legal proceedings, including those described in Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements in Part 11, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and may be a party to litigation in the future. If an
unfavorableruling or outcome wereto occur intheselegal proceedings or futurelitigation, there could beamaterial adverse
impact on our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition, cash flowsand the trading price of our securities.

For example, the final award pending in the arbitration with Tessera could be more than the amount accrued and we expect
torecord our estimateof interest accruing with the passage of timeand may record additional chargesasinformation devel ops
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or upon the issuance of the final award. Tessera publicly announced its intention to seek an amount in excess of $150
million. Inaddition, Tesserarecently filed acomplaint against Amkor inthe U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware.
There can be no assurance that the termination of the Tessera license agreement will not have a material impact on our
ongoing business and customer rel ationships, including any supply arrangements with customers formerly benefiting from
our rights under the terminated license agreement; that the U.S. District Court complaint filed by Tesserawill not result in
an unfavorable outcome for our company, including an injunction and significant damage award or that there will not be
any further disputes with Tessera or others involving our company's technology or business.

We Could Suffer Adverse Tax and Other Financial Consequences if Taxing Authorities Do Not Agree with Our
Interpretation of Applicable Tax Laws, Including Whether We Continue to Qualify for Our Tax Holidays.

Our corporate structure and operations are based, in part, on interpretations of various tax laws, including withholding tax,
compliance with tax holiday requirements, application of changes in tax law to our operations and other relevant laws of
applicable taxing jurisdictions. From time to time, the taxing authorities of the relevant jurisdictions may conduct
examinations of our income tax returns and other regulatory filings. We cannot assure you that the taxing authorities will
agree with our interpretations, including whether we continue to qualify for our tax holidays. To the extent they do not
agree, we may seek to enter into settlements with the taxing authorities which require significant payments or otherwise
adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition. We may also appeal the taxing authorities’ determinations
to the appropriate governmental authorities, but we cannot be sure we will prevail. If we do not prevail, we may have to
make significant payments or otherwise record charges (or reduce tax assets) that adversely affect our results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows. Additionally, certain of our subsidiaries operate under tax holidays, which will expire
in whole or in part at various dates in the future. As those tax holidays expire, our tax expenses will increase as income
from those jurisdictions become subject to higher statutory income tax rates, thereby reducing our liquidity and cash flow.

Intellectual Property — Our Business Will Suffer if We Are Not Able to Develop New Proprietary Technology, Protect
Our Proprietary Technology and Operate Without Infringing the Proprietary Rights of Others.

The complexity and breadth of semiconductor packaging and test services are rapidly increasing. As aresult, we expect
that we will need to develop, acquire and implement new manufacturing processes and packaging design technologies and
tools in order to respond to competitive industry conditions and customer requirements. Technological advances also
typicaly lead to rapid and significant price erosion and may make our existing packages |ess competitive or our existing
inventories obsolete. If we cannot achieve advances in packaging design or obtain access to advanced packaging designs
developed by others, our business could suffer.

The need to develop and maintain advanced packaging capabilities and equipment could require significant research and
development, capital expenditures and acquisitions in future years. In addition, converting to new packaging designs or
process methodol ogies could result in delays in producing new package types, which could adversely affect our ability to
meet customer orders and adversely impact our business.

The process of seeking patent protection takes along time and is expensive. There can be no assurance that patents will
issue from pending or future applications or that, if patents are issued, the rights granted under the patents will provide us
with meaningful protection or any commercial advantage. Any patents we do obtain will eventually expire, may be
challenged, invalidated or circumvented and may not provide meaningful protection or other commercial advantage to us.

Some of our technologies are not covered by any patent or patent application. The confidentiality agreements on which we
rely to protect these technologies may be breached and may not be adequate to protect our proprietary technologies. There
can be no assurance that other countries in which we market our serviceswill protect our intellectual property rightsto the
same extent asthe U.S.

Our competitors may develop, patent or gain access to know-how and technology similar to our own. In addition, many
of our patents are subject to cross licenses, several of which are with our competitors. The semiconductor industry is
characterized by frequent claims regarding the infringement of patent and other intellectual property rights. If any third
party makes an enforceable infringement claim against us or our customers, we could be required to:
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e discontinue the use of certain processes;
» ceaseto provide the services at issue;

e pay substantial damages;

» develop non-infringing technologies or
e acquire licenses to such technology.

We may need to enforce our patents or other intellectual property rights, including our rights under patent and intellectual
property licenseswith third parties, or defend oursel vesagai nst claimedinfringement of therightsof othersthroughlitigation,
which could result in substantial cost and diversion of our resources. Furthermore, if we fail to obtain necessary licenses,
our business could suffer. We have been involved in legal proceedingsinvolving the acquisition and license of intellectual
property rights, the enforcement of our existing intellectual property rights or the enforcement of the intellectual property
rights of others, including the legal proceeding filed by and against Tessera, Inc. and the complaint filed and ongoing
proceeding against Carsem (M) Sdn Bhd, Carsem Semiconductor Sdn Bhd, and Carsem Inc., or collectively “Carsem”,
which are described in more detail in Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsin Part 11, Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Unfavorable outcomes in any legal proceedings involving intellectual property could result in
significant liabilities and could have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, results of operations, financia
condition and cash flows. The potential impact from the legal proceedings referred to in this Annua Report on Form 10-
K on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could change in the future.

Packaging and Test— Packaging and Test Processes Are Complex and Our Production Yields and Customer
Relationships May Suffer from Defects in the Services We Provide.

Semiconductor packaging and test services are complex processes that require significant technological and process
expertise. Defective packages primarily result from:

e contaminants in the manufacturing environment;

*  human error;

e equipment malfunction;

» changing processes to address environmental requirements;
»  defectiveraw materialsor

»  defective plating services.

Test isalso complex and involves sophisticated equipment and software. Similar to many software programs, these software
programs are complex and may contain programming errors or “bugs.” The test equipment is also subject to malfunction.
In addition, the test process is subject to operator error.

These and other factors have, from time to time, contributed to lower production yields. They may also do so in the future,
particularly aswe adjust our capacity or change our processing steps. In addition, we must continue to expand our offering
of packagesto be competitive. Our production yields on new packagestypically aresignificantly lower than our production
yields on our more established packages.

Our failure to maintain high standards or acceptable production yields, if significant and prolonged, could result in loss of
customers, increased costs of production, delays, substantial amounts of returned goods and claims by customers relating
thereto. Any of these problemscould haveamaterial adverse effect on our business, liquidity, resultsof operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

In addition, in line with industry practice, new customers usually require us to pass a lengthy and rigorous qualification

process that may take several months. If we fail to qualify packages with potential customers or existing customers, such
failure could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
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Competition — We Compete Against Established Competitors in the Packaging and Test Business as Well as Internal
Customer Capabilities and May Face Competition from New Competitors.

The outsourced semiconductor packaging and test market is very competitive. We face substantial competition from
established packaging and test service providers primarily located in Asia, including companies with significant processing
capacity, financial resources, research and devel opment operations, marketing and other capabilities. These companiesalso
have established relationships with many large semiconductor companies that are our current or potential customers. We
also face competition from the internal capabilities and capacity of many of our current and potential IDM customers. In
addition, we compete with companies (including semiconductor foundries) that provide wafer bumping and other advanced
packaging solutions that compete with our packaging and test services. For example, one of the major semiconductor
foundries, which is substantially larger and has greater financial resources than we do, has expanded, and may continue to
expand, its operations to include packaging and test services.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully in the future against our existing or potential competitors
or that our customerswill not rely on internal sourcesfor packaging and test services, or that our business, liquidity, results
of operations, financial condition and cash flows will not be adversely affected by such increased competition.

Environmental Regulations — Future Environmental Regulations Could Place Additional Burdens on Our
Manufacturing Operations.

The semiconductor packaging process uses liquid chemicals, gases and materials. These processes generate by-products
that are subject to extensive governmental regulations. For example, at our foreign facilities we produce liquid waste when
semiconductor wafers are diced into chips with the aid of diamond saws, then cooled with running water. In addition,
semiconductor packages have historically utilized metallic alloys containing lead (Pb) within the interconnect terminals
typically referred to asleads, pinsor balls. Federal, stateand local lawsand regulationsinthe U.S., aswell asenvironmental
laws and regulations in foreign jurisdictions, impose various controls on the storage, handling, discharge and disposal of
chemicals used in our production processes and on the factories we occupy and are increasingly imposing restrictions on
the materials contained in semiconductor products. We may becomeliable under environmental lawsfor the cost of cleanup
of any disposal or release of hazardous materials arising out of our former or current operations, or otherwise as a result of
the existence of hazardous materials on our properties. In such an event, we could be held liable for damages, including
fines, penalties and the cost of investigations and remedial actions, and could also be subject to revocation of permits
negatively affecting our operations.

Public attention hasfocused on the environmental impact of semiconductor operationsand the risk to neighbors of chemical
releasesfrom such operationsand to the material s contained in semiconductor products. For example, the European Union’'s
Restriction of Use of Certain Hazardous Substances in Electrical and Electronic Equipment Directive imposes strict
restrictions on the use of lead and other hazardous substances in electrical and electronic equipment. In response to this
directive, and similar laws and developing legislation in countries like China, Japan and Korea, we have implemented
changes in a number of our manufacturing processes in an effort to achieve compliance across all of our package types.
Complying with existing and possible future environmental laws and regulations, including laws and regulations relating
to climate change, may impose upon us the need for additional capital equipment or other process requirements, restrict
our ability to expand our operations, disrupt our operations, increase costs, subject usto liability or cause us to curtail our
operations.

Our Business and Financial Condition Could be Adversely Affected by Natural Disasters.

We have significant packaging and test and other operations in locations which are subject to natural disasters such as
earthquakes, tsunamis, typhoons, floods and other severe weather and geological events that could disrupt our operations.
In addition, our suppliers and customers aso have significant operations in such locations. A natural disaster that results
in a prolonged disruption to our operations, or the operations of our customers or suppliers, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. For example, Japan experienced a severe
earthquake and tsunami in 2011 that resulted in significant disruption in the electronicsindustry supply chain and adversely
affected Japan's economy and consumer spending. Inaddition, in October 2011, Thailand experienced substantia flooding
which affected the facilities and operations of customers and suppliersin our industry. Asaresult, our business, financial
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condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected by events such as those in Japan, Thailand or
future natural disasters of a similar nature.

Fire, Flood or Other Calamity — With Our Operations Conducted in a Limited Number of Facilities, a Fire, Flood or
Other Calamity at one of Our Facilities Could Adversely Affect Us.

We conduct our packaging and test operations at alimited number of facilities. Significant damage or other impediments
to any of these facilities, whether as a result of fire, flood, weather, the outbreak of infectious diseases (such as SARs or
flu), civil strife, industria strikes, breakdowns of equipment, difficulties or delays in obtaining materials and equipment,
natural disasters, terrorist incidents, industrial accidents or other causes could temporarily disrupt or even shut down our
operations, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In
the event of such adisruption or shutdown, we may be unable to reallocate production to other facilitiesin atimely or cost-
effective manner (if at all) and we may not have sufficient capacity to service customer demandsin our other facilities. For
example, our operationsin Asiaarevulnerableto regional typhoonsthat can bring with them destructivewindsand torrential
rains, which could in turn cause plant closures and transportation interruptions. In addition, some of the processes that we
utilize in our operations place us at risk of fire and other damage. For example, highly flammable gases are used in the
preparation of wafers holding semiconductor devices for flip chip packaging. While we maintain insurance policies for
varioustypes of property, casualty and other risks, we do not carry insurance for all the above referred risks and with regard
to the insurance we do maintain, we cannot assure you that it would be sufficient to cover all of our potential losses.

Continued Control By Existing Stockholders — Mr. James J. Kim and Members of His Family Can
Effectively Determine or Substantially Influence The Outcome of All Matters Requiring Stockholder Approval.

As of December 31, 2012, Mr. James J. Kim, our Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, members of Mr. Kim's
immediate family and affiliates owned approximately 87.9 million shares, or approximately 57%, of our outstanding
common stock. The Kim family also has options to acquire approximately 1.0 million shares and owns $150.0 million of
our 6.0% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014 (the “ 2014 Notes’) that are convertible into approximately 49.6
million shares of common stock (the “2014 Convert Shares’) at a conversion price of approximately $3.02 per share. If
the options are exercised and the 2014 Notes are converted, the Kim family would own an aggregate of approximately 138.5
million shares, or approximately 68%, of our outstanding common stock.

The 2014 Convert Shares and the approximately 13.4 million shares issued upon conversion of the $100.0 million of our
6.25% Convertible Subordinated Notesdue 2013 (the" 2013 Convert Shares") are each subject to separate voting agreements.
The agreements require the Kim family to vote these respective shares in a“neutral manner” on all matters submitted to
our stockholders for a vote, so that such 2013 Convert Shares and 2014 Convert Shares are voted in the same proportion
as al of the other outstanding securities (excluding the other shares owned by the Kim family) that are actually voted on a
proposal submitted to Amkor’s stockholders for approval. The Kim family is not required to vote in a “neutral manner”
any 2013 Convert Shares or 2014 Convert Sharesthat, when aggregated with all other voting shares held by the Kim family,
represent 41.6% or less of the total then-outstanding voting shares of our common stock. The voting agreement for the
2013 Convert Shares terminates upon the earliest of (i) December 1, 2013, (ii) at such time as no principal amount of the
2013 Notes or any 2013 Convert Shares remain outstanding, (iii) a change of control transaction (as defined in the voting
agreement) or (iv) the mutual agreement of the Kim family and Amkor. The voting agreement for the 2014 Convert Shares
terminates upon the earliest of (i) such time as no principal amount of the 2014 Notes remains outstanding and the Kim
family no longer beneficially own any of the 2014 Convert Shares, (i) consummation of achange of control (asdefined in
the voting agreement) or (iii) the mutual agreement of the Kim family and Amkor.

Mr. James J. Kim and his family and affiliates, acting together, have the ability to effectively determine or substantially
influence matters submitted for approval by our stockholders by voting their shares or otherwise acting by written consent,
including the election of our Board of Directors. Thereisalso the potential, through the election of members of our Board
of Directors, that the Kim family could substantially influence matters decided upon by our Board of Directors. This
concentration of ownership may also have the effect of impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business
consolidation involving us, or discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer for our shares, and could also
negatively affect our stock’s market price or decrease any premium over market price that an acquirer might otherwise pay.
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ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties

We provide packaging, test and devel opment services at various facilities throughout China, Japan, Korea, the Philippines,
Taiwan and the U.S. The size, location and manufacturing services provided by each of our factories are set forth in the
table below.

Approximate
Factory Size

Location (Square Feet) Services

Korea

Gwangju, Korea(1).............. 1,218,000  Packaging and test services, wafer bump services
Seoul, Korea(1)................. 698,000  Packaging services; package and process development
Pupyong, Korea(1).............. 404,000  Packaging and test services

Philippines

Muntinlupa, Philippines (2)........ 749,000  Packaging and test services, package and process devel opment
Province of Laguna, Philippines (2) . 625,000 Packaging and test services

China

Shanghai, China(3).............. 993,000  Packaging and test services; wafer bump services
Taiwan

Hsinchu, Taiwan (1) ............. 496,000 Packaging and test services, wafer bump services
Lung Tan, Taiwan (1) ............ 353,000  Packaging and test services, wafer bump services
Japan

Kitakami, Japan (4) . ............. 211,000  Packaging and test services

United States

Chandler, AZ(4)................ 6,000  Package and process development

(1) Owned facility and land.

(2) Asaresult of foreign ownership restrictions in the Philippines, the land associated with our Philippine factories is
leased from realty companies in which we own a 40% interest. We own buildings comprising 1,223,000 square feet
and lease the remaining 151,000 square feet from one of the aforementioned realty companies.

(3) We own buildings comprising 993,000 square feet, of which approximately 738,000 square feet were facilitized as of
December 31, 2012. All land isleased.

(4) Leased facility.

We previously owned a 165,000 square foot facility in Singapore (the land was leased) that was sold in June 2011. See
Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsin Part 11, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We believe that our existing properties are in good condition and suitable for the conduct of our business and that the
productive capacity of such propertiesis substantially being utilized or we have plansto utilize it.

Our principal executive office and operational headquartersislocated in Chandler, Arizona. 1n addition to executive staff,
the Chandler, Arizona campus houses sales and customer service for the southwest region, product management, finance,
information systems, planning and marketing. Our marketing and sales office locations include sites in China, France,
Japan, Korea, the Philippines, Singapore, Taiwan and the U.S. (Chandler, Arizona; Irvine, San Diego and Santa Clara,
Cdlifornia; Boston, Massachusetts and Dallas, Texas).
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New Factory and Research and Development Center In Korea

Weplantobuild anew factory and research and devel opment center in K orea. Thisnew factory and research and devel opment
center will focus onthe design, devel opment and full scal e production of advanced and innovative semiconductor packaging
and test services for the world's leading semiconductor and el ectronic manufacturing companies. We have entered into an
agreement to acquire the site for the new facility consisting of approximately 46 acres. We expect to complete construction
of the facility over the next severa years. The agreement to purchase the land for the facility is subject to our compliance
with various construction, investment, hiring, regulatory and other requirements. There can be no assurance that the new
facility will proceed at all, or that the actual scope, costs, timeline or benefits of the project will be consistent with our
current expectations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Fromtimetotime, weareinvolved in variousdisputesand litigation mattersthat arisein the ordinary course of our business.
These include disputes and lawsuits related to intellectual property, acquisitions, licensing, contracts, tax, regulatory,
employee relations and other matters. For adiscussion of “Legal Proceedings,” see Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial
Statementsin Part 11, Item 8 of thisAnnual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None.
PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

LISTING ON THE NASDAQ GLOBAL SELECT MARKET

Our common stock istraded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “AMKR.” The following table sets
forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sale prices per share of our common stock as quoted on the NASDAQ
Global Select Market.

High Low

2012

First QUatEr. . ..ottt e $ 6.78 $ 4.46

SeCoNd QUaIEr ...ttt 6.25 4.29

Third QUarter. . . ...t e 5.58 4.36

Fourth QUarter . .. ..o e e 4.60 3.65
2011

First QUartEr. . ..ottt e e $ 849 $ 6.30

Second QUaIEY ... i e 7.00 5.64

Third QUartEr . . ..t e e e 6.59 3.81

Fourth Quarter. . ... e e e 5.17 4.06

There were approximately 154 holders of record of our common stock as of January 25, 2013.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Since our public offering in 1998, we have never paid a dividend to our stockholders and we do not have any present plans
for doing so. Inaddition, our secured bank debt agreements and the indentures governing our senior and senior subordinated

notes limit our ability to pay dividends. Refer to the Liquidity and Capital Resources Section in Item 7 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES
None.
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The information required by this item regarding equity compensation plansis set forth in Part 111, Item 12 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

The following table provides information regarding repurchases of our common stock during the three months ended
December 31, 2012. See Note 14 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsin Part I1, Item 8 of thisAnnual Report on Form
10-K for further discussion.

Total Number of Approximate Dollar
Shares Purchased as Value of Shares that
Average Price part of Publicly May Yet Be Purchased

Total Number of Paid Per Announced Plans or Under the Plans or
Period Shares Purchased (a) Share ($) Programs (b) Programs ($) (b)
October 1-October 31 ................ 2,362 $ 4.44 — $ 91,586,032
November 1-November 30 ............ 11,167 4.03 — 91,586,032
December 1-December 31............. 1,716 4.32 — 91,586,032
Total...........cc 15,245 $ 4.13 —

(8) Represents shares of common stock surrendered to us to satisfy tax withholding obligations associated with the
vesting of restricted shares issued to employees.

(b) Our Board of Directors previously authorized the repurchase of up to $300.0 million of our common stock, $150.0
millionin August 2011 and $150.0 millionin February 2012, exclusive of any fees, commissionsor other expenses.
During 2012, we purchased 16.5 million shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $79.5 million,
net of $0.3 million of commissions, for an average price of $4.83. At December 31, 2012, approximately $91.6
million was available to repurchase common stock pursuant to the stock repurchase program.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH(1)

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Amkor Technology, Inc., the S&P 500 Index, and the PHLX Semiconductor Index
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*$100 invested on 12/31/07 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright® 2013 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies Inc. All ights reserved.

(1) The preceding Stock Performance Graph is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and shall
not be incorporated by reference in any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, asamended, whether madebefore or after the date hereof and irrespectiveof any general incorporation language
in any such filing.



ltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

Thefollowing selected consolidated financial dataasof December 31, 2012 and 2011, and for theyearsended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010, have been derived from our audited Consolidated Financial Statementsincluded inthisAnnual Report
on Form 10-K. The following selected consolidated financial data as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, and for the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, have been derived from audited financia statements not included herein and,
where applicable, such datawas recast for the retrospective application of accounting guidance for noncontrolling interests
in a consolidated subsidiary, which we became subject to beginning January 1, 2009. You should read the selected
consolidated financia datain conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations and our Consolidated Financial Statements, both of which are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-

K.

SELECTED HISTORICAL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

Statement of Operations Data:

CostOf SAlES(B). .+« v v vttt
GrosSProfit. .. ov vt

Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administrative. . ...................
Researchand development .. .........................
Goodwill impairment (b) ............. i
Gain on sale of real estate and specialty test operations(c) . . . .
Total operating eXpenseS. . . .o v v v v i
Operating income (10SS) . ..« oot

Other expense (income):

INterest eXPense (@) . « . .« vvvvr i
Interest expense, related party. .. ...
Interestincome . . ...
Foreign currency loss(gain) (d) . ......................
Loss (gain) on debt retirement, net(€) ..................
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates (f) . ........
Otherincome, net ............ ...,
Total other expense, net . ...,
Income (loss) beforeincometaxes. ...............coooin...
Income tax expense (benefit) (@) . ...
Netincome (loss) ..o
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests . . . . . .
Net income (loss) attributableto Amkor. . ..................

Net income (loss) attributable to Amkor per common share:

Other Financial Data:

Depreciation and amortization .. ........................
Purchases of property, plant and equipment. ...............

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(In thousands, except per share data)

$ 2759546 $ 2,776,359 $ 2939483 $ 2,179,109 $ 2,658,602
2,335,736 2,285,790 2,275,727 1,698,713 2,096,864
423,810 490,569 663,756 480,396 561,738
217,000 246,555 242,424 210,907 251,756
54,118 50,386 47,534 44,453 56,227
— — — — 671,117
— (42) — (281) (9,856)
271,118 296,899 289,958 255,079 969,244
152,692 193,670 373,798 225,317 (407,506)
83,974 74,212 85,595 102,396 118,729
13,969 12,394 15,250 13,000 6,250
(3,160) (2,749) (2,950) (2,367) (8,749)
4,185 2,178 13,756 3,339 (61,057)
1,199 15,531 18,042 (15,088) (35,987)
(5,592) (7,085) (6,435) (2,373) —
(1,586) (1,030) (619) (113) (1,004)
92,989 93,451 122,639 98,794 18,182
59,703 100,219 251,159 126,523 (425,688)
17,001 7,124 19,012 (29,760) 31,788
42,702 93,095 232,147 156,283 (457,476)
(884) (1,287) (176) (303) 781
$ 41,818 91,808 231,971 155980 $ (456,695)
$ 0.26 0.48 1.26 085 $ (2.50)
$ 024§ 039§ 091 § 067 $§  (250)
160,105 190,829 183,312 183,067 182,734
243,004 273,686 282,602 263,379 182,734
$ 370,479 335,644 323,608 305510 $ 309,920
533,512 466,694 445,669 173,496 386,239
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Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cashand cashequivalents ..............ccovvieinnenn.. $ 413048 $ 434631 $ 404998 $ 395406 $ 424,316
Workingcapital. . ... 438,781 354,644 289,859 327,088 306,174
TOtal @SOS . ..ot 3,025,215 2,773,047 2,736,822 2,432,909 2,383,993
Total long-termdebt . .. ... 1,545,000 1,287,256 1,214,219 1,345,241 1,438,751
Total debt, including short-term borrowings and current

portion of long-termdebt. ................. ... ...... 1,545,000 1,346,651 1,364,300 1,434,185 1,493,360
Additional paid-incapital ............. ...l 1,614,143 1,611,242 1,504,927 1,500,246 1,496,976
Accumulated defiGit . ........oee e (756,644) (798,462) (890,270)  (1,122,241)  (1,278,221)
Total Amkor stockholders' equity. . ..., 657,955 693,266 630,013 383,209 237,139

@

(b)
(©)

(d)

(€

(f)
(9)

(h)

During 2012, we recorded a charge of $50.0 million to cost of sales and $6.0 million to interest expense relating to our
pending patent license arbitration. During 2008, we recorded acharge of $61.4 millionto cost of salesand $3.3 million
to interest expense related to a prior patent license dispute, of which $49.0 million related to royaltiesfor periods prior
to 2008.

At December 31, 2008, we recorded a non-cash charge of $671.1 million to write off our remaining goodwill.

During 2011, we sold real property in Singapore used for operations that were exited as of December 31, 2010. The
gain on the sale of the real property was less than $0.1 million. During 2009, we sold land and dormitory buildingsin
Korea and recorded again of $0.3 million. During 2008, we sold land and awarehouse in Korea and recorded again
of $9.9 million.

We recognizeforeign currency losses (gains) due to the remeasurement of certain of our foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and liabilities. During 2008, the net foreign currency gain of $61.1 million is primarily attributable
to the significant depreciation of the Korean won and the impact on the remeasurement of our Korean severance
obligation.

During 2012, we recorded anet loss of $1.2 million related to the repayment of subsidiary debt with the proceeds from
the issuance of $300.0 million of our 6.375% Senior Notes due 2022. During 2011, we recorded a net loss of $15.5
millionrelated to thetender and call of our 9.25% Senior Notesdue 2016 and thewrite-off of the associated unamortized
deferred debt issuance costs. During 2010, we recorded anet loss of $18.0 million related to several debt transactions.
These transactions included recording anet loss of $17.7 million related to the tender offer to purchase $125.7 million
principal amount of our 9.25% Senior Notes due 2016 and the repurchase of an aggregate $411.8 million principal
amount of our 7.125% Senior Notes due in 2011 and our 7.75% Senior Notes duein 2013. During 2009, we recorded
a net gain of $15.1 million related to the repurchase of an aggregate $289.3 million principa amount of our
7.125% Senior Notes and 2.5% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due in 2011 and our 7.75% Senior Notes due
in 2013. During 2008, we recorded a gain of $36.0 million related to the repurchase of an aggregate $118.3 million
principal amount of our 7.125% senior notes and 2.5% convertible senior subordinated notes due 2011.

During 2009, we made a 30% equity investment in J-Devices, which was accounted for using the equity method.

Generally, our effective tax rate is substantially below the U.S. federal tax rate of 35% because we have experienced
taxable losses in the U.S. and our income is taxed in foreign jurisdictions where we benefit from tax holidays or tax
rates lower than the U.S. statutory rate. In 2009, a $25.6 million benefit for the release of a valuation alowance in
Koreawas included in the income tax benefit. In 2008, the $671.1 million goodwill impairment charge did not have
a significant income tax benefit. Also, the 2008 income tax provision included a charge of $8.3 million for the
establishment of avaluation allowance in Japan.

In 2012, we repurchased 16.5 million shares under the Stock Repurchase Program. In 2011, we repurchased 28.6
million shares under the Stock Repurchase Program. |n addition, the entire $100.0 million aggregate principal amount
of the December 2013 Notes was converted into 13.4 million shares of common stock.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Thisreport contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of thefederal securitieslaws, including but not limited
to statements regarding: (1) the amount, timing and focus of our expected capital investments, including expendituresin
2013 and beyond for a new facility in Korea (2) our ability to fund our operating activities for the next twelve months,
(3) the effect of capacity utilization rates on our gross margin, (4) the expiration of tax holidays in jurisdictions in which
we operate and expectations regarding our effective tax rate, (5) the release of valuation allowances related to taxesin the
future, (6) theexpected use of futurecash flows, if any, for the expansion of our business, capital expenditures, the repayment
of debt and for other corporate purposes, (7) funding for any payments due in conjunction with our litigation with Tessera,
(8) our repurchase or repayment of outstanding debt or the conversion of debt in the future, (9) payment of dividends,
(10) compliance with our covenants, (11) expected contributions to foreign pension plans, (12) liability for unrecognized
tax benefits, (13) the effect of foreign currency exchange rate exposure on our financial results, (14) the volatility of the
trading price of our common stock, (15) changesto our internal controlsrelated to implementation of our enterprise resource
planning (“ERP") system and other systems and (16) other statements that are not historical facts. In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “intend” or the negative of these terms or other comparable
terminology. Because such statements include risks and uncertainties, actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated in such forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including those set forth in the following
discussion aswell asin Part I, Item 1A of thisAnnual Report on Form 10-K. Thefollowing discussion providesinformation
and analysisof our results of operationsfor thethree yearsended December 31, 2012 and our liquidity and capital resources.
You should read the following discussion in conjunction with Part I1, Item 8 in thisAnnual Report on Form 10-K as well
as other reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“ SEC”).

Overview

Amkor is one of the world's leading providers of outsourced semiconductor packaging and test services. Packaging and
test are integral stepsin the process of manufacturing semiconductor devices. The semiconductor manufacturing process
beginswith the fabrication of individual transistors, or multiple transistors and other electronic e ements combined into an
integrated circuit (generally known asa*“chip” or “di€”), onto semiconductor material such as a silicon wafer. Each chip
on the wafer is probe tested. The good chips are identified and the wafer is then separated into individual die. Each good
dieisthen assembled into a package that typically encapsul atesthe die for protection and creates the electrical connections
used to connect the package to a printed circuit board, module or other part of the electronic device. In some packages,
chips are attached to a substrate or leadframe carrier through wirebonding or flip chip interconnects and then encased in a
protective material. Or, for awafer-level package, the electrical interconnections are created directly on the surface of the
die (while the wafer is still intact) so that the chip may be attached directly to other parts of an electronic device without a
substrate or leadframe. The packages are then tested using sophi sticated equipment to ensure that each packaged chip meets
its design and performance specifications. The test services we offer include probe testing and final testing.

Our packaging services are designed to meet application and chip specific requirements including the type of interconnect
technology employed; size; thickness and electrical, mechanical and thermal performance. We are able to provide turnkey
packaging and test servicesincluding semiconductor wafer bump, wafer probe, wafer backgrind, package design, packaging,
test and drop shipment services.

Our customersinclude, among others: Altera Corporation; Analog Devices, Inc.; Broadcom Corporation; Intel Corporation;
LSl Corporation; Qualcomm Incorporated; Sony Corporation; STMicroelectronics N.V.; Texas Instruments Incorporated
and Toshiba Corporation. The outsourced semiconductor packaging and test market is very competitive. We also compete
with the internal semiconductor packaging and test capabilities of many of our customers.

Our businessisimpacted by market conditionsin the semiconductor industry, which is cyclical by nature and impacted by
broad economic factors, such as world-wide gross domestic product and consumer spending. Historical trends indicate
therehasbeen astrong correl ation betweenworld-widegrossdomestic product level s, consumer spending and semi conductor
industry cycles. The semiconductor industry has experienced significant and sometimes prolonged cyclical downturnsin
the past. We cannot predict the timing, strength or duration of any economic slowdown or subsequent economic recovery.
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Our net sales, gross profit, operating income, cash flows, liquidity and capital resources have historically fluctuated
significantly from quarter to quarter asaresult of many factors, including the seasonality of our business, the cyclical nature
of the semiconductor industry and other factors discussed in Part 1, Item 1A of thisAnnua Report on Form 10-K.

Our net sales decreased $16.8 million or 0.6% to $2,759.5 million in 2012 from $2,776.4 million in 2011. The decrease
was driven by a decline of $54.7 million or 2.2% in packaging net sales partially offset by an increase in test net sales of
$38.0millionor 13.4%. Thedecreasein packaging net sal eswasprimarily theresult of weaknessinthe consumer, networking
and auto and industrial end markets, partially offset by strength in the communications end market for smartphones and
tablets. Theincrease in test net sales was primarily driven by strength in the communications end market for smartphones
and tablets.

Grossmarginfor 2012 decreased to 15.4%from 17.7%in 2011. The decreaseingrossmarginwasprimarily duetoweakness
in demand for some of our wirebond packaging services and the corresponding lower level of utilization of these
manufacturing assets, the estimated $50.0 million loss contingency charge resulting from our pending patent license
arbitration with Tessera and lower net sales due to insourcing by some of our integrated device manufacturer ("IDM")
customers. Theloss contingency charge reduced our gross margin by two percentage points. The decreases were partially
offset by increased net sales of flip chip and wafer level packages, as well as increased test net sales supporting mobile
communications.

We operate in a capital intensive industry and have a significant level of debt. Servicing our current and future customers
requires that we incur significant operating expenses and continue to make significant capital expenditures, which are
generally made in advance of the related revenues and without any firm customer commitments. We fund our operations,
including capital expenditures and debt service requirements, with cash flows from operations, existing cash and cash
equivalents, borrowings under available credit facilities, and proceeds from any additional financing. Maintaining an
appropriate level of liquidity is important to our business and depends on, among other things, the performance of our
business, our capital expenditure levels and our ability to repay debt out of our operating cash flows or proceeds from debt
or equity financings.

In 2012, our capital additionstotaled $533.2 million or 19.3% of net sales compared to $453.0 million or 16.3% of net sales
in 2011. Our 2012 capital additions were driven by investments in advanced test platforms and packaging equipment
supporting the communications end market, as well as research and development projects. In 2012, 42.2% of our capital
additions were made in packaging, 39.9% for test and 17.9% for research and development and infrastructure projects. In
2011, 60.9% of our capital additions were made in packaging, 22.5% for test and 16.6% for research and development and
infrastructure projects.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $389.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to $516.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2011. We experienced negative free cash flow of $144.4 million for theyear ended
December 31, 2012, compared to free cash flow of $50.1 millioninthe prior year. Our negativefree cash flow was primarily
driven by capital purchasesto support customer demand for packaging and test services related to mobile communications
and an increase in accountsreceivable. We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities|ess purchases
of property, plant and equipment. Free cash flow is not defined by U.S generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S.
GAAP”"), and areconciliation of free cash flow to net cash provided by operating activities is set forth under the caption
“Cash Flows” below.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain operating data as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
NELSAlES . .o 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
(€013 217= o 1 o A 15.4% 17.7% 22.6%
Depreciationand amortization . ...........ccotiiii i 13.4% 12.1% 11.0%
OpErating iINCOME . . .ottt et ettt e et 5.5% 7.0% 12.7%
Income beforeincometaxes. . ........... .. i 2.2% 3.6% 8.5%
Net income attributableto Amkor. .. .............. ... ... il 1.5% 3.3% 7.9%

Net Sales
Change
2012 2011 2010 2012 over 2011 2011 over 2010
(In thousands, except percentages)

Netsades............... $ 2759546 $ 2,776,359 $ 2939483 $  (16,813) 06)% $ (163,124) (5.5)%
Packaging net sales. ... ... 2,438,572 2,493,283 2,650,257 (54,711) (2.2% (156,974) (5.9%
Testnetsales............ 320,974 282,942 288,871 38,032 13.4 % (5,929) (2.1)%

Net Sales. Net salesin 2012 decreased compared to 2011 due to lower net sales of our packaging services. The decrease
in packaging net sales was partially offset by an increasein test net sales.

Net salesin 2011 decreased compared to 2010 primarily as a result of lower net sales of our packaging and test services.
Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2011, were also negatively impacted by the supply chain disruptions in Japan
caused by the March 2011 earthquake and tsunami.

Packaging Net Sales. Packaging net salesin 2012 decreased compared to 2011. The decrease in packaging net sales was
the result of weaknessin the consumer, networking and auto and industrial end markets. In particular, packaging net sales
related to home electronics and gaming were lower than historical levels due to insourcing by some of our IDM customers
and lower demand for our wirebond packaging services. These decreases were partially offset by strength in the
communi cations end market for smartphones and tablets. Packaging unit volume increased 0.4 billion unitsin 2012 to 8.5
billionunits, comparedto 8.1 billion unitsin 2011, primarily duetoincreasesinwafer level and flip chip chip scale packaging
services, partially offset by decreasesin wirebond array and leadframe packaging services.

Packaging net sales in 2011 decreased compared to 2010. The decrease in packaging net sales was primarily driven by
weakness in sales of our ball grid array and leadframe packaging solutions partially offset by strong sales of our chip scale
packaging solutions supporting mobile communications products. Packaging unit volume decreased 1.7 billion unitsin
2011 to 8.1 billion units, compared to 9.8 billion unitsin 2010, primarily attributabl e to decreased demand for our |eadframe
packaging solutions.

TestNet Sales. Test net salesin 2012 increased comparedto 2011 dueto strong demand for mobile communi cations products,
such as smartphones and tablets. Test net salesin 2011 decreased compared to 2010 primarily as a result of decreased
demand from the computing and consumer end markets partially offset by increased test servicesfor mobile communications
products.
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Cost of Sales

Change
2012 2011 2010 2012 over 2011 2011 over 2010
(In thousands, except percentages)
Costofsales............ $ 2335736 $ 2285790 $ 2275727 $ 49,946 22% $ 10,063 0.4%

Our cost of sales consists principally of materials, labor, depreciation and manufacturing overhead. Since a substantial
portion of the costs at our factories is fixed, relatively modest increases or decreases in capacity utilization rates can have
asignificant effect on our gross margin.

Material costs as a percentage of net sales decreased to 43.2% in 2012 from 44.1% in 2011 as a result of higher test net
sales, which consume few materials, and ashift to amix of packaging serviceswith alower material content asapercentage
of net sales. Material costs in absolute dollars primarily decreased in 2012 due to the net sales mix described above and
lower net sales. Material costs as a percentage of net sales increased to 44.1% in 2011 from 42.6% in 2010 primarily due
to the increased cost of gold that is used in most of our wirebond packaging solutions. Material costs in absolute dollars
decreased in 2011 as aresult of the decline in net sales.

As a percentage of net sales, labor costs decreased to 14.3% in 2012 from 14.6% in 2011. The decreasein labor costsasa
percentage of net sales and in absolute dollars was primarily driven by labor cost savings from restructuring activities at
our manufacturing operationsin Japan in early 2012 and the Philippinesin 2011. As apercentage of net sales, labor costs
increased to 14.6% in 2011 from 12.7% in 2010. Theincreasein labor costs as a percentage of net sales was primarily the
result of lower levels of utilization driven by decreased customer demand and the corresponding decreasein net sales. As
substantially all of our manufacturing workforce is paid in Asian currencies, labor costs were al so negatively impacted by
the appreciation of certain Asian based currencies against the U.S. dollar in 2011 compared to 2010. Inaddition, labor wage
ratesincreased in 2011 and the year also includes a$7.7 million charge for workforce reduction programs at our Philippine
manufacturing operations compared to a $3.7 million workforce reduction charge in 2010.

Other manufacturing costs as a percentage of net salesincreased to 27.1% in 2012 from 23.6% in 2011. Theincreaseasa
percentage of salesand in absolute dollarswas primarily attributabl e to the estimated $50.0 million loss contingency charge
resulting from our pending patent license arbitration with Tessera and increased depreciation expense from our continued
investment in property, plant and equipment. Other manufacturing costs as a percentage of net salesincreased to 23.6%in
2011 from 22.1% in 2010. Other manufacturing costs in 2011 increased as a percentage of net sales primarily as a result
of lower levelsof utilization driven by decreased customer demand and the corresponding decreasein net sales. Theincrease
in other manufacturing costsin absolute dollarsin 2011 was primarily attributable to the appreciation of certain Asian based
currencies against the U.S. dollar and increased depreciation from our continued investments in property, plant and
equipment. These costs were partially offset by overhead cost savings from the closure of our Singapore manufacturing
operations.

Gross Profit

Change
2012 2011 2010 2012 over 2011 2011 over 2010
(In thousands, except percentages)
Grossprofit .. ... $ 423810 $ 490569 $ 663,756 $ (66,759) $ (173,187)
GrossSmargin. . ....o.oouveeiiii 15.4% 17.7% 22.6% (2.3)% (4.9%

Gross profit and gross margin in 2012 decreased compared to 2011. The decrease in gross profit and gross margin was
primarily due to weakness in demand for some of our wirebond packaging services and the corresponding lower level of
utilization of these manufacturing assets, the estimated $50.0 million loss contingency charge resulting from our pending
patent license arbitration with Tesseraand lower net salesdueto insourcing by some of our IDM customers. Thesedecreases
were partialy offset by increased net sales of flip chip and wafer level packagesaswell asincreased test net sales supporting
mobile communications.



Grossprofit and gross margin in 2011 decreased compared to 2010. The decrease was primarily dueto weaknessin demand
for some of our packaging solutions and the corresponding lower level of utilization of our manufacturing assets. The
market migration from wirebond to flip chip products created underutilized wirebond capacity faster than we were able to
redeploy these assets, which was one of the primary contributorsto our 2011 decreasein utilization. Gross margin wasalso
negatively impacted by the appreciation of certain Asian based currencies against the U.S. dollar, theincreased cost of gold
that is used in most of our wirebond packages, increased depreciation expense as a result of our continued investment in
property, plant and equipment and charges for workforce reduction programs at our Philippine manufacturing operations.

Change
2012 2011 2010 2012 over 2011 2011 over 2010
(In thousands, except percentages)
Packaging grossprofit...................... $ 334968 $ 425878 $ 584,190 $ (90,9100 $ (158,312)
Packaging grossmargin. . ................... 13.7% 17.1% 22.0% (3.4% (4.9%

Packaging Gross Profit. Gross profit and gross margin for packaging net salesin 2012 decreased compared to 2011. The
decreases in gross profit and gross margin were primarily due to weaknessin demand for some of our wirebond packaging
services and the corresponding lower level of utilization of these manufacturing assets, the Tesseraloss contingency charge
discussed above, which relates entirely to the packaging segment, and lower net sales due to insourcing by some of our
IDM customers. These decreaseswere partially offset by increased net salesof flip chip and wafer level packages supporting
mobile communications.

Gross profit and gross margin for packaging sales in 2011 decreased compared to 2010. The decrease in gross profit and
gross margin was attributable to weakness in demand for some of our packaging solutions and the corresponding lower
level of utilization of our manufacturing assets. Themarket migration of wirebond to flip chip products created underutilized
wirebond capacity faster than we were able to redepl oy these assets, which was one of the primary contributorsto our 2011
decreasein utilization. Gross margin was also negatively impacted by the appreciation of certain Asian based currencies
against the U.S. dollar, the increased cost of gold that is used in most of our wirebond packages, increased depreciation
expense as a result of our continued investment in property, plant and equipment and charges for workforce reduction
programs at our Philippine manufacturing operations.

Change
2012 2011 2010 2012 over 2011 2011 over 2010
(In thousands, except percentages)
Testgrossprofit. ...........ccoviiinn.... $ 88842 $ 65719 $ 79621 $ 23123 $  (13,902)
Testgrossmargin. . ...........ccoveiinnnnn.. 27.7% 23.2% 27.6% 4.5% (4.9%

Test Gross Profit. Gross profit and gross margin for test salesin 2012 increased compared to 2011. Theincreasesin gross
profit and gross margin were mainly attributable to higher utilization of our test assets and higher test net sales. Costs of
salesfor test services are primarily fixed in nature and have relatively low material content. Accordingly, increasesin net
sales or utilization generally result in increased gross profit and gross margin due to the high degree of operating leverage
for these services. Gross profit and gross margin for test salesin 2011 decreased compared to 2010. The decreasein gross
profit and grossmargin was primarily driven by lower utilization of our test assetsaswell ashigher labor costsand increased
depreciation expense as aresult of our continued investment in property, plant and equipment.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Change
2012 2011 2010 2012 over 2011 2011 over 2010
(In thousands, except percentages)
Selling, general and
administrative. ... .... $ 217000 $ 246513 $ 242424 % (29,513) (1200% $ 4,089 1.7%
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Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased in 2012 compared to 2011. The decrease was primarily the result
of reduced employee compensation expense and lower professional fees, partially offset by chargesfrom our restructuring
activitiesin 2012. Sdlling, general and administrative expenses in 2011 increased compared to 2010. The increase was
mainly attributabletoincreased professional feesand, to al esser extent, higher employeecompensationand benefitsprimarily
due to merit increases and share-based compensation. These increaseswere offset by lower contracted servicesin 2011 for
the continued implementation of our global enterprise resource planning information system.

Research and Development

Change
2012 2011 2010 2012 over 2011 2011 over 2010
(In thousands, except percentages)
Research and development  $ 54118 $ 50,386 $ 47534 $ 3,732 74% $ 2,852 6.0%

Research and devel opment activitiesarefocused on devel oping new packaging interconnect and test servicesand improving
the efficiency and capabilities of our existing production processes. Areas of focusinclude 3D packaging, including silicon
interposers and Through Silicon Viatechnologies, fine pitch copper pillar packaging and wafer level processing.

Research and development expenses in 2012 increased compared to 2011 in both absolute dollars and as a percentage of
net sales. Research and development expenses represented 2.0% of net salesin 2012 compared to 1.8% of net salesin 2011.
Theincreasein research and devel opment expenses was driven by increased depreciation from capital additions as aresult
of our continued investment in research and devel opment initiatives. Research and development expensesin 2011 increased
compared to 2010. Theincrease in research and development expenses was primarily attributable to increased employee
salary expenses. As apercentage of net sales, research and devel opment expenses increased to 1.8% in 2011 compared to
1.6% in 2010 due to lower net sales and the increased research and development expenses.

Other Expense, Net

Change
2012 2011 2010 2012 over 2011 2011 over 2010
(In thousands, except percentages)

Interest expense, net . . . ... $ 94,783 $ 83,857 $ 97,895 $ 10,926 130% $ (14,038) (14.3)%
Foreign currency loss. . . .. 4,185 2,178 13,756 2,007 92.1 % (11,578) (84.2%
Loss on debt retirement, net 1,199 15,531 18,042 (14,332)  (92.3)% (2511) (13.99%
Equity in earnings of

unconsolidated affiliate. (5,592) (7,085) (6,435) 1,493 (21.1)% (650) 10.1 %
Other income, net . . ...... (1,586) (2,030) (619) (556) 54.0 % (411) 66.4 %

Total other expense, net. $ 92,989 $ 93451 $ 122639 $ (462) (0.5% $ (29,188)  (23.8)%

Interest expense in 2012 increased compared to 2011 due to $6.0 million of estimated interest related to our pending patent
license arbitration with Tessera and higher levels of debt. Interest expense in 2011 decreased compared to 2010 primarily
due to debt refinanced at lower interest rates and the conversion of our 6.25% Convertible Notes due 2013 into common
stock. In 2012, we incurred a $1.2 million loss on debt retirement associated with the prepayment of certain subsidiary
term loans due in 2014 and 2016. In 2011, we recorded a $15.5 million loss on debt retirement due to the refinancing of
our 2.5% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due May 2011 and the full redemption of our 9.25% Senior Notes due
2016. In 2010, we recorded $18.0 million of debt retirement costs as aresult of the redemption of the 7.125% Senior Notes
due 2011 and the 7.75% Senior Notes due 2013.
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Income Tax Expense

Change
2012 2011 2010 2012 over 2011 2011 over 2010
(In thousands, except percentages)
Incometax expense. .. . ... $ 17,001 $ 7124 % 19012 $ 9,877 138.6% $ (11,888) (62.5)%

Generally, our effective tax rate is substantially below the U.S. federal tax rate of 35% because we have experienced tax
lossesin the U.S. and much of our income istaxed in foreign jurisdictions where we benefit from tax holidays or tax rates
lower than the U.S. statutory rate. Income tax expense in 2012 and 2011 is attributable to income tax on profits earned in
certain foreign jurisdictions, foreign withholding taxes, minimum taxes, and deferred taxes on undistributed earnings from
our investment in J-Devices. Theincreasein income tax expense in 2012 compared to 2011 is attributable to the increase
in income tax rates in jurisdictions where tax holidays have partially expired, taxation in a jurisdiction that previously
benefited from anet operating loss carryforward and taxation of foreign currency gainsin connection with debt denominated
inUSdollarsinaforeignjurisdiction. Incometax expensein 2010 is attributable to incometax on profitsearned in certain
of our taxable foreign jurisdictions, $5.4 million of net additions to estimates of our uncertain tax positions, foreign
withholding taxes and minimum taxes partially offset by a $3.0 million income tax benefit from the release of avaluation
allowance related to certain deferred tax assets in Taiwan.

During 2012, our subsidiariesin China, K orea, the Philippines and Taiwan operated under tax holidayswhich will continue
to expirein whole or in part at various dates through 2017. We expect our effective tax rate to increase as the tax holidays
expire, asincome earned in these jurisdictions will be subject to higher statutory income tax rates. In connection with our
land purchase in Korea in February 2013, we intend to increase our capital in Korea within three years by at least $100
million through foreign investment pursuant to the Foreign Investment Promotion Act, thereby, availing ourselvesof certain
additional tax incentives. See Note 4 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsincluded in Part 11, Item 8 of this Annua
Report on Form 10-K for further discussion of income tax holidays.

At December 31, 2012, we had U.S. net operating loss carryforwards totaling $363.9 million which expire at varioustimes
through 2031. Additionally, at December 31, 2012, we had $56.4 million of non-U.S. net operating loss carryforwards,
which will expire at various times through 2022. We maintain a valuation allowance on all of our U.S. net deferred tax
assets, including our net operating loss carryforwards, and on deferred tax assets in certain foreign jurisdictions. We will
release such valuation allowances as the related tax benefits are realized on our tax returns or when sufficient net positive
evidence existsto concludethat it ismorelikely than not that the deferred tax assetswill berealized. Asthetrend of taxable
operating resultsin oneof our foreign jurisdictions hasbeenimproving over the past year, we believe areasonabl e possibility
exists that, within the next year, sufficient positive evidence may become available to reach a conclusion to release up to
$12.1 million of the valuation allowance maintained in this jurisdiction as of December 31, 2012.



Quarterly Results

Thefollowing table setsforth our unaudited consolidated financial datafor thelast eight quartersended December 31, 2012.
Our results of operations have varied and may continue to vary from quarter to quarter and are not necessarily indicative
of the results of any future period.

We believe that we have included all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair
statement of our selected quarterly data. You should read our selected quarterly datain conjunction with our Consolidated
Financial Statements and the related notes, included in Part I1, Item 8 of thisAnnua Report on Form 10-K.

Our net sales, gross profit and operating income are generally lower in thefirst quarter of the year as compared to the fourth
quarter of the preceding year primarily due to the effect of consumer buying patterns in the U.S., Europe and Asia.
Semiconductor companies generally reduce their production during the holidays at the end of December which resultsin a
reduction in demand for packaging and test services during the first two weeks of January.

We recorded a charge of $30.0 million to cost of sales and $4.0 million to interest expense during the three months ended
June 30, 2012, and an additional charge of $20.0 million to cost of sales and $2.0 million to interest expense during the
three months ended December 31, 2012, related to our pending patent license arbitration.

The calculation of basic and diluted per share amounts for each quarter is based on the weighted average shares outstanding
for that period; consequently, the sum of the quarters may not necessarily be egual to the full year basic and diluted net
income per share.

For the Quarter Ended

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011
(In thousands, except per share data)

Netsales. ......coovvviiiiiiiin $722,656 $695353 $686527 $655010 $683,769 $740,007 $687,633 $ 664,950
Costof sales. ..ot 609,934 578,566 597,207 550,029 571,942 617,768 557,816 538,264
Grossprofit .....oovvviinii . 112,722 116,787 89,320 104,981 111,827 122,239 129,817 126,686
Operating expenses:

Selling, general and administretive. . . . .. 56,959 49,297 53,489 57,255 55,660 65,011 61,284 64,558

Research and development ............ 13,354 13,472 13,867 13,425 12,465 13,233 12,559 12,129

Total operating expenses. .......... 70,313 62,769 67,356 70,680 68,125 78,244 73,843 76,687

Operatingincome. . ............c.ovou... 42,409 54,018 21,964 34,301 43,702 43,995 55,974 49,999
Otherexpense, net...........coovvenn... 26,745 21,904 24,983 19,357 20,492 14,173 37,935 20,851
Income beforeincometaxes .............. 15,664 32,114 (3,019 14,944 23,210 29,822 18,039 29,148
Income tax expense (benefit). ............. 7,992 9,538 (3,891) 3,362 (2,351) 2,499 3,594 3,382
Netincome. .. ... 7,672 22,576 872 11,582 25,561 27,323 14,445 25,766
e meontling et oo, 20 (@) @) 1@ () 4 B (6
Net income attributableto Amkor ... ....... $ 7146 $ 22317 $ 581 $ 11,774 $ 24850 $ 27,367 $ 14,488 $ 25,103
Net income attributable to Amkor per -

common share:

BasiC.... i $ 005 $ 014 $ — $ 007 $ 014 $ 014 $ 007 $ 013

Diluted . ... $ 005 $ 011 $ — $ 006 $ 011 $ 011 $ 007 $ 010

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We assess our liquidity based on our current expectations regarding sales, operating expenses, capital spending and debt
service requirements. Based on this assessment, we believe that our cash flow from operating activities, together with
existing cash and cash equivalents and availability under our debt facilities, will be sufficient to fund our working capital,
capital expenditure and debt servicerequirementsfor at least the next twelve months. Thereafter, our liquidity will continue
to be affected by, among other things, volatility in the global economy and credit markets, the performance of our business,
our capital expenditurelevels, other usesof our cashincluding thefinal amount of paymentsduein our disputeswith Tessera,
any purchases of stock under our stock repurchase program, any investmentsin joint ventures or acquisitions and our ability
to either repay debt out of operating cash flows or proceeds from debt or equity financings. In light of possibleinvestment
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opportunities, we are exploring additional lines of credit of approximately $300 million. There can be no assurance that
wewill generate the necessary net income or operating cash flows, or be ableto borrow sufficient funds, to meet the funding
needs of our business beyond the next twelve months due to a variety of factors, including the cyclical nature of the
semiconductor industry and other factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A of thisAnnual Report on Form 10-K.

Our primary source of cash and the source of funds for our operations are cash flows from our operations, existing cash
and cash equivalents, borrowings under available debt facilities and proceeds from any additional debt or equity financings.
As of December 31, 2012, we had cash and cash equivalents of $413.0 million and availability of $149.7 million under our
$150.0 million first lien senior secured revolving credit facility. Additionally, our foreign subsidiaries had $80.0 million
available to be drawn under revolving credit facilities and $100.0 million available to be borrowed under term loans. In
2013, we borrowed an additional $23.0 million under our term loans. Net cash provided by operating activitieswas $389.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $516.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. We
expect cash flows to be used in the operation and expansion of our business, making capital expenditures, paying principal
and interest on our debt and for other corporate purposes.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness. Total debt at December 31, 2012 was $1,545.0 million. Our indebtedness
requires us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to pay our debt and interest. Werefer you to
“Contractual Obligations’ below for a summary of principal and interest payments.

We operate in a capital intensive industry. Servicing our current and future customers requires that we incur significant
operating expenses and make significant capital expenditures, which are generally made in advance of the related revenues
and without any firm customer commitments.

We sponsor an accrued severance plan for our Korean subsidiary which, under existing tax lawsin Korea, limits our ability
to deduct related severance expenses accrued under that plan. The purpose of these limitations isto encourage companies
to migrate to a defined contribution or defined benefit plan. If we retain our existing severance plan, the deduction for
severance expenses will be primarily limited to severance payments made to retired employees, which resultsin a larger
current income tax liability in Korea. If we decide to adopt a new plan, we may fund a significant portion of the existing
liability, which would provide a current tax deduction upon funding. Our Korean severance liability was $126.5 million
as of December 31, 2012.

Included in our cash balance as of December 31, 2012, is $224.1 million held offshore by our foreign subsidiaries. If we
were to distribute this offshore cash to the U.S. as repatriated earnings of our foreign subsidiaries, we would incur up to
$6.0 million of foreign withholding taxes; however, we would not incur a significant amount of U.S. federal income taxes,
due to the availability of tax loss carryovers and foreign tax credits.

Our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $300.0 million of our common stock, exclusive of any fees,
commissions or other expenses. We did not purchase any stock under the plan for the three months ended December 31,
2012. Through December 31, 2012, we had repurchased 45.0 million shares for $208.4 million, net of $0.9 million of
commissions, leaving abalance of $91.6 million available at December 31, 2012 for stock repurchases under this program.
The purchase of stock may be made in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions. The timing, manner,
price and amount of any repurchases will be determined by us at our discretion and will depend upon a variety of factors
including economic and market conditions, the cash needs and investment opportunities for the business, price, applicable
legal requirements and other factors. Our stock repurchase program may be suspended or discontinued at any time.

We have a30% equity interest and optionsto acquire additional equity interestsin J-Devices, ajoint venture among Amkor,
Toshiba and the original shareholders of J-Devices, which provides semiconductor packaging and test services in Japan.
Theoptionsare exercisable at our discretion and permit usto increase our ownership interestin J-Devices. InJanuary 2013,
we exercised our option to increase our ownership interest in J-Devices from 30% to 60% for an aggregate purchase price
of ¥6.7 billion (approximately $75million). Thetransactionisexpectedtoclosein April 2013, subject toregulatory approval.
Future options permit us to increase our ownership up to 66% in 2014 by purchasing shares owned by one of the other
shareholders and up to 80% in 2015 by purchasing shares owned by the other shareholders. In 2014 and beyond, Toshiba
has the option, at its discretion, to sell sharesit ownsto usif we have exercised any of our options. After we own 80% or
more shares, the original shareholders of J-Devices have a put option which allows them to sell their sharesto us. The
exercise price for al optionsis payable in cash and isto be determined using aformula based primarily upon the net book
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valueand amultipleof earningsbeforeinterest, taxes, depreci ation and amorti zation of J-Devices. Thegovernanceprovisions
applicableto J-Devicesrestrict our ability, even after obtaining majority ownership, to cause J-Devicesto take certain actions
without the consent of the other investors. Accordingly, we account for our investment in J-Devices using the equity method
of accounting. See Note 10 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsin Part 11, Item 8 of thisAnnual Report on Form 10-
K. Increasing our investment in J-Devices hasrisks, including those discussed in Part I, Item 1A of thisAnnual Report on
Form 10-K under the caption "Difficulties Consolidating and Integrating Our Operations — We Face Challenges as We
Integrate Diverse Operations."”

We refer you to Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsin Part |, Item 1 of this Annual Report for a discussion
of the pending arbitration relating to Amkor's license agreement with Tessera. We expect to use cash on hand, proceeds
from borrowings under our existing lines of credit or other sources to make any payments due in connection with our
litigation with Tessera.

In January 2013, we sold office space and land located in Chandler, Arizonafor $24.0 million.

In February 2013, we entered into an agreement for the purchase of land for a new factory and research and development
center in Korea. We paid ¥10.9 billion (approximately $10 million) at signing, with two remaining payments of ¥43.4
billion (approximately $40 million) and ¥54.2 billion (approximately $50 million) due in August 2013 and November
2013, respectively. We expect to spend approximately $300 million over the next several years for the construction of the
facility.

In order to reduce leverage and future cash interest payments, we may from time to time repurchase our outstanding notes
for cash or exchange shares of our common stock for our outstanding notes. Any such transactions may be made in the
open market, through privately negotiated transactions, pursuant to the terms of the notes or otherwise and would be subject
to the terms of the indentures and other debt agreements, market conditions, and other factors.

In September 2012, we issued $300.0 million of 6.375% Senior Notes due October 2022 (the “ 2022 Notes’) and used the
net proceeds to repay $224.9 million of subsidiary debt.

Certain debt agreements have restrictions on dividend payments and the repurchase of stock and subordinated securities,
including our convertible notes. These restrictions are determined by cal cul ations based upon cumulative net income. We
have never paid adividend to our stockholders and we do not have any present plansfor doing so. Amkor Technology, Inc.
also guarantees certain debt of our subsidiaries.

We were in compliance with all debt covenants at December 31, 2012 and expect to remain in compliance with these
covenants for at least the next twelve months. Additional information about our debt is available in Note 12 to our
Consolidated Financial Statementsincluded in Part I1, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Capital Additions

We make significant capital additionsin order to service the demand of our customers. Our capital additionsincreased as
wetransitioned to new packaging andtest technologies. 1n2012, our capital additionstotaled $533.2 million or approximately
19.3% of net sales. Of thistotal, approximately 42.2% of our capital additions were made in packaging, 39.9% in test and
17.9% for research and development and infrastructure projects. Our spending was focused primarily on investmentsin
advanced test platforms and packaging equipment supporting the communications end market, as well as research and
development projects.

We expect that our 2013 capital additions will be approximately $450 million, in addition to $150 million of spending for
the acquisition of land and construction relating to our new factory and research and development center in Korea. Our
expected capital additions for 2013 primarily support customer demand for packaging and test services related to mobile
communications. Ultimately, the amount of our 2013 capital additions will depend on several factors including, among
others, the timing and implementation of any capital projects under review, the performance of our business, economic and
market conditions, the cash needs and investment opportunitiesfor the business, the need for additional capacity to service
anticipated customer demand and the availability of cash flows from operations or financing.
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In February 2013, we entered into an agreement for the purchase of land for afactory and research and devel opment center
in Korea. The land purchase priceis ¥108.5 billion (approximately $100 million), payable in installments over the next
ten months. We expect to spend $150 million in 2013 for the acquisition of the land and construction relating to the Korean
facility using cash on hand or borrowings. Over the next severa years, we expect to spend atotal of approximately $300
million for the construction of the facility. The agreement to purchase the land for the facility is subject to our compliance
with various construction, investment, hiring, regulatory and other requirements. There can be no assurance that the new
facility project will proceed at all, or that the actual scope, costs, timeline or benefits of the project will be consistent with
our current expectations.

In addition, we are subject to risks associated with our capital additions, including those discussed in Part I, Item 1A of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption "Capital Additions — We Make Substantial Capital Additions To Support
the Demand Of Our Customers, Which May Adversely Affect Our Business If the Demand Of Our Customers Does Not
Develop AsWe Expect or IsAdversely Affected." Thefollowing table reconciles our activity related to property, plant and
equipment additions as presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets to purchases of property, plant and equipment as
presented on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Property, plant and equipment additions ....................... $ 533,177 $ 452,989 $ 504,463
Net change in related accounts payable and deposits. . ............ 335 13,705 (58,794)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment. .................... $ 533512 $ 466,694 $ 445,669

Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities was $389.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $516.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2011. We experienced negative free cash flow of $144.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012, which was primarily driven by capital purchases to support customer demand for packaging and test
services related to mobile communications and an increase in accounts receivable. Our free cash flow for the year ended
December 31, 2011, was primarily driven by adecreasein accounts receivable, partially offset by adecreasein gross profit.
Free cash flow is not aU.S. GAAP measure. See below for a further discussion of free cash flow and a reconciliation to
U.S. GAAP.

Net cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities for each of the three years ended December 31,
2012 was as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

(In thousands)
Operating activities. . .. ..ot $ 389,063 $ 516,832 $ 542,595
Investingactivities . . ... ... i (520,121) (430,534) (444,921)
Financing activities. . ............ it i 110,032 (58,877) (89,857)

Operating activities: Our net cash provided by operating activitiesin 2012 decreased by $127.8 million compared to 2011.
Operatingincomefor theyear ended December 31, 2012 adjusted for depreciationand amortization, other operating activities
and non-cash items decreased $3.4 million from 2011. The decrease was primarily driven by the 2012 estimated $50.0
million loss contingency charge resulting from our pending patent license arbitration with Tessera, partially offset by lower
selling, general and administrative expenses recognized in 2012. Interest expense, net, for the year ended December 31,
2012, increased by $10.9 million as compared with the year ended December 31, 2011, as aresult of theinterest related to
our arbitration with Tessera and higher levels of long-term debt. Operating cash flowsin 2012 and 2011 were reduced by
$0.5 million and $5.0 million, respectively, for feesin connection with debt repurchases.

Changesin assets and liabilities decreased operating cash flows during 2012 by $28.8 million principally dueto anincrease
in accounts receivable and inventories, offset by increasesin accrued expenses. Accrued expensesincreased primarily due
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to the accrual for estimated royalties and interest relating to our arbitration with Tessera. During 2011, changes in assets
and liabilities increased operating cash flows by $76.4 million, principally due to a decrease in accounts receivable.

Investing activities: Our net cash usedininvesting activitiesin 2012 increased by $89.6 million. Thisincreasewasprimarily
dueto a$66.8 million increase in purchases of property, plant and equipment from $466.7 millionin 2011 to $533.5 million
in 2012, partially offset by adecrease in proceeds from property, plant and equipment from the 2011 sale of our Singapore
facility for $13.3 million.

Financing activities: Our net cash provided by financing activitiesin 2012 was $110.0 million. The net cash provided by
financing activitiesduring 2012 included borrowings of $667.5 million offset by $470.1 million of foreign debt repayments,
the repurchase of $80.9 million of common stock under our authorized stock repurchase program and payment of $6.0
million in debt issuance costs associated with the theissuance of our 6.375% Senior Notes due in 2022 and the amendment
and restatement of our first lien senior secured revolving credit facility. Cash used in financing activities during 2011
consisted principally of borrowings of $489.1 million offset by $413.8 million of debt repayments, the repurchase of $128.4
million of common stock under our stock repurchase program and payment of $5.9 million in debt i ssuance costs associated
with the issuance of our 6.625% Senior Notes duein 2021.

We provide the following supplemental data to assist our investors and analysts in understanding our liquidity and capital
resources. We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities less purchases of property, plant and
equipment. Free cash flow isnot defined by U.S. GAAP. We believe free cash flow to be relevant and useful information
toour investorsbecauseit providesthemwith additional informationinassessing our liquidity, capital resourcesand financial
operating results. Our management uses free cash flow in evaluating our liquidity, our ability to service debt and our ability
to fund capital additions. However, free cash flow has certain limitations, including that it does not represent the residual
cash flow available for discretionary expenditures since other, non-discretionary expenditures, such as mandatory debt
service, are not deducted from the measure. The amount of mandatory versus discretionary expenditures can vary
significantly between periods. This measure should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, or superior to,
other measures of liquidity or financial performance prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, such as net cash provided
by operating activities. Furthermore, our definition of free cash flow may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
reported by other companies.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities. . ..................... $ 389,063 $ 516,832 $ 542,595
L ess purchases of property, plant and equipment. ................ 533,512 466,694 445,669
Freecashflow. ... ... e $ (144449 $ 50,138 $ 96,926




Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2012, and the effect such obligations are
expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods.

Payments Due for Year Ending December 31,

Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
(In thousands)

Totaldebt................ ... ....... $ 1545000 $ — $ 250,000 $ 100,000 $ — $ 137,000 $ 1,058,000
Scheduled interest payment obligations (1) . 618,182 96,638 89,138 78,350 77,428 74,509 202,119
Purchase obligations (2)................ 118,341 118,341 — — — — —
Operating lease obligations . ............ 29,036 11,671 7,926 5,517 953 860 2,109
Severanceobligations(3)............... 126,513 9,516 8,785 8,132 7,517 6,959 85,604
Total contractual obligations .. ....... $2437072 $ 236166 $ 355849 $ 191,999 $ 85898 $ 219328 $ 1,347,832

(1) Scheduled interest payment obligations were cal culated using stated coupon rates for fixed rate debt and interest
rates applicable at December 31, 2012, for variable rate debt.

(2) Represents capital-related purchase obligations outstanding at December 31, 2012.
(3) Represents estimated benefit payments for our Korean subsidiary severance plan.

In addition to the obligationsidentified in the table above, other non-current liabilitiesrecorded in our Consolidated Balance
Sheet at December 31, 2012, include:

*  $22.4million of net foreign pension plan obligations for which the timing and actual amount of funding required
isuncertain. We expect to contribute $2.4 million to the plans during 2013.

* $2.1 million net liability associated with unrecognized tax benefits. Due to the uncertainty regarding the amount
andthetiming of any future cash outfl owsassoci ated with our unrecogni zed tax benefits, weareunabl eto reasonably
estimate the amount and period of ultimate settlement, if any, with the various taxing authorities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2012, we had no off-balance sheet guarantees or other off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in
Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K, other than our operating lease obligations described above in "Contractual
Obligations."

Other Contingencies

We refer you to Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsin Part I1, Item 8 of this Annua Report on Form 10-K
for adiscussion of our contingencies related to litigation and other legal matters. If an unfavorable ruling were to occur in
these matters, there exists the possibility of a material adverse impact on our business, liquidity, results of operations,
financial position and cash flowsin the period in which the ruling occurs. The potential impact from the legal proceedings
on our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial position and cash flows could change in the future.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

We haveidentified the policiesbel ow ascritical to our business operationsand the understanding of our results of operations.
A summary of our significant accounting policies used in the preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements appears
in Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part |1, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our
preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. There can be no assurance that actual results will
not differ from those estimates.
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We believe the following critical accounting policies, which have been reviewed with the Audit Committee of our board of
directors, affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Revenue Recognition. Werecognizerevenuefrom our packaging and test serviceswhen thereisevidence of an arrangement,
delivery hasoccurred or services have been rendered, feesare fixed or determinable and collectibility isreasonably assured.
Generally these criteria are met and revenue is recognized upon shipment. If the revenue recognition criteria are not met,
we defer the revenue. Deferred revenue generally results from two types of transactions: invoicing at interim pointsin the
packaging and test process prior to delivery and customer advances. Deferred revenue relates to contractual invoicing at
interim points prior to the delivery of the finished product. The invoicing that is completed in advance of our revenue
recognition criteria being met is recorded as deferred revenue. Customer advances represent supply agreements with
customers where we commit capacity in exchange for customer prepayment of services. These prepayments are deferred
and recorded as customer advances within accrued expenses and other non-current liabilities.

We generally do not take ownership of customer-supplied semiconductor wafers. Title and risk of loss remains with the
customer for these materials at all times. Accordingly, the cost of the customer-supplied materials is not included in our
Consolidated Financia Statements.

An alowancefor sales creditsis recorded as areduction to sales and accounts receivabl e during the period of sale such that
accounts receivable is reported at its estimated net realizable value. The allowance for sales credits is an estimate of the
future credits we will issue for billing adjustments primarily for invoicing corrections and miscellaneous customer claims
and is estimated based upon recent credit issuance, historical experience and specific identification of known or expected
sales credits at the end of the reporting period. Additionally, provisions are made for doubtful accounts when thereis doubt
asto the collectibility of accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful accountsis recorded as bad debt expenseand is
classified as selling, general and administrative expense. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon specific
identification of doubtful accounts considering the age of the receivable balance, the customer’s historical payment history
and current credit worthiness as well as specific identification of any known or expected collectibility issues.

Income Taxes. We operate in and file income tax returns in various U.S. and non-U.S. jurisdictions which are subject to
examination by tax authorities. The tax returns for open yearsin all jurisdictions in which we do business are subject to
change upon examination. We believe that we have estimated and provided adequate accruals for potential additional taxes
and related interest expense that may ultimately result from such examinations. We believe that any additional taxes or
related interest over the amounts accrued will not have amaterial effect on our financial condition, results of operations or
cash flows. However, resolution of these matters involves uncertainties and there can be no assurance that the outcomes
will be favorable. In addition, changes in the mix of income from our foreign subsidiaries, expiration of tax holidays or
changesin tax laws or regulations could result in increased effective tax ratesin the future.

Additionally, we record valuation allowances for deferred tax assets for which it ismore likely than not that the related tax
benefitswill not berealized. U.S. GAAP requires companies to weigh both positive and negative evidence in determining
the need for a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets. As aresult of net losses experienced in recent yearsin certain
jurisdictions, we havedetermined that aval uation allowanceisrequired for certain deferred tax assetsincluding thoserel ated
to all of our net operating loss carryforwards in the U.S. We will release such valuation allowances as the related deferred
tax benefits are realized on our tax returns or when sufficient net positive evidence existsto conclude it is more likely than
not that the deferred tax assets will be realized.

Valuation of Inventory. We order raw materials based on customers’ forecasted demand. If our customers change their
forecasted requirements and we are unable to cancel our raw materials order or if our vendors require that we order a
minimum quantity that exceeds the current forecasted demand, we will experience a build-up in raw material inventory.
Wewill either seek to recover the cost of the materials from our customers or utilize theinventory in production. However,
we may not be successful in recovering the cost from our customers or be able to use the inventory in production and,
accordingly, if we believe that it is probable that we will not be able to recover such costs we reduce the carrying value of
our inventory. Additionally, we reduce the carrying value of our inventoriesfor the cost of inventory we estimate is excess
and obsol ete based on the age of our inventories. When a determination is made that the inventory will not be utilized in
production or is not saleable, it is written-off.
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market (net realizable value). Cost is principally determined by standard cost
(onafirst-in, first-out basis for raw materials and purchased components and an average cost basis for work-in-process) or
by the weighted moving average method (for commodities and spare parts), both of which approximate actual cost. We
review and set our standards as needed, but at a minimum on an annual basis.

Long-lived Assets. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of depreciable assets which are as follows;

Land USe rigntS. . ... e 50 years
Buildings and improvementS. . . . . ...ttt 10 to 25 years
Machinery and eqUIPIMENt . . . . .. oottt e e e e e e e e 2to 7 years
Software and COmPULEr EQUIPMENT . . . . ..ottt e e et e e e e e 3to5years
Furniture, fixturesand other eqUIPMeNt. . . . . ... .o i 4t0 10 years

Cost and accumul ated depreciation for property retired or disposed of are removed from the accountsand any resulting gain
or lossisincluded in earnings. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changesin circumstancesindicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of along-lived asset group to be held and used in operations is measured by a
comparison of the carrying amount to the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset group. If such asset group is considered to be impaired, the impairment loss is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are
carried at the lower of cost or fair value less the costs of disposal.

Legal Contingencies. We are subject to certain legal proceedings, lawsuits and other claims. We accrue for a loss
contingency, including legal proceedings, lawsuits, pending claims and other legal matters, when we conclude that the
likelihood of aloss is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. When the reasonabl e estimate of
the loss is within a range of amounts, and no amount in the range constitutes a better estimate than any other amount, we
accrue for the amount at the low end of the range. We adjust our accruals from time to time as we receive additional
information, but the loss we incur may be significantly greater than or less than the amount we have accrued. We disclose
loss contingencies if thereis at least a reasonable possibility that aloss has been incurred.

Our assessment of required reservesmay changein thefuturedueto new devel opmentsin each matter. The presentlegidlative
and litigation environment is substantially uncertain, and it is possible that our liquidity, results of operations, financial
position and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected by an unfavorable outcome or settlement of our pending
litigation and other claims.

Recently Adopted and Recently Issued Standards

For information regarding recently adopted and recently issued accounting standards, see Note 2 to our Consolidated
Financial Statementsincluded in Part I1, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market Risk Sensitivity

We are exposed to market risks, primarily related to foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations. 1n the normal course
of business, we employ established policies and procedures to manage the exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency
valuesand changesininterest rates. Our useof derivativeinstruments, including forward exchange contracts, hashistorically
been insignificant; however, we continue to evaluate the use of hedging instruments to manage currency and other risks.
We have not entered into any derivative transactions during the year ended December 31, 2012 and have no outstanding
contracts as of December 31, 2012.

Foreign Currency Risk

Asof December 31, 2012, we do not have forward contracts or other instrumentsto reduce our exposure to foreign currency
gains and losses. We generally use natural hedging techniques to reduce foreign currency rate risk.

The U.S. dollar is our reporting currency and the functional currency for the majority of our foreign subsidiaries including
our largest subsidiaries in Korea and the Philippines and also our subsidiaries in China, Singapore and Taiwan. For our
subsidiaries and affiliate in Japan, the local currency isthe functional currency.

We have foreign currency exchange rate risk associated with the remeasurement of monetary assets and monetary liabilities
on our Consolidated Balance Sheet that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. We performed
asensitivity analysisof our foreign currency exposure asof December 31, 2012, to assessthe potential impact of fluctuations
in exchange rates for all foreign denominated assets and liabilities. Assuming a 10% adverse movement for all currencies
against the U.S. dollar as of December 31, 2012, our income before income taxes for 2012 would have been approximately
$9 million lower.

In addition, we haveforeign currency exchangerate exposure on our results of operations. For theyear ended December 31,
2012, approximately 90% of our net sales were denominated in U.S. dollars. Our remaining net sales were principally
denominated in Japanese yen and Koreanwon for local country sales. For theyear ended December 31, 2012, approximately
60% of our cost of sales and operating expenses were denominated in U.S. dollars and were largely for raw materials and
factory supplies. The remaining portion of our cost of sales and operating expenses was principally denominated in the
Asian currency where our production facilities are located and largely consisted of labor and utilities. To the extent that
the U.S. dollar weakens against these Asian based currencies, similar foreign currency denominated transactions in the
future will result in higher sales and higher operating expenses, with operating expenses having the greater impact on our
financial results. Similarly, our salesand operating expenseswill decreaseif the U.S. dollar strengthensagainst theseforeign
currencies. We performed a sensitivity analysis of our foreign currency exposure as of December 31, 2012, to assess the
potential impact of fluctuationsin exchangeratesfor all foreign denominated sales and expenses. Assuming a10% adverse
movement from the year ended December 31, 2012, exchange rates of the U.S. dollar compared to all of these Asian-based
currencies as of December 31, 2012, our operating income for 2012 would have been approximately $80 million lower.

There are inherent limitations in the sensitivity analysis presented, primarily due to the assumption that foreign exchange
rate movements across multiple jurisdictions are similar and would be linear and instantaneous. Asaresult, the analysisis
unable to reflect the potential effects of more complex market or other changes that could arise which may positively or
negatively affect our results of operations.

Wehaveforeign currency exchangerate exposure on our stockholders' equity asaresult of the translation of our subsidiaries
where thelocal currency isthefunctional currency. To the extent the U.S. dollar strengthens against thelocal currency, the
trangd ation of these foreign currency denominated transactions will result in reduced sales, operating expenses, assets and
liahilities. Similarly, our sales, operating expenses, assets and liabilitieswill increaseif the U.S. dollar weakens against the
local currencies. The effect of foreign exchange rate transglation on our Consolidated Balance Sheet for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011, was anet foreign translation loss of $4.7 million and again of $1.2 million, respectively, and
was recognized as an adjustment to equity through other comprehensive income.
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Interest Rate Risk

We have interest rate risk with respect to our long-term debt. Asof December 31, 2012, we had atotal of $1,545.0 million
of debt of which 83.8% was fixed rate debt and 16.2% was variable rate debt. Asof December 31, 2011, we had atotal of
$1,346.7 million of debt of which 73.9% was fixed rate debt and 26.1% was variable rate debt. The fixed rate debt consists
of senior notes and senior subordinated notes. Our variable rate debt principaly relates to our foreign borrowings and
revolving lines of credit and any amounts outstanding under our $150.0 million senior and secured revolving line of credit,
under which no amounts were drawn as of December 31, 2012. Changes in interest rates have different impacts on the
fixed and variable rate portions of our debt portfolio. A change in interest rates on the fixed portion of the debt portfolio
impacts the fair value of the instrument but has no impact on interest expense or cash flows. A changein interest rateson
the variable portion of the debt portfolio impacts the interest incurred and cash flows but does not generally impact the fair
value of the instrument. The fair value of the convertible notes is also impacted by changes in the market price of our
common stock.

The table below presents the interest rates, maturities and fair value of our fixed and variable rate debt as of December 31,
2012.

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total Fair Value
Long term debt:
Fixed rate debt (Inthousands) ......... $ — $ 250,000 $ — $ — $ — $1,045,000 $ 1,295,000 $ 1,433,920
Averageinterestrate. .. .............. —% 6.0% —% —% —% 6.8% 6.6%
Variablerate debt (In thousands). . . . . .. $ — $ — $ 100,000 $ — $ 137,000 $ 13,000 $ 250,000 $ 269,200
Averageinterestrate. ................ —% —% 4.2% —% 4.3% 4.0% 4.2%

For information regarding the fair value of our long-term debt, see Note 15 to our Consolidated Financial Statementsin
Part 11, Item 8 of thisAnnual Report on Form 10-K.

Equity Price Risk

We have convertible notes that are convertible into our common stock. If investors were to decide to convert their notesto
common stock, our future earnings would benefit from areduction in interest expense and our common stock outstanding
would beincreased. If we paid a premium to induce such conversion, our earnings could include an additional charge.
Further, the trading price of our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be highly volatile and could be subject

towidefluctuations. Such fluctuations could impact our decision or ability to utilize the equity markets asapotential source
of our funding needs in the future.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

We present the information required by Item 8 of Form 10-K here in the following order:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .. ... i i
Consolidated Statements of Income — Years ended December 31, 2012, 2011and 2010. .. .................
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income — Years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010........
Consolidated Balance Sheets — December 31,2012 and 2011 .. ... ...ttt
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity — Years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.........
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years ended December 31, 2012,2011and 2010 ................
Notesto Consolidated Financial StalementS. ... ... ..t e e e
Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying ACCOUNES. . ... ... o it e e




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Amkor Technology, Inc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statementslistedin the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Amkor Technology, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of
their operations and their cash flowsfor each of the three yearsin the period ended December 31, 2012 in conformity with
accounting principlesgenerally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, thefinancial statement
schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when
read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012 based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements and financia statement
schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financia reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
appearing under Item 9A.. Our responsibility isto express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement
schedule, and on the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting based on our integrated audits. We conducted our
auditsin accordancewith the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all materia
respects. Our audits of the financia statements included examining, on atest basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and eval uating theoverall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that amaterial weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financia reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposesin accordancewith generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’sinternal control over financial reporting includesthose policiesand procedures
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of itsinherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectivenessto future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changesin conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/9 PricewaterhouseCoopersLLP
Phoenix, Arizona
March 8, 2013
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AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands, except per share data)

NE SAlES . .ot $ 2759546 $ 2,776,359 $ 2,939,483
Costof SAlES . .o 2,335,736 2,285,790 2,275,727
GrossSprofit. . ..o 423,810 490,569 663,756
Operating expenses.

Sdlling, general and administrative . ........................ 217,000 246,513 242,424

Researchand development ............. ... ... ... ...t 54,118 50,386 47,534

Total operating expenses. . . ... oot 271,118 296,899 289,958

OperatinginCoMme . . . ...t e 152,692 193,670 373,798
Other expense (income):

INtErest EXPENSE . . .t 83,974 74,212 85,595

Interest expense, related party . ... 13,969 12,394 15,250

Interest iNCOMe. . ... ..o e (3,160) (2,749) (2,950)

Foreigncurrency 0SS, ... ...t 4,185 2,178 13,756

Lossondebt retirement, net. . ........... ... .. oo 1,199 15,531 18,042

Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate. .. .............. (5,592 (7,085) (6,435)

Otherincome, Net. .. ...t e (1,586) (1,030) (619)

Total otherexpense, net. . ......... ... i 92,989 93,451 122,639

Income beforeincometaxes. . ... 59,703 100,219 251,159
INCOMEtaX BXPENSE. .« .\ vttt ettt et 17,001 7,124 19,012
NELINCOME . . ottt et 42,702 93,095 232,147
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests. . ............. (884) (1,287) (176)
Net income attributableto Amkor . ........................... $ 41,818 $ 91,808 $ 231,971
Net income attributable to Amkor per common share:

BaSiC. . . $ 026 $ 048 $ 1.26

Diluted . . ... $ 024 $ 039 $ 0.91
Shares used in computing per common share amounts:

BaSIC. . 160,105 190,829 183,312

Diluted . . ... 243,004 273,686 282,602

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Netincome. ............ . $ 42,702 $ 93,095 $ 232,147
Other comprehensive income (10ss), net of tax:
Adjustments to unrealized components of defined benefit pension
plans, net of tax of ($35), $362and $208. ................. 5,137 (5,800) 2,270
Cumulative translation adjustment, net of tax of $1,552, ($1,754)
and B0 . .. (4,745) 1,192 8,166
Total other comprehensiveincome (Ioss). ................. 392 (4,608) 10,436
ComprehensiveinCome . ...t 43,094 88,487 242,583
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests . . . . . (884) (1,287) (176)
Comprehensive income attributableto Amkor. . ................. $ 42210 $ 87,200 $ 242,407

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2012 2011

(In thousands,
except per share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cashand cashequivalents. . ...t $ 413,048 $ 434,631
ReStriCted Cash. . . oo 2,680 2,680

Accounts receivable:
Trade, net of AlOWanCeS. . ... oo 389,699 298,543
(6 111 13,098 27,197
0 1Y7= 0 (o == 227,439 198,427
OtheEr CUITENE ASSELS . . . . oot ittt e e e et 45,444 35,352
Total CUMENt ASSELS. . . .ottt e e 1,091,408 996,830
Property, plantand equipment, Net. . . ... e 1,819,969 1,656,214
Intangibles, net. . ... 4,766 8,382
INVESIMIENTS. . . .. e 38,690 36,707
RESHICtEd CaSN . . ot 2,308 4,001
(@111 === £ 68,074 70,913
TOtAl BSSEES. . . ot i i $ 3025215 $ 2,773,047

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-termdebt . ................. $ — $ 59,395
Tradeaccountspayable. . ... ..ot e 439,663 424,504
ACCIUE EXPENSES . o v vt ettt et e 212,964 158,287
Total current liabilities. .. ... 652,627 642,186
Long-term debt. . ... ..o 1,320,000 1,062,256
Long-term debt, related party. . . . ... .o 225,000 225,000
Pension and severance obligations. . . . ... . 139,379 129,096
Other non-current liabilities. .. ... o i 21,415 13,288
Total liabilities. ... ..o o 2,358,421 2,071,826
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)
Equity:

Amkor stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000 shares authorized, designated Series A,
NONEISSUEH. . o .\ ottt et e e e e e e e e e — —

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 500,000 shares authorized, 197,709 and 197,359
sharesissued, and 152,397 and 168,628 shares outstanding, in 2012 and 2011,

FESPECHIVELY .. ettt ettt et e e 198 197
Additiona paid-incapital ......... ... .. 1,614,143 1,611,242
Accumulated deficit. . ... ..o (756,644) (798,462)
Accumulated other comprehensiveincome. .. ..o, 11,241 10,849
Treasury stock, at cost, 45,312 and 28,731 sharesin 2012 and 2011, respectively .. (210,983) (130,560)

Total Amkor stockholders equity . ... 657,955 693,266
Noncontrolling interestsin subsidiaries. . ............. o i 8,839 7,955
Total eQUITY . ..o 666,794 701,221
Total liabilitiesand equity . .. ... $ 3025215 $ 2,773,047

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other Treasury Stock Total Amkor Noncontrolling
—eee Paid- Accumulated ~ ComprehensiVe  e—————————————  Stockholders’ Interest in Total
Shares Par Value In Capital Deficit Income Shares Cost Equity Subsidiaries Equity
(In thousands)
Balance at December 31,

2009.............. 183171 $ 183 $1,500,246 $(1,122,241) $ 5,021 — % — $ 383209 $ 6,492 $ 389,701
Netincome........... — — —_ 231,971 — — — 231,971 176 232,147
Other comprehensive

income............ — — — — 10,436 — — 10,436 — 10,436

Treasury stock acquired
through surrender of

shares for tax

withholding ........ — — — — — (47) (284) (284) — (284)
Issuance of stock

through share-based

compensation plans. . 296 — 1,166 — — — — 1,166 — 1,166
Share-based

compensation

eXpense ........... — — 3515 — — — — 3515 — 3515
Balance at December 31,

2010. ...l 183467 $ 183 $1,504,927 $ (890,270) $ 15,457 47) $ (284 $ 630013 $ 6,668 $ 636,681
Netincome........... — — — 91,808 — — — 91,808 1,287 93,095
Other comprehensive
income .............. — — — — (4,608) — — (4,608) — (4,608)
Conversion of debt to
common stock. . ....... 13,351 13 100,484 — — — — 100,497 — 100,497
Repurchase of common

stock ... — — — — —  (28573)  (129,500) (129,500) — (129,500)

Treasury stock acquired
through surrender of

shares for tax

withholding .. ...... — — — — — (112) (776) (776) — (776)
Issuance of stock

through share-based

compensation plans. . 541 1 821 —_ — — — 822 — 822
Share-based

compensation

expense . .......... —_ —_ 5,010 —_ —_ —_ —_ 5,010 — 5,010
Balance at December 31,

2011, .. 197,359 $ 197 $1,611,242 $ (798462 $ 10,849  (28,731) $(130,560) $ 693,266 $ 7,955 $ 701,221
Netincome........... — — — 41,818 — — — 41,818 884 42,702
Other comprehensive

income............ — — — — 392 — — 392 — 392
Repurchase of common

StocK L. — — — — — (16472 (79,814) (79,814) — (79,814)

Treasury stock acquired
through surrender of
shares for tax
withholding . ....... — — — — — (109) (609) (609) — (609)

Issuance of stock
through share-based
compensation plans. . 350 1 181 — — — — 182 — 182

Share-based
compensation
expense . .......... — — 2,720 — — — — 2,720 — 2,720

Balance at December 31,
2012, ... ... 197,709 $ 198 $1,614,143 $ (756,644) $ 11,241  (45312) $(210983) $ 657,955 $ 8,839 $ 666,794

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
NELINCOME . . ..ttt e et e $ 2702 % 93,095 $ 232,147
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization .. ............ouuiiieeii i 370,479 335,644 323,608
Amortization of deferred debt issuance costsand discounts. .. ............... 3,663 3,737 4,458
Provision for accountsreceivable . .......... ... (57) (69) 508
Deferred iNCOMEtaxes. . . ..ot 6,078 (2,239) 4,736
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate. . . ............. ... ... ... (5,592) (7,085) (6,435)
Lossondebtretirement, net ........... 737 10,557 10,562
(Gain) losson disposal of fixedassets, net . . ... (1,676) 1,942 423
Share-based COMPENSALION . . .. ...t 2,720 5,010 3,515
Other, NEL. . .o (1,222) (120) 4,317
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accountsreceivable ... ... .. (96,107) 95,882 (58,225)
Otherreceilvables. . ... ... (1,570) 2,813 203
L7 10 = (29,882) (6,912) (34,882)
Other CUITENE BSSELS. . . .+ v v vttt (5,015) (5,597) 6,876
Other @SSEtS . . . vttt (598) 347 (1,365)
Tradeaccountspayable. ... 17,142 (7,539) 18,379
ACCIUBH BXPENSES . . o oo oottt et et e e 66,566 (21,676) 18,019
Other non-current liabilities ... ... 20,695 19,042 15,751
Net cash provided by operating activities. . .................. .. ... .. 389,063 516,832 542,595
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plantandequipment . ............ ... i (533,512) (466,694) (445,669)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment. .. ............ ... ... 2,727 15,823 3,125
Financing lease payment from unconsolidated affiliate . . . ..................... 15,484 10,794 13,384
Changeinrestricted Cash. . ... ...t s 1,693 13,046 (10,253)
Other investing actiVities. . . . ... ..o (6,513) (3,503) (5,508)
Net cash used ininvesting activities. . ......... ...t (520,121) (430,534) (444,921)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under revolving credit facilities. . . .......... ... .. o i — — 3,261
Payments under revolving credit facilities . ........... ... ... o il — — (34,253)
Borrowingsunder short-termdebt ........... ... 30,000 26,567 15,000
Payments of short-termdebt . . ... (50,000) (21,567) (15,000)
Proceeds fromissuance of long-termdebt .......... ... ... i it 637,528 387,512 611,007
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, relatedparty ....................... — 75,000 —
Payments of long-term debt, net of certain redemption premiums and discounts . . . . (420,116) (392,191) (663,433)
Paymentsfor debt issuanCecosts . ... (6,007) (5,875) (7,487)
Payments for repurchase of commonstock. . ... (80,946) (128,368) —
Proceeds from issuance of stock through share-based compensationplans. ........ 182 821 1,048
Payments of tax withholding for restrictedshares . ........... ... ... ... o0 (609) (776) —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . .................... 110,032 (58,877) (89,857)
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents. . . ................ (557) 2,212 1,775
Net (decrease) increasein cashand cashequivalents. . ...t (21,583) 29,633 9,592
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period. . ............. ... i, 434,631 404,998 395,406
Cash and cash equivalents,end of period . ... $ 413,048 $ 434,631 $ 404,998
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
(=== $ 86,138 $ 81,280 $ 96,642
INCOMELAXES . . ..ot 8,199 16,380 5,906
Non-cash investing activities:
Common stock issuance for conversion of related party 6.25% convertible
SUDOFAINAIEO NOES . . . ..o\ttt e e e e — 100,000 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business

Amkor isone of theworld’sleading providers of outsourced semiconductor packaging (sometimesreferred to as assembly)
and test services. Amkor pioneered the outsourcing of semiconductor packaging and test services through a predecessor
corporation in 1968, and over the years, we have built aleading position by:

»  Designing and developing new packaging and test technologies;
» Offering abroad portfolio of packaging and test technologies and services;

» Cultivating long-standing relationships with our customers, which include many of the world’s leading
semiconductor companies, and collaborating with original equipment manufacturers and equipment and material
suppliers;

»  Developing acompetitive cost structure with disciplined capital investment and building expertisein high-volume
manufacturing processes and

» Having adiversified operational scope with research and devel opment, engineering and production capabilities at
various facilities throughout China, Japan, Korea, the Philippines, Taiwan and the United States (“U.S.”).

Basis of Presentation

Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Amkor Technology, Inc. and our subsidiaries (“Amkor”).
Our Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the elimination of al significant inter-company accounts and transactions.
Our investments in variable interest entities in which we are the primary beneficiary are consolidated. We reflect the
remaining portion of variableinterest entitiesand foreign subsidiariesthat are not wholly owned as noncontrolling interests.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actua results could differ materially from those estimates and assumptions.

Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities

We have variable interestsin certain Philippine realty corporationsin which we have a40% ownership and from whom we
leaseland and buildingsinthe Philippines, for whichwearetheprimary beneficiary. Asof December 31, 2012, thecombined
book value of the assets and liabilities associated with these Philippine realty corporations included in our Consolidated
Balance Sheet was $16.7 million and $0.2 million, respectively. Theimpact of consolidating these variableinterest entities
on our Consolidated Statements of Income was not significant, and other than our |ease payments, we have not provided
any significant assistance or other financial support to these variable interest entities for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 or 2010. The creditors of the Philippine realty corporations have no recourse to our general credit.

Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. dollar isthe functional currency of our subsidiariesin China, Korea, the Philippines, Singapore and Taiwan, and
the foreign currency asset and liability amounts at these subsidiaries are remeasured into U.S. dollars at end-of-period
exchange rates, except for nonmonetary items which are remeasured at historical rates. Foreign currency income and
expensesareremeasured at daily exchangerates, except for expensesrel ated to balance sheet amountswhich are remeasured
at historical exchange rates. Exchange gains and losses arising from remeasurement of foreign currency-denominated
monetary assets and liabilities are included in other expense (income) in the period in which they occur.

Thelocal currency isthefunctional currency of our subsidiariesin Japan. Theasset and liability amountsof thesesubsidiaries
are trandated into U.S. dollars at end-of-period exchange rates. Income and expenses are translated into U.S. dollars at
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AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

average exchange rates in effect during the period. The resulting asset and liability trandlation adjustments are reported as
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in the stockholders’ equity section of the balance sheet. Assets
and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency are remeasured into the functional currency
prior to trandation into U.S. dollars, and the resulting exchange gains or losses are included in other expense (income) in
the period in which they occur.

Concentrations and Credit Risk

Financial instruments, for which we are subject to credit risk, consist principally of accounts receivable and cash and cash
equivaents. With respect to accounts receivable, we mitigate our credit risk by selling primarily to well established
companies, performing ongoing credit evaluations and making frequent contact with customers. We have historically
mitigated our credit risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents through diversification of our holdingsinto various high
quality mutual funds and bank deposit accounts. At December 31, 2012, our cash and cash equivalents were invested in
U.S. money market funds and various U.S. and foreign bank operating and time deposit accounts.

Risks and Uncertainties

Our future results of operationsinvolve anumber of risks and uncertainties. Factorsthat could affect our business or future
results and cause actual resultsto vary materially from historical results include, but are not limited to, dependence on the
highly cyclical nature of the semiconductor and electronic products industries, fluctuations in operating results and cash
flows, high fixed costs, failure to meet guidance, declining average selling prices, decisions by our integrated device
manufacturer customersto curtail outsourcing, our substantial indebtedness, our ability to fund liquidity needs, our ability
to draw on our current loan facilities, restrictive covenants contained in the agreements governing our indebtedness,
significant severance plan obligations, failureto maintain an effective system of internal controls, product return and liability
risksincluding warranty claims, the absence of significant backlog in our business, dependence on international operations
and sales, proposed changes to U.S. tax laws regarding earnings of our subsidiaries located outside the U.S., continuing
development and implementation of changes to our management information systems, attracting and retaining qualified
employees, difficulties consolidating and integrating our operations, dependence on material s and equipment suppliers, loss
of customers, the need for significant capital expenditures, impairment charges, litigation incident to our business, adverse
tax consequences, the development of new proprietary technology and the enforcement of intellectual property rights by
or against us, complexity of packaging and test processes, competition, our need to comply with existing and future
environmental regulations, natural disasters, fire, flood or other calamity and continued control by existing stockholders.

We believe that our cash flows from operating activities together with existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient
tofund our working capital, capital expenditureand debt servicerequirementsfor at | east the next twelvemonths. Thereafter,
our liquidity will continue to be affected by, among other things, volatility in the global economy and credit markets, the
performance of our business, our capital expenditure levels and our ability to either repay debt out of operating cash flows
or refinance debt at or prior to maturity with the proceeds of debt or equity financings.

We are subject to certain legal proceedings, lawsuits and other claims, as discussed in Note 16. We accrue for a loss
contingency, including legal proceedings, lawsuits, pending claims and other legal matters, when we conclude that the
likelihood of alossis probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. When the reasonable estimate of
the loss is within a range of amounts, and no amount in the range constitutes a better estimate than any other amount, we
accrue for the amount at the low end of the range. We adjust our accruals from time to time as we receive additional
information, but the loss we incur may be significantly greater than or less than the amount we have accrued. We disclose
loss contingencies if there is at |east a reasonable possibility that aloss has been incurred. Attorney fees related to legal
matters are expensed as incurred.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Our cash and cash equivalents consist of amountsinvested in U.S. money market funds and various U.S. and foreign bank
operating and time deposit accounts.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash, current, consists of short-term cash equivalents used to collateralize our daily banking services. Restricted
cash, non-current, consists of collateral to fulfill foreign trade compliance requirements.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market (net realizable value). Cost is principally determined by standard cost
(onafirst-in, first-out basis for raw materials and purchased components and an average cost basis for work-in-process) or
by the weighted moving average method (for commodities and spare parts), both of which approximate actual cost. We
review and set our standards as needed, but at aminimumon an annual basis. Wereducethe carrying value of our inventories
for the cost of inventory we estimate is excess and obsolete based on the age of our inventories. When a determination is
made that the inventory will not be utilized in production or is not saleable, it is written-off.

Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist principally of prepaid assets, deferred tax assets and an investment in government securities by
aforeign subsidiary to satisfy local regulatory requirements, which is recorded at amortized cost.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of depreciable assets which are as follows:

Land USErightS. . ..ot e 50 years
Buildings and improvemeNtS. . . . ... .ot 10 to 25 years
Machinery and eqUIPMIENt . . . ..ottt e e e e e e e e 2to 7 years
Software and COmMPULEr EQUIPMENT . . . . . ..ottt e e et e e e e 3to5years
Furniture, fixturesand other eqUIPMEnt. . ... ... .ottt e 4to0 10 years

Cost and accumulated depreciation for property retired or disposed of are removed from the accounts, and any resulting
gain or lossisincluded in earnings. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. The
following table presents depreciation expense as included in the Consolidated Statements of Income:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
CostOf SAlES . ..o $ 336,542 $ 302,011 $ 290,170
Selling, general and administrative. . .......................... 19,487 22,387 22,978
Researchand development. ............. ..., 10,600 5,981 4,509
Total depreciation eXPeNSe. . .. ..o v oo $ 366,629 $ 330,379 $ 317,657

We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changesin circumstancesindicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of along-lived asset group to be held and used in operations is measured by a
comparison of the carrying amount to the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset group. If such asset group is considered to be impaired, the impairment loss is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its fair value. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are
carried at the lower of cost or fair value less the costs of disposal.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Intangibles

Finite-lived intangible assets include customer relationship and supply agreements aswell as patents and technology rights
and are amortized on astraight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, generally for periods ranging from 3 to 10 years.
We continually evaluate the reasonableness of the useful lives of these assets. Finite-lived intangibles are tested for
recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss, if any, would be measured asthe excess of the carrying value over the fair value determined by discounted
future cash flows. Amortization of finite-lived assets was $3.9 million, $5.2 million and $5.9 million for 2012, 2011 and
2010, respectively.

Investments

In October 2009, we acquired a 30% interest in a packaging and test services business in Japan, J-Devices. See Note 10
for additional information. Our investment is accounted for as an equity method investment. We evaluate our investment
for other-than-temporary impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of the
investment may be less than its carrying value.

Other Assets

Other assets consist principally of deferred incometax assets, deferred debt i ssuance costs and refundabl e security deposits.

Other Non-current Liabilities

Other non-current liabilities consist primarily of deferred tax liabilities, deferred revenue, customer advance payments and
liabilities associated with uncertain income tax positions.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, consist of the following:

December 31,

2012 2011

(In thousands)
Unrealized foreign currency trandation gains, netof tax ........................ $ 16,614 $ 21,359
Unrealized components of defined benefit pension plan adjustments, netof tax . . .. .. (5,373) (10,510)
Total accumulated other comprehensiveincome . ...........ccoviiviinennan.. $ 11,241 % 10,849

The unrealized foreign currency translation gains are net of deferred income tax expense of $0.2 million and $1.8 million
at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The unrealized components of defined benefit pension plan adjustments are
net of deferred income tax benefits of $1.3 million and $1.4 million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock is recognized when outstanding shares are repurchased or otherwise acquired by us, including when
outstanding shares are withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with certain restricted share awards
under our equity incentive plans. The repurchased and withheld shares are accounted for as treasury stock at cost. See
Note 3 and Note 14 for more information.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements

We apply fair value accounting for all financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the
financial statements on a recurring or nonrecurring basis. We define fair value as the price that would be received from
selling an asset or paid to transfer aliability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. See Note 15 for further discussion of fair value
measurements.

Revenue Recognition

We recogni ze revenue from our packaging and test serviceswhen thereis evidence of an arrangement, delivery has occurred
or services have been rendered, fees are fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. Generally these
criteria are met and revenue is recognized upon shipment. If the revenue recognition criteria are not met, we defer the
revenue. Deferred revenue generally results from two types of transactions: invoicing at interim points in the packaging
and test process prior to delivery and customer advances. Deferred revenue relatesto contractual invoicing at interim points
prior to the delivery of the finished product. Theinvoicing that is completed in advance of our revenue recognition criteria
being met is recorded as deferred revenue. Customer advances represent supply agreements with customers where we
commit capacity inexchangefor customer prepayment of services. These prepaymentsaredeferred and recorded ascustomer
advances within accrued expenses and other non-current liabilities.

We generally do not take ownership of customer-supplied semiconductor wafers. Title and risk of loss remains with the
customer for these materials at all times. Accordingly, the cost of the customer-supplied materials is not included in our
Consolidated Financia Statements.

An alowancefor sales creditsis recorded as areduction to sales and accounts receivabl e during the period of sale such that
accounts receivable is reported at its estimated net realizable value. The allowance for sales credits is an estimate of the
future credits we will issue for billing adjustments primarily for invoicing corrections and miscellaneous customer claims
and is estimated based upon recent credit issuance, historical experience and specific identification of known or expected
sales credits at the end of the reporting period. Additionally, provisions are made for doubtful accounts when thereis doubt
asto the collectibility of accounts receivable. The allowance for doubtful accountsis recorded as bad debt expenseand is
classified as selling, general and administrative expense. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon specific
identification of doubtful accounts considering the age of the receivable balance, the customer’s historical payment history
and current credit worthiness as well as specific identification of any known or expected collectibility issues.

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs

Amounts billed to customersfor shipping and handling are presented in net sales. Costsincurred for shipping and handling
areincluded in cost of sales.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development expenses include costs attributable to the conduct of research and development programs
primarily related to the development of new package designs and improving the efficiency and capabilities of our existing
production processes. Such costs include salaries, payroll taxes, employee benefit costs, materials, supplies, depreciation
and mai ntenance of research equipment, services provided by outside contractors and the allocabl e portions of facility costs
such as rent, utilities, insurance, repairs and maintenance, depreciation and general support services. All costs associated
with research and devel opment are expensed as incurred.

Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred income tax assets and

liabilitiesarerecognizedfor thefuturetax consequencesattributabletotemporary differencesbetweenthefinancial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis as well as for net operating loss and tax
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

credit carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which these temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of achangein tax ratesis recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment
date. A valuation allowanceis provided for those deferred tax assetsfor which it ismorelikely than not that the related tax
benefits will not be realized.

In determining the amount of the valuation allowance, we consider al available evidence of realization, aswell asfeasible
tax planning strategies, in each taxing jurisdiction. If all or aportion of the remaining deferred tax assetswill not berealized,
the valuation allowance will be increased with a charge to income tax expense. Conversely, if we conclude that we will
ultimately be able to utilize all or a portion of the deferred tax assets for which a valuation allowance has been provided,
therelated portion of the valuation allowance will be released to income as a credit to income tax expense. We monitor on
an ongoing basis our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets and the continuing need for arelated valuation allowance.

We recognizein our Consolidated Financial Statementstheimpact of anincometax position, if that position is morelikely
than not of being sustained on audit, based on thetechnical meritsof theposition. Relatedinterest and penaltiesare classified
asincometaxesin the financial statements. See Note 4 for more information regarding unrecognized income tax benefits.

2. New Accounting Standards
Recently Adopted Standards

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2011-04,
Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820). This ASU updates certain requirements for measuring fair value and disclosure
regarding fair value measurement. ThisASU is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2011. Our
adoption of ASU 2011-04 on January 1, 2012, impacted our financial statement disclosure (Note 15).

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensive Income (Topic 220). ThisASU eliminates
the option to report other comprehensive income and its components in the statement of changes in stockholders' equity
and requires an entity to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income and the components of
other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement or in two separate but consecutive statements. This
ASU is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2011. Full retrospective application isrequired. Our
adoption of ASU 2011-05 on January 1, 2012, impacted our financia statement presentation (Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income and Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity).

Recently Issued Standards

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02, Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220). Under ASU 2013-02, an entity is required to provide information about the amounts
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income ("AOCI™") by component. In addition, an entity isrequired to
present, either on the face of the financial statements or in the notes, significant amounts reclassified out of AOCI by the
respective line items of net income, but only if the amount reclassified is required to be reclassified in its entirety in the
same reporting period. For amounts that are not required to be reclassified in their entirety to net income, an entity is
required to cross-reference to other disclosuresthat provide additional details about those amounts. ASU 2013-02 does not
change the current requirements for reporting net income or other comprehensiveincomein the financial statements. This
ASU iseffectivefor reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2012. ASU 2013-02 isnot expected to haveasignificant
effect on our financial statement presentation or disclosure.
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3. Share-Based Compensation Plans

Our share-based compensation ismeasured at fair value and expensed over the service period (generally the vesting period).
Theamount of compensation expenseto berecognized isadjusted for an estimated forfeiturerate whichisbased on historical
data. The following table presents share-based compensation expense attributable to stock options and restricted shares:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

(In thousands)
SEOCK OPLIONS . ..ottt $ 1,160 $ 2025 $ 2,473
Restricted shares. . . ... 1,560 2,985 1,042
Total share-based compensation expense . ................... $ 2720 $ 5010 $ 3,515

The following table presents share-based compensation expense included in the Consolidated Statements of Income:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrative. .. ............ ... .. ... ..., $ 2,368 $ 4363 $ 3,080
Researchand development. . ............ .. .., 352 647 435
Total share-based compensationexpense .................... $ 2,720 $ 5010 $ 3,515

Thereis no corresponding deferred income tax benefit for stock options or restricted shares.
Equity Incentive Plans

Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan. OnAugust 6, 2007, our sharehol dersapproved the2007 Equity Incentive
Plan. On May 8, 2012, our shareholders considered certain changes to the plan which was approved as the Amended and
Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, (the* 2007 Plan”) that providesfor the grant of thefollowing typesof incentive awards:
(i) stock options, (ii) restricted stock, (iii) restricted stock units, (iv) stock appreciation rights, (v) performance units and
performance shares and (vi) other stock or cash awards. Those eligible for awards include employees, directors and
consultants who provide servicesto Amkor and its subsidiaries. Theinitial effective date of this plan was January 1, 2008,
and there were originally 17,000,000 shares of our common stock reserved for issuance under the 2007 Plan.

2003 Nonstatutory Inducement Grant Stock Plan. On September 9, 2003, we initiated the 2003 Nonstatutory Inducement
Grant Stock Plan (the* 2003 Plan”). The 2003 Plan generally providesfor the grant to employees, directors and consultants
of stock options and stock purchase rights and is generally used as an inducement benefit for the purpose of retaining new
employees. Thereisaprovision for an annual replenishment to bring the number of shares of common stock reserved for
issuance under the plan up to 300,000 as of each January 1.

1998 Director Option Plan. The Director Plan terminated in January 2008. The options granted under the Director Plan
were automatic and non-discretionary. Each option granted to a non-employee director vests over athree year period.

1998 Stock Plan. The 1998 Stock Plan terminated in January 2008. The 1998 Stock Plan generally provided for grantsto
employees, directors and consultants of stock options and stock purchase rights. The options granted vest over atwo to
five year period.
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A summary of the stock plans, the respective plan termination dates and shares available for grant as of December 31, 2012,
is shown below:

Amended and Restated

2007 Equity 2003
Stock Plans Incentive Plan Inducement Plan
Contractual life (years) . ..o e 10 10
Board of Directors Board of Directors
Planterminationdate . ............. ... . i Discretion Discretion
Shares available for grant at December 31, 2012 (in thousands) . . . . 14,415 444

Stock options

Stock options are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the stock at the date of grant.
Substantialy all of the options granted are exercisable pursuant to atwo to five year vesting schedule and the term of the
options granted is no longer than ten years. Upon option exercise, we may issue new shares of common or treasury stock.

In order to calculate the fair value of stock options at the date of grant, we use the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
Expected volatilities are based on historical performance of our stock. We also use historical data to estimate the timing
and amount of option exercises and forfeitures within the valuation model. The expected term of the optionsis based on
evaluations of historical and expected future employee exercise behavior and represents the period of time that options
granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant.

Thefollowing is asummary of all option activity for the year ended December 31, 2012:

Weighted Average Aggregate
Number of Weighted Average Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
(In thousands) per Share (Years) (In thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2011.......... 6,052 $ 9.97
Granted ... 100 4.58
Exercised........... ..o (50) 3.63
Forfeitedorexpired. . .................... (1,209) 11.64
Outstanding at December 31, 2012.......... 4893 $ 9.52 259 $ 48
Fully vested and expected to vest at
December 31,2012 ................... 4881 $ 9.53 257 $ 438
Exercisable at December 31,2012.......... T 4693 $ .68 233 $ 48
The following assumptions were used to calculate weighted average fair values of the options granted:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
Expectedlife(inyears). . ... 6.0 6.2 6.0
Risk-freeinterestrate . . ...t 1.0% 2.4% 3.0%
Volatility. ... 65% 67% 71%
Dividendyield .......... .. . — — —
Weighted average grant date fair value per optiongranted . ........ $ 268 % 406 $ 5.00

The intrinsic value of options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 was $0.1 million, $0.4
million and $0.3 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, cash received under al
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share-based payment arrangements was $0.2 million, $0.8 million and $1.0 million, respectively. Therelated cash receipts
are included in financing activities in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Total unrecognized
compensation expense from stock options, including aforfeiture estimate, was $0.4 million as of December 31, 2012, which
is expected to be recognized over aweighted-average period of 1.7 years beginning January 1, 2013. To the extent that the
actual forfeiture rate is different than what we have anticipated, the share-based compensation expense related to these
options will be different from our expectations.

Restricted Shares

We grant restricted shares to employees under the 2007 Plan. The restricted shares vest ratably over four years, with 25%
of the sharesvesting at the end of the first year and the remainder vesting monthly or quarterly thereafter, depending on the
grant, such that 100% of the shares will become vested on the fourth anniversary of the award, subject to the recipient’s
continued employment with us on the applicable vesting dates. In addition, provided that the restricted shares have not
been forfeited earlier, for certain grants, the restricted shares will vest upon the recipient’s death, disability or retirement,
or upon achangein control of Amkor or, in some cases, upon retirement. Although ownership of the restricted shares does
not transfer to the recipients until the shares have vested, recipients have voting and dividend rights on these shares from
the date of grant. The value of the restricted shares is determined based on the fair market value of the underlying shares
on the date of the grant and is recognized ratably over the vesting period or to the date on which the recipient becomes
retirement eligible, if shorter. Upon vesting of restricted stock awards, we may issue new shares of common or treasury
stock.

The 2007 Plan and the terms of certain share grants provide that for certain grants, when a recipient’s age plus years of
service equals or exceeds 75, the recipient will be eligible to voluntarily retire and become fully vested in their applicable
restricted shares upon retirement. Consequently, under federal tax law, when a recipient becomes retirement eligible, the
employee isimmediately taxable on 100% of their applicable restricted shares whether or not the recipient actually retires.
Upon the earlier of retirement eligibility or vesting of the applicable restricted shares, the recipient has a tax liability for
applicable grants and pursuant to the recipient’s award agreement, a portion of the restricted shares are withheld to satisfy
the recipient’s statutory minimum tax withholding obligations. The shares withheld are accounted for as treasury stock at
cost, which is determined by the closing stock price per share on the applicable date of vesting or retirement eligibility.

The following table summarizes our restricted share activity for the year ended December 31, 2012:

Weighted
Average
Number of Grant Date
Shares Fair Value
(In thousands) (Per Share)
Nonvested at December 31, 2011, . ... ... ittt 693 $ 7.33
AWards granted. . . ... ..ot 481 443
AWardS VeSO, . . ... (300) 7.36
Awardsforfaited. . ... ... e (58) 7.24
Nonvested at December 31,2012 . ... ... .. oot 816 $ 5.61

Awards vested of 0.3 million, included less than 0.1 million shares for retirement eligible recipients whose applicable
restricted shares are treated for accounting and tax purposes as if vested when they meet the retirement eligible date. The
fair value of shares vested during 2012 was $1.7 million.

The unrecognized compensation cost, including aforfeiture estimate, was $3.8 million as of December 31, 2012, whichis
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of approximately 3.0 years beginning January 1, 2013. To the
extent that the actual forfeiturerateisdifferent than what we have anticipated, the share-based compensation expenserel ated
to these awards will be different from our expectations.
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4, Income Taxes

Geographic sources of income (loss) before income taxes are as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

UNItEd SEALES. . . . . oo e e e e e e $ 17,062 $ (8097) $ (22,039

FOreigN . o 42,641 108,316 273,198

Total income beforeincometaxes. .................covn.... $ 59,703 $ 100,219 $ 251,159

The provision for income taxes includes federal, state and foreign taxes payable and those deferred because of temporary
differences between the financial statement and the tax bases of assets and liabilities.

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

Current
Federal . ... $ — $ — 3 10
St . o (75) 377 —
Foreign. ... 10,998 8,986 14,266
10,923 9,363 14,276

Deferred
Federa . ... 1,859 2,356 2,098
S . . o 266 337 300
Foraign. ..o 3,953 (4,932) 2,338
6,078 (2,239) 4,736
Total ProViSION . . ..ot $ 17,001 $ 7124 % 19,012

The reconciliation between the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 35% and our income tax provision is as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

US. federal tax at 35%. ... ..ot $ 20,896 $ 35039 $ 87,929
State taxes, net of federal benefit............................. 1,406 1,805 523
Foreign income taxed at differentrates ........................ (24,717) (22,507) (80,461)
Foreignexchangegain (I0ss) ............ ... it 12,329 (5,966) 3,176
Changeinvauationdlowance. . .......................co..t. (3112 (8,672) 15,004
Adjustmentsrelatedtoprioryears . .............. . ... (2,464) 3,582 (4,281)
Incometax creditsgenerated . ........... i (1,370) (466) (2,765)
Repatriation of foreign earningsand profits. . ................... 3,240 3,388 122
OthEr . o 793 921 (235)

Total . . $ 17,001 $ 7124 % 19,012
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The following is asummary of the components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities:

December 31,

2012

2011

(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards. . . ...t $ 155270 $ 162,655
Capital losscarryforwards. . . ...t 18,221 18,221
InCometaX CreditS. . ... oot e 31,665 20,591
Property, plantand equipment. . . ... .. 283 19,020
Accrued liabilities . ... ... e 46,045 40,185
Unrealized foreignexchangeloss. .. ... i 3,949 5,437
Ot o 19,252 16,160
Total deferred tax aSsetS. . .. oot 274,685 282,269
ValuationallowanCe . ... ... (209,757) (214,269)
Total deferred tax assets net of valuationallowance. ........................... 64,928 68,000
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plantand equipment. . . ... .. 3,263 4,532
Deferred gain. . . ..o e 6,899 6,899
ONEr o 13,031 13,954
Total deferred tax liabilities. . .......... o i 23,193 25,385
Net deferred tax assetS . . ..o vttt $ 41,735 % 42,615
Recognized as:
Other CUMENE BSSEES . . . . o vt ettt e et ettt e e e et $ 12615 $ 13,541
NN ASSES . . o o ettt e 40,047 45,627
ACCIUE BXPENSES . o\ ittt et (800) (10,044)
Other non-current liabilities ........... .. ... ... . i (10,127) (6,509)
Ot o $ 41,735 $ 42,615

In 2012, the valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets decreased by $4.5 million primarily asaresult of therealization
of domestic net operating loss carryforwards partially offset by an increase associated with losses and reservesin certain

foreign jurisdictions.

In 2011, the valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets decreased by $9.3 million primarily as aresult of the write-off
of net operating loss carryforwards in connection with the liquidation of our Singapore manufacturing operations and the

reorganization of the corporate structure of our Philippine manufacturing operations.

In 2010, the valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets increased by $14.7 million primarily as aresult of an increase
associated with lossesincurred in the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions offset by a$3.0 million decrease associated with

the release of a valuation allowance on certain net deferred tax assets in Taiwan.

71



AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

As a result of certain income tax accounting realization requirements with respect to accounting for share-based
compensation, the table of deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above does not include certain deferred tax assets at
December 31, 2012 and 2011, that arose directly from tax deductions related to equity compensation that is greater than
the compensation recognized for financial reporting. If such deferred tax assets are subsequently realized, they will be
recorded to contributed capital in the amount of $7.3 million. Asaresult of net operating loss carryforwards, we were not
able to recognize the excess tax benefits of stock option deductionsin 2012 because the deductions did not reduce income
tax payable.

Asaresult of certain capital investments, export commitments and employment levels, income from operations in Korea,
the Philippines, China, Singapore and Taiwan is subject to reduced income tax rates and in some cases is exempt from
income taxes.

Korea

In Korea, we have tax holidays resulting from our investment in the Gwangju, Seoul and Pupyong facilities. The Gwangju
tax holiday provides a 100% tax exemption through 2010, followed by a 50% exemption through 2013. The Seoul and
Pupyong tax holiday provides a 100% tax exemption through 2011, followed by a 50% exemption through 2014. In 2011,
we secured an additional tax holiday resulting from additional investment in Gwangju, which providesa100% tax exemption
through 2015 followed by a 50% exemption through 2017. After the holidays expire we will be subject to the Korean
statutory rate which is currently 24.2%. We recognized $11.2 million, $3.0 million and $25.4 million in tax benefits as a
result of the tax holidays on qualifying operationsin Koreain 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The benefit of the tax
holidays on diluted earnings per share was approximately $0.05, $0.01 and $0.09 for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Philippines

In the Philippines, we operate in economic zones and benefit from tax holidays on qualified products, as aresult of certain
capital investments we have made. For 2006 through 2010, qualifying Philippine operations benefited from a full tax
holiday, expiring at various timesthrough 2013, while the remaining operations benefited from a perpetual reduced tax rate
of 5%. In 2012, 2011 and 2010, our Philippines operations recognized $0.8 million, $2.7 million and $5.9 million,
respectively, intax benefitsasaresult of thetax holiday on certain qualifying operationsin the Philippines. Thetax holiday
had no impact on diluted earnings per share in 2012. The benefit of the tax holiday on diluted earnings per share was
approximately $0.01 and $0.02 for 2011 and 2010, respectively.

China

In China, commencing on January 1, 2008, we have a 100% tax holiday for two years and then a 50% tax holiday for an
additional three years. Asaresult of net operating losses, we did not realize any benefits relating to such tax holidaysin
2011 or 2010 in China. We recognized $1.7 million in tax benefits as aresult of the tax holiday in 2012. The statutory tax
rate in Chinais currently 25%. The benefit of the tax holiday on diluted earnings per share was approximately $0.01 for
2012. Thetax holiday had no impact on diluted earnings per share for 2011 and 2010.

Singapore

In October 2006, we were granted a ten-year pioneer incentive award in Singapore. The 100% tax holiday on Singapore
operations commenced on January 1, 2007. As aresult of net operating losses we did not realize any benefits relating to
the pioneer incentive. In 2010, we decided to wind-down and exit our manufacturing operationsin Singapore. The pioneer
incentive award was terminated in 2011. See Note 19 for more information.
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Taiwan

We were granted afive-year tax holiday on certain product linesin Taiwan beginning January 1, 2007 and an additional tax
holiday on certain product lines, which we elected to begin January 1, 2013. In 2012, 2011 and 2010, we did not recognize
significant tax benefits as a result of the tax holiday on certain qualifying operations in Taiwan. As aresult there was no
material per-shareimpact. Effective January 1, 2010, the statutory tax rate in Taiwan is 17%.

Our net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL’s") are as follows:

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2012 2011 Expiration
(In thousands)
US Federal NOL'S ... oo e $ 363913 $ 396,929 2021-2031
US SteNOL' S . ..o 210,539 233,085  2013-2031
FOreign NOL S . . ..o e 56,393 44,082 2014-2022

The deferred tax assets associated with approximately $43.8 million of the foreign net operating losses have been reserved
with avaluation allowance. We aso have U.S. capital loss carryforwards of $45.6 million, which will expirein 2013. The
deferred tax assetsassociated with our U.S. federal and state net operating lossesand capital lossesavailablefor carryforward
have been fully reserved with valuation allowances at December 31, 2012 and 2011. Also, our ability to utilize our U.S. net
operating and capital loss carryforwards may be limited in the future if we experience an ownership change as defined by
the Internal Revenue Code.

At December 31, 2012, we have varioustax creditsavailableto be carried forward including U.S. foreign incometax credits
totaling $8.1 million, expiring in 2016, income tax credits totaling $1.2 million expiring in varying amounts through 2014
at our subsidiary in Taiwan and income tax credits totaling $1.5 million expiring in varying amounts through 2017 at our
subsidiary in Korea. The deferred tax assets associated with the U.S. foreign income tax credits have been fully reserved
with avaluation allowance. Income tax credits generated by certain of our foreign subsidiaries in 2012, 2011 and 2010
have been recognized in our income tax provision (benefit).

Income taxes have not been provided on approximately $441.9 million of the undistributed earnings of our foreign
subsidiaries at December 31, 2012 over which we have sufficient influence to control the distribution of such earnings and
have determined that substantially all such earnings have been reinvested indefinitely. These earnings could become subject
to either or both federal income tax and foreign withholding tax if they are remitted as dividends, if foreign earnings are
loaned to any of our domestic companies, or if we sell our investment in certain subsidiaries. We estimate that repatriation
of theseforeign earningswould generateadditional foreign withholding taxesof approximately $6.0 million andinsignificant
U.S. federa income tax after foreign tax credits.

In 2011, we provided U.S. incometax on approximately $8.9 million of foreign earningsfrom a Singapore subsidiary where

we made the decision to commence liquidation. The U.S. income tax of $3.1 million on these foreign earnings was fully
offset by the tax benefit of our U.S. net operating losses.
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We operate in and file income tax returnsin various U.S. and foreign jurisdictions which are subject to examination by tax
authorities. The Bureau of Internal Revenueis examining our 2008 Philippinesincometax return. Our tax returnsfor open
yearsin all jurisdictions are subject to changes upon examination. Summarized below are the years subject to examination
for our largest subsidiaries.

Jurisdiction Years

UNited StateS . ..ot t  ee 2010-2012
0 2009-2012
P PPINES . . o 2008-2012
JAaN. . e 2007-2012
CiNa . . 2007-2012
S g0 7= oo = 2 2008-2012
TN . 2006-2012

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending gross amount of unrecognized tax benefitsis as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

BalanceatJanuary 1. ......... .. $ 7930 $ 10,503 $ 5,091

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year . . . . . . 5,551 24 4,933

Additionsfor tax positionsof prioryears . ................... 54 699 2,055

Reductions for tax positionsof prioryears . .................. (4,091) (2,248) (557)

Reductions related to settlements with tax authorities. . ......... (1,226) (991) —

Reductions from lapse of statutes of limitations............... — 57) (1,019)
Balanceat December 31............... ... $ 8218 $ 7930 $ 10,503

The net increase in our unrecognized tax benefits was $0.3 million from December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2012. Our
unrecognized tax benefitsincreased primarily becauseof a$1.7 millionincreaserel ated toeligibility for certaintax deductions
and a$3.8 millionincreaserelated to the application of alaw change. Theseincreaseswere partialy offset by a$4.0 million
reduction as a result of a favorable ruling related to revenue attribution and a $1.2 million settlement of contested prior
years deductions, each related to a foreign jurisdiction. Approximately $0.2 million of the $0.3 million net increase of
unrecognized tax benefits increased our income tax expense in 2012. At December 31, 2012, $6.3 million of our gross
unrecognized tax benefits would reduce our effective tax rate, if recognized.

Theliability related to our unrecognized tax benefitsis $2.1 million as of December 31, 2012 and isreported asacomponent
of other non-current liabilities. The unrecognized tax benefitsin the table aboveinclude the reduction of deferred tax assets,
which are not included in the liability reported as a component of other non-current liabilities.

It is reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will decrease by up to $1.5 million within
12 months due to an anticipated settlement of a contested prior year deduction in aforeign jurisdiction.

Our unrecognized tax benefits are subject to change as examinations of specific tax years are completed in the respective
jurisdictions. We believethat any taxes, or related interest and penalties, over the amounts accrued, will not have amaterial
effect on our financial condition, results of operationsor cash flows. However, tax return examinationsinvolve uncertainties
and there can be no assurance that the outcome of examinations will be favorable.
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5. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS") is computed by dividing net income attributable to Amkor common shareholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The weighted average number of common
sharesoutstandingincludesrestricted shareshel d by retirement eligiblerecipientsandisreduced for treasury stock. Unvested
share-based compensation awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are considered
participating securities and are included in the computation of EPS pursuant to the two-class method. As discussed in
Note 3, we grant restricted shareswhich entitle reci pientsto voting and nonforfeitable dividend rights from the date of grant.
As aresult, we have applied the two-class method to determine EPS.

Diluted EPSiscomputed on the basis of the weighted average number of shares of common stock plusthe effect of dilutive
potential common sharesoutstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common sharesincludeoutstanding stock options,
unvested restricted shares and convertible debt. The following table summarizes the computation of basic and diluted EPS:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands, except per share data)
Net income attributableto Amkor . ............. ...t $ 41,818 $ 91,808 $ 231,971
Income allocated to participating securities. . ................... (212) (332 (470)
Net income available to Amkor common stockholders............ 41,606 91,476 231,501
Adjustment for dilutive securities on net income:
Net income allocated to participating securitiesin basic
caculation. . ... .. 212 332 470
Interest on 2.5% convertible notes due 2011, netof tax .. ....... — — 1,318
Interest on 6.25% convertible notes due 2013, netof tax .. ...... — — 6,370
Interest on 6.0% convertible notes due 2014, netof tax .. ....... 16,103 16,103 16,103
Net income attributable to Amkor — diluted . . ............. $ 57921 $ 107911 $ 255,762
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic. . ................. 160,105 190,829 183,312
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock optionsand restricted shareawards. . .................. 241 199 363
2.5% convertiblenotesdue2011................. ... ... — — 2,918
6.25% convertiblenotesdue2013. . .............. ... ... — — 13,351
6.0% convertiblenotesdue2014. ............. ... ... ... 82,658 82,658 82,658
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted . ........... 243,004 273,686 282,602
Net income attributable to Amkor per common share:
BaSiC. ..o $ 026 $ 048 $ 1.26
Diluted . ... $ 024 $ 039 $ 0.91
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The following table summarizes the potential shares of common stock that were excluded from diluted EPS, because the
effect of including these potential shares was antidilutive:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Stock optionsand restricted shareawards .. .................... 4,416 5,070 6,585
2.5% convertiblenotesdue2011 .............. ... i — 1,094 —
6.25% convertiblenotesdue2013 ............. ... — 695 —
Total potentially dilutiveshares. . .......................... 4,416 6,859 6,585

6. Accounts Receivable, Trade

Accounts receivable, trade consist of the following:

December 31,

2012 2011

(In thousands)
ACCOUNESTECEIVAIE. . ... e $ 391,969 $ 301,000
Allowanceforsalescredits ........ ... i e (2,255) (2,185)
Allowance for doubtful accounts. . ......... ...ttt i (15 (272)
Total accounts receivabletrade, net of allowances. . ......................... $ 389,699 $ 298,543

7. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

December 31,

2012 2011

(In thousands)
Raw materials and purchased components. . . ........ccoviei i $ 166,691 $ 158,656
W OrK- M- PrOCESS. .« o o vttt e et e e 60,748 39,771
Total INVENLOIES . ... ..o $ 227,439 $ 198,427
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:

December 31,

2012 2011
(In thousands)

LaNd . . e $ 106,338 $ 106,338
Land UserightsS. . ... o e 19,945 19,945
Buildingsand improvements . . .. ... 904,919 871,970
Machinery and equUipment . . ... i 3,332,855 3,016,430
Software and computer eqUIPMENE. . .. ... .ot treeee 191,132 186,378
Furniture, fixturesand other equipment. . ........... .. i 19,194 19,736
CONSITUCHI ON IN PIrOgIESS. . . . vt ottt ettt et e e e ettt et e et 24,670 26,818
4,599,053 4,247,615

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization. .. ..., (2,779,084) (2,591,401)
Total property, plantand equipment, net. . . .......... ... i $ 1819969 $ 1,656,214

Thefollowingtablereconcilesour activity related to property, plant and equipment additionsas presented on the Consolidated
Balance Sheetsto purchases of property, plant and equipment as presented on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Property, plant and equipment additions ....................... $ 533,177 $ 452,989 $ 504,463
Net change in related accounts payable and deposits. . ............ 335 13,705 (58,794)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment. . ................... $ 533512 $ 466,694 $ 445,669

In January 2013, we sold office space and land located in Chandler, Arizonafor $24 million.

In February 2013, we entered into an agreement for the purchase of land for afactory and research and devel opment center
in Korea. The land purchase priceis ¥108.5 billion (approximately $100 million), payable in installments over the next
ten months.

9. Intangible Assets

Intangibles as of December 31, 2012, consist of the following:

Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net

(In thousands)

Patents and technology rights. . . ............ ... ...t $ 22,169 $ (19,636) $ 2,533
Customer relationships. . ...t 8,000 (5,767) 2,233
Tota intangibles. . ........ . ... . $ 30,169 $ (25,403) $ 4,766
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Intangibles as of December 31, 2011, consist of the following:

Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net

(In thousands)

Patents and technology rights. . . ............ ... ..ot $ 29,774 % (26,158) $ 3,616
Customer relationships. .. ..ot e 13,625 (8,859) 4,766
Tota intangibles. . ........ .. ... $ 43399 $ (35,017) $ 8,382

Amortization of identifiable intangible assets was $3.9 million, $5.2 million and $5.9 million in 2012, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. Based on the amortizing assets recognized in our balance sheet at December 31, 2012, amortization for each
of the next five yearsis estimated as follows:

Amortization
(In thousands)

2003 . e $ 3,364
2004 . e e 648
200D . e 355
200 . . e 134
2007 . 96
B 10 1= == (= P 169

Total amOrtiZation. . . ... e $ 4,766

10. Investments

Investments consist of the following:

December 31,
2012 2011

Carrying Ownership Carrying Ownership
Value Interest Value Interest

(In thousands, except percentages)

Investment in unconsolidated affiliate . .......... $ 38,690 30.0% $ 36,707 30.0%

J-Devices Corporation

In October 2009, Amkor and Toshiba invested in Nakaya Microdevices Corporation (“NMD”) and formed ajoint venture
to provide semiconductor packaging and test servicesin Japan. Asaresult of the transaction, NMD is owned 60% by the
former shareholders of NMD, 30% by Amkor and 10% by Toshiba and has changed its name to J-Devices.

We invested ¥1.5 hillion (approximately $16.7 million at inception) for our 30% equity interest and options to acquire
additional equity interests. The options are exercisable at our discretion and permit us to increase our ownership interest
of JDevices. In January 2013, we exercised our option to increase our ownership interest of J-Devices from 30% to 60%
for an aggregate purchase price of ¥6.7 billion (approximately $75 million). The transaction is expected to close in April
2013, subject to regulatory approval. We also have options that permit us to increase our ownership interest up to 66% in
2014 by purchasing shares owned by one of the other shareholders and up to 80% in 2015 by purchasing shares owned by
the other shareholders. In 2014 and beyond, Toshiba has the option, at its discretion, to sell sharesit ownsto usif we have
exercised any of our options. After we own 80% or more shares, the original shareholders of NMD have a put option which
allows them to sell their sharesto us. The exercise price for al optionsis payable in cash and is to be determined using a
formula based primarily upon the net book value and a multiple of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization of J-Devices.
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JDevicesisaseparate business and is not integrated with our existing Japan-based businesses. The governance provisions
applicableto J-Devicesrestrict our ability, even after obtaining majority ownership, to cause J-Devicesto take certain actions
without the consent of the other investors. Accordingly, we account for our investment in J-Devices using the equity method
of accounting andwill continueto account for J-Devicesunder theequity method of accounting after increasing our ownership
interest as discussed above.

Under the equity method of accounting, we recognize our proportionate share of J-Devices' net income or loss, which is
after JDevices income taxes in Japan, during each accounting period as a change in our investment in unconsolidated
affiliate. J-Devices financia information is converted to U.S. GAAP and translated into U.S. dollars using Japanese yen
as the functiona currency. In addition to our proportionate share of J-Devices income or loss, we record equity method
adjustments for the amortization of a $1.9 million basis difference as our carrying value exceeded our equity in the net
assets of J-Devices at the date of investment and other adjustments required by the equity method. At December 31, 2012
and 2011, the unamortized basis difference was $0.4 million and $0.9 million, respectively. In 2012, 2011 and 2010, our
equity earnings in J-Devices, net of JDevices income taxes in Japan, was $5.6 million, $7.1 million and $6.4 million,
respectively.

In conjunction with entering into the joint venture, one of our existing subsidiariesin Japan purchased packaging and test
equipment from Toshiba for ¥4.0 billion (approximately $44.7 million at inception) and leased the equipment to J-Devices
under an agreement which was accounted for asadirect financing lease. In October 2011, J-Devices purchased $3.9 million
of this leased packaging and test equipment from our subsidiary. The eguipment lease expired in October 2012 and J
Devices exercised its option to purchase the remaining packaging and test equipment for ¥761.4 million (approximately
$8.8 million). During 2012, we received lease payments of ¥710.4 million (approximately $9.7 million), which included
imputed interest. In 2012, 2011 and 2010, we recognized $0.3 million, $0.8 million and $1.1 million in interest income,
respectively. Our lease receivable, net was $20.2 million as of December 31, 2011, and was recorded as a component of
other accounts receivable.

11. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2012 2011
(In thousands)

Payroll and benefits . ... ... o $ 56,651 $ 59,928
Deferred revenueand customer advanCesS . ... ..o v it 52,773 34,672
Accrued royalties (NOte 16) . . ... .. oot 33,324 —
ACCIUB INEEIESE . . . et e e 19,048 11,941
Accrued severance plan obligations(Note13) .............. ... ... 9,516 7,476
Incometaxespayable. . ... o e 8,341 4,446
Other accrued BXPeNSES . . . ..o oo 33,311 39,824

Total aCCrUEd BXPENSES . . .\ o ettt et $ 212,964 $ 158,287

Accrued royalties relate to our estimate of royalties due as a result of interim orders received from an arbitration panel in
July 2012 and February 2013 related to our pending patent license arbitration (Note 16).
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12. Debt

Following is a summary of short-term borrowings and long-term debt:

December 31,
2012 2011
(In thousands)

Debt of Amkor Technology, Inc.
Senior secured credit facilities:
$150 million revolving credit facility, LIBOR plus 1.50%-2.25%, due

JUNE 2017 (1) . oot $ — 3 —
Senior notes:
7.375% Senior notes, due May 2018. ... .. ... 345,000 345,000
6.625% Senior notes, due June 2021, $75 millionrelated party . ... ............. 400,000 400,000
6.375% Senior notes, due October 2022 (2) ... oo oo e i 300,000 —

Senior subordinated notes:

6.0% Convertible senior subordinated notes, due April 2014, $150 million related
DAY (B) ottt e 250,000 250,000

Debt of subsidiaries:
Amkor Technology Korea, Inc.:

$41 million revolving credit facility, foreign currency funding-linked base rate
plus2.33%, due JUNe 2013 (4) . ..ottt — —

Term loan, foreign currency funding-linked base rate plus 2.30%, due

March 2015 (5) . .o v oot e 100,000 —
Term loan, LIBOR plus 3.90% or 3.94%, due July 2017 (6). ... ............. 137,000 —
Term loan, LIBOR plus 3.70%, due December 2019 (7). . ... .o oo iiiin s 13,000 —
Term loan, bank funding rate-linked base rate plus 1.99%, due May 2013 (5) . . . — 103,000
Term loan, bank base rate plus 0.5%, due April 2014 (2) ................... — 107,140
Term loan, bank base rate plus 1.06% or 1.16%, due July 2014 (6) ........... — 50,000
Term loan, bank funding rate-linked base rate plus 1.7%, due March 2016 (2). . . — 12,512

Other:

Revolving credit facility, TAIFX plus a bank-determined spread, due
April 2015 (Tawan) (8) ... oo vttt et e — —

Term loan, TIBOR plus 0.8%, due September 2012 (Japan) (2) .. ............ — 9,495

Term loan, LIBOR plus 2.8%, due 12 months from date of draw (China) (2). . .. — 20,000
Term loan, TAIFX plus a bank-determined spread, due April 2015

(TaAWaN) (2)(8) + v v vttt e — 49,504

1,545,000 1,346,651

Less: Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-termdebt................ — (59,395)

Long-term debt (including related party) . . . ...t $ 1545000 $ 1,287,256

(2) InJune 2012, Amkor Technology, Inc. ("ATI") amended and restated the $100.0 million senior secured revolving
credit facility to increase the facility amount to $150.0 million and extend itsterm by two yearsto June 2017. The
facility has a letter of credit sub-limit of $25.0 million. As amended, interest is charged under the facility at a
floating rate based on the base rate in effect from timeto time plus the applicable margins which range from 0.25%
to 1.00% for base rate revolving loans, or LIBOR plus 1.5% to 2.25% for LIBOR revolving loans. The borrowing
base for the revolving credit facility is based on the amount of our eligible accounts receivable, which exceeded
$150.0 million as of December 31, 2012. In connection with amending and extending the facility, ATI capitalized
$0.8 million of deferred debt issuance costs for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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(2) In September 2012, ATI issued $300.0 million of 6.375% Senior Notes due October 2022 (the “ 2022 Notes’). The
2022 Notes were issued at par and are senior unsecured obligations. Interest is payable semi-annually on April 1
and October 1 of each year, commencing on April 1, 2013. The 2022 Noteswere registered in January 2013. We
used $224.9 million of the net proceeds from the issuance of the 2022 Notesto repay subsidiary debt. Weincurred
$5.2 million of debt i ssuance costs associated with the 2022 Notes. In October 2012, we repaid the term loans due
2014 and 2016 and recorded a $1.2 million loss on extinguishment related to prepayment fees of $0.5 million and
a charge for the write-off of associated unamortized deferred debt issuance costs of $0.7 million.

(3) InApril 2009, we issued $250.0 million of our 6.0% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due April 2014 (the
“2014 Notes’). The 2014 Notes are convertible at any time prior to the maturity date into our common stock at a
priceof approximately $3.02 per share, subject to adjustment. The2014 Notesare subordinated to the prior payment
in full of all of our senior debt. The 2014 Notes were purchased by certain qualified institutional buyers and
Mr. JamesJ. Kim, our Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, and an entity controlled by Mr. Kim. Mr. Kim
and his affiliate purchased $150.0 million of the 2014 Notes.

(4) InJdune 2012, Amkor Technology Korea, Inc., aKorean subsidiary (“ ATK”) entered into a$41.0 million revolving
credit facility with aKorean Bank with aterm of 12 months. Theloan bearsinterest at theforeign currency funding-
linked base rate plus 2.33%. Principal is payable upon maturity. Theloan is collateralized with substantialy all
land, buildings and equipment at our ATK facilities.

(5) InMarch 2012, ATK repaid the remaining outstanding balance of the ATK term loan due May 2013 by entering
into @ $100.0 million term loan with the same Korean bank. Principal is payable upon maturity. Thetermloanis
collateralized by substantially all the land, factories and equipment located at our ATK facilities.

(6) In June 2012, ATK entered into a $150.0 million, five-year secured term loan with a Korean bank which is
collateralized by substantially all the land, factories and equipment located at our ATK facilities. The $150.0
million consists of two components, $50.0 million of the proceeds (" Tranche A") which was used to fully repay
the ATK term loan due July 2014 and $100.0 million ("Tranche B") to fund capital additions. There was $13.0
million available under Tranche B as of December 31, 2012, which was subsequently drawn in January 2013.
Principal is payable upon maturity.

(7) In November 2012, ATK entered into a $100.0 million, seven-year secured term loan with a Korean bank which
is collateralized by substantially all the land, factories and equipment located at our ATK facilities. Interest is
payable quarterly in arrears and principal is payable upon maturity. In February 2013, we borrowed an additional
$10.0 million.

(8) In January 2012, Amkor Technology Taiwan Ltd, a subsidiary in Taiwan, converted the existing NT$1.5 billion
term loan from aTaiwan to aU.S. dollar denominated term loan. Theterm loan previously bore interest at the 90-
day primary commercial paper rate plus 0.835% and now bearsinterest at the Taipei Foreign Exchange ("TAIFX")
six month U.S. dollar rate plus a bank-determined spread. 1n September 2012, as noted above at (2), the term loan
was paid off in full. In addition, the term loan was converted to a revolving credit facility. All other terms and
conditions remain the same. At conversion, availability under the revolving credit facility was $44.0 million and
subsequent availability stepsdown $5.0 million every six monthsfrom the original availablebal ance, with aballoon
payment of the remaining balance at maturity. Asof December 31, 2012, $39.0 million was available to be drawn.

Interest Rates

As of December 31, 2012, we had atotal of $1,545.0 million of debt of which 83.8% was fixed rate debt and 16.2% was
variablerate debt. Asof December 31, 2011, we had atotal of $1,346.7 million of debt of which 73.9% was fixed rate debt
and 26.1% was variable rate debt. The fixed rate debt consists of senior notes and senior subordinated notes. Our variable
rate debt principally relates to our foreign borrowings and revolving lines of credit and any amounts outstanding under our
$150.0 million senior and secured revolving line of credit.
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Interest is payable semiannually on each of the senior notes and senior subordinated notes and interest is payable semi-
annually, quarterly or monthly on the variable rate debt. Refer to the table above for the interest rates on our fixed rate
debt and to the below table for the interest rates on our variable rate debt.

Variable Interest Rates at
December 31,

2012 2011
Amkor Technology, Inc.
Amkor Technology Korea, Inc.:
Term loan, foreign currency funding-linked base rate plus 2.30%, due March
2005, L 4.21% —
Term loan, LIBOR plus 3.90%, due July 2017 (Tranche A) ................. 4.26% —
Term loan, LIBOR plus 3.94%, due July 2017 (TrancheB) ................. 4.26% —
Term loan, LIBOR plus 3.70%, due December 2019. . ..................... 4.01% —
Term loan, bank funding rate-linked base rate plus 1.99%, due May 2013. .. ... — 5.72%
Term loan, bank baserate plus 0.5%, due April 2014 . ..................... — 5.08%
Term loan, bank base rate plus 1.06% or 1.16%, due July 2014 .. ............ — 3.96%
Term loan, bank funding rate-linked base rate 1.7%, due March 2016 . . .. ... .. — 5.63%
Other:
Term loan, TIBOR plus 0.8%, due September 2012 (Japan). . ............... — 1.30%
Term loan, LIBOR plus 2.8%, due 12 months from date of draw (China) ... ... — 3.27%
Term loan, TAIFX plus a bank-determined spread, due April 2015 (Taiwan). . . . — 2.40%

Compliance with Debt Covenants

The debt of Amkor Technology, Inc. isstructurally subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future debt and other
liabilities of our subsidiaries. Our collateralized bank debt agreements and the indentures governing our senior and senior
subordinated notes contain a number of affirmative and negative covenants which restrict our ability to pay dividends and
could restrict our operations. We were in compliance with all of our covenants as of December 31, 2012 and 2011.

Maturities

Total Debt
(In thousands)

Payments due for the year ending December 31,

2008 . e $ —
200 e 250,000
200D . e 100,000
200G . e —
2007 . e e 137,000
LI 1= == = 1,058,000

LI = 6 = o $ 1,545,000
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13. Pension and Severance Plans
U.S. Defined Contribution Plan

We have a defined contribution plan covering substantially all U.S. employees. Eligible employees can contribute up to
60% of their salary, subject to annual Internal Revenue Service limitations. We match in cash 75% of the employee's
contributions up to a defined maximum as determined on an annual basis. The expense for this plan was $1.8 million in
2012 and $1.9 million in 2011 and 2010.

Taiwan Defined Contribution Plan

We have a defined contribution plan under the Taiwanese Labor Pension Act in Taiwan whereby employees can contribute
up to 6% of salary. We contribute no lessthan 6% of the employees’ salaries up to adefined maximum into their individual
accounts. The expense for this plan was $2.3 million in 2012 and 2011 and $2.0 million in 2010.

Korean Severance Plan

Our Korean subsidiary participates in an accrued severance plan that covers employees with at least one year of service.
To the extent eligible employees are terminated, our Korean subsidiary would be required to make lump-sum severance
payments on behalf of these eligible employees based on their length of service, seniority and rate of pay at the time of
termination. Accrued severance benefits are estimated assuming all eligible employeeswereto terminate their employment
at the balance sheet date. Our contributionsto the National Pension Plan of the Republic of Koreaare deducted from accrued
severance benefit liabilities.

The changes to the balance of our Korean severance accrual are as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

Balance at thebeginningof year ............................. $ 106,715 $ 88,899 $ 69,120
Provision of severancebenefits . ........... .. ... ... L 19,667 26,705 23,792
SEVEraNCE PAYMENES . . . oottt (8,520) (6,717) (6,846)
Loss(gain) onforeignCurrency .........ovviiiein i, 8,900 (2,172) 2,833
126,762 106,715 88,899

Payments remaining with the Korean National Pension Fund. . ... .. (249) (239) (257)
Total severance obligation balance at theendof year ............. 126,513 106,476 88,642
Less current portion of accrued severance obligation (Note 11) .. ... 9,516 7,476 6,131
Non-current portion of severance obligation .................... $ 116,997 $ 99,000 $ 82,511

We completed early voluntary retirement programs at our Korean subsidiary in 2012 and 2010 (see Note 19).
Foreign Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Our subsidiaries in Japan, the Philippines and Taiwan sponsor defined benefit plans (the “Plans’) that cover substantially

all of their respective employeeswho are not covered by statutory plans. Chargesto expense are based upon costs computed
by independent actuaries.
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The following table setsforth the Plans’ benefit obligations, fair value of the Plans’ assets and the funded status of the Plans
at December 31, 2012 and 2011.

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2012 2011
(In thousands)

Change in projected benefit obligation:

Projected benefit obligation at beginningof year . ................ ... ... ... $ 78,897 $ 72,678
SEIVICE COSE . . vttt et 6,362 5,744
INEErESE COSE . . . . et 3,270 3,274
Benefitspaid . ... (1,168) (849)
Actuarial (gaing) 0SS . . ..ot (3,899) 4,755
Plan amendments. . ... ... o — 25
Effectsof curtaillment . ....... ... . 554 1,016
SE MmNt . ..o e (4,925) (9,563)
Foreign exchange losS. . . ..ot e 1,437 1,817
Projected benefit obligationatendof year .. ........... ... ... ... .. ... 80,528 78,897
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assetsat beginningofyear.............. ... ... ... ........ 48,801 54,737
Actual gain ONPlan aSSEtS. . ...t 3,500 815
Employer contributions. . . ... o 8,687 3,629
St emeENnt .. .. (4,925) (9,563)
Benefitspaid . ... (1,168) (849)
Foreignexchange gain. . . ...t e e e e 3,251 32
Fair valueof planassetsatendofyear .. ........... ... ... ... ... .. ... 58,146 48,801
Funded status of the Plansatendof year ........................ ... ....... $ (22,382) $ (30,096)

The accrued benefit liability, included in pension and severance obligations in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $22.4 million and $30.1 million, respectively. The accumulated benefit obligation as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $54.6 million and $52.5 million, respectively.
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Thefollowing table setsforth, by component, the change in accumulated other comprehensive income related to our Plans:

Initial Net Prior Service  Actuarial Net
Obligation Cost (Loss) Gain Total
(In thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2010, net of tax ($1.0 million). . ... $ (65 $ (261) $ (4384 $ (4,710
Amortization included in net periodic pension cost, net of
tax (lessthan $0.1 million) .. ......... ... ... ..... 7 255 65 327
Net loss arising during period, net of tax
($04million) ... — (25 (6,102) (6,127)
Adjustments to unrealized components of defined benefit
pension plan included in other comprehensive income,
net of tax ($0.4 million) ......................... 7 230 (6,037) (5,800)
Baance at December 31, 2011, net of tax ($1.4 million). . . .. $ (58) $ (31) $ (10421) $ (10,510)
Amortization included in net periodic pension cost, net of
tax (lessthan $0.1 million) . ...................... 6 219 181 406
Net gain arising during period, net of tax
(lessthan $0.1 million) .. ........................ — — 4,731 4,731
Adjustments to unrealized components of defined benefit
pension plan included in other comprehensive income,
net of tax ($0.1 million) ......................... 6 219 4,912 5,137
Balance at December 31, 2012, net of tax ($1.3 million). . . .. $ 52) $ 188 $ (5509 $ (5373
Estimated amortization of cost to be included in 2013 net
periodicpensioncost............................ .. $ 7% 258 $ 140 $ 405

Information for pension plans with benefit obligations in excess of plan assets are as follows:

December 31,
2012 2011
(In thousands)

Plans with underfunded or non-funded projected benefit obligation:

Aggregate projected benefit obligation. . ........... ... . $ 80,528 $ 78,897

Aggregatefairvalueof planassets. .. ... 58,146 48,801
Plans with underfunded or non-funded accumulated benefit obligation:

Aggregate accumulated benefit obligation . ............. ... ... ... oo 17,816 22,669

Aggregatefair valueof planassats . . ... ..o — —
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The following table sets forth the net periodic pension costs:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

Components of net periodic pension cost and total pension expense:

SEIVICECOSE . .ottt $ 6,362 $ 5744 $ 5,934
INtEreSt COSt .. oottt 3,270 3,274 3,736
Expectedreturnonplanassets. .. .........ccoi i (3,188) (3,119) (2,336)
Amortization of transition obligation. . ...................... 7 8 13
Amortization of prior servicecost. .. ... .. 291 269 295
Recognized actuarial loss. . ............. ... i 218 83 27
Net periodic pensioncost. ... ...t 6,960 6,259 7,669
Curtalment 10SS. .. ..ot 1,089 1,016 —
Settlement (QaiN) 10SS. . . ..o oo (100) 565 —
Total penNSioN EXPENSE . . . .o it $ 7949 $ 7840 $ 7,669

The following table sets forth the weighted-average assumptions used in computing the net periodic pension cost and
projected benefit obligation at year end:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Discount rate for determining net periodic pensioncost ........... 4.2% 5.2% 6.4%
Discount rate for determining benefit obligationsat yearend. ... ... 4.0% 4.2% 5.2%
Rate of compensation increase for determining net periodic

PENSION COSE. . oottt ettt 4.5% 4.6% 5.7%
Rate of compensation increase for determining benefit obligations

atyear end. .. ... 4.1% 4.5% 4.6%
Expected rate of return on plan assets for determining net periodic

PENSION COSE. . o vt vttt ettt e e 6.3% 6.4% 5.4%

The measurement date for determining the Plans’ assets and benefit obligations is December 31, each year. Discount rates
are generally derived from yield curves constructed from high-quality corporate or foreign government bondsin 2012 and
2011, for which the timing and amount of cash outflows approximate the estimated payouts.

Theexpected rate of return assumption isbased on weighted-average expected returnsfor each asset class. Expected returns
reflect acombination of historical performance analysisand the forward-looking views of the financial marketsand include
input from our actuaries. We have no control over the direction of our investmentsin our defined benefit plansin Taiwan
as the local Labor Standards Law Fund mandates such contributions into a cash account balance at the Bank of Taiwan
(formerly known as the Central Trust of China). The defined benefit pension plansin Japan are non-funded plans, and as
such, no assets exist related to these plans. Our investment strategy for our Philippine defined benefit planisbased on long-
term, sustained asset growth through low to medium risk investments. The current rate of return assumption targets are
based on an asset alocation strategy for our Philippine plan assets of 65% to 75% debt securities (primarily Philippines
domestic and U.S.) and 25% to 35% equity securities (primarily U.S. and Europe). The remainder of the portfolio will
contain other investments such as cash, short-term investments and common stock. Philippine plan assetsincluded Amkor
common stock totaling $0.4 million in 2012 and 2011.
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The fair value of our pension plan assets at December 31, 2012, by asset category utilizing the fair value hierarchy as
discussed in Note 15, isas follows:

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Identical Observable
Assets Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
(In thousands)
Cashandcashequivaents ..................coviiiiiiinnnn.. $ 1,348 $ — 3 1,348
Equity securities
Foreignsecurities. .. ...t e 394 — 394
U.S SECUMLIES ..o e 9,046 — 9,046
9,440 — 9,440
US. fixedincomefunds. ........... ... .. i, 1,714 — 1,714
Bonds
U.S. governmentbonds................ ... ... ..., 2,070 6,448 8,518
Foreigngovernmentbonds ............................... 406 — 406
Foreigntreasury NOteS . .. ...ttt 27,503 — 27,503
29,979 6,448 36,427
Taiwanretirementfund. . ......... ... ... .. 8,720 — 8,720
Other. ... 377 120 497
Total. .. $ 51578 $ 6,568 $ 58,146

The fair value of our pension plan assets at December 31, 2011, by asset category utilizing the fair value hierarchy as
discussed in Note 15, is asfollows:

Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other
Identical Observable
Assets Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total
(In thousands)
Cashandcashequivalents .............c.ooiiiiineennnnn.. $ 3242 % — $ 3,242
Equity securities
Foreign securities. .. ...t 283 — 283
U.S SECUMLIES ..ottt e et 4,474 — 4,474
4,757 — 4,757
US. fixedincomefunds. ........... ... .. i, 1,627 — 1,627
Bonds
U.S. governmentbonds................... ..., 2,007 5,192 7,199
Foreigntreasury NoteS . .. ...t 23,485 — 23,485
25,492 5,192 30,684
Taiwanretirementfund. .......... ... ... .. .. 7,991 — 7,991
Other. ... 346 154 500
Total. .. $ 43455 $ 5346 $ 48,801
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The Taiwan retirement fund category of our plan assets represents accounts that our subsidiaries in Taiwan have in a
government labor retirement fund in the custody of the Bank of Taiwan. The accounts earn a minimum guaranteed rate of
return. We have no control over the investment decisions of the fund which is invested in a mix of cash, domestic and
foreign equity securities and domestic and foreign debt securities.

Our other category of plan assets included receivables and payables at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011.

We contributed $8.7 million, $3.6 million and $7.9 million to the Plans during 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and we
expect to contribute $2.4 million during 2013. We closely monitor the funded status of the Plans with respect to legislative
requirements. We intend to make at least the minimum contribution required by law each year.

The estimated future benefit payments related to our foreign defined benefit plans are as follows:

Benefit
Payments

(In thousands)

2003 . $ 3,027
200 . e 4,327
2005 . 3,628
2006 . i 3,953
2007 . 4,208
200810 2022 . . .. e 34,036

14. Treasury Stock
Stock Repurchase Program

Our Board of Directors previously authorized the repurchase of up to $300.0 million of our common stock, $150.0 million
inAugust 2011 and $150.0 million in February 2012, exclusive of any fees, commissions or other expenses. The purchase
of stock under the program may be made in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions. The timing,
manner, price and amount of any repurchases will be determined by us at our discretion and will depend upon a variety of
factors including economic and market conditions, the cash needs and investment opportunities for the business, price,
applicable legal requirements and other factors. Our stock repurchase program has been and is expected to be funded with
available cash and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. All shares repurchased are recorded as treasury stock at
cost.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we purchased 16.5 million shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase
priceof $79.5million, net of $0.3 million of commissions, for an averageprice of $4.83. Duringtheyear ended December 31,
2011, we purchased 28.6 million shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $128.9 million, net of $0.6
million of commissions, for an average price of $4.51. At December 31, 2012, approximately $91.6 million was available
to repurchase common stock pursuant to the stock repurchase program. At December 31, 2011, $1.1 million of the $128.9
million amount repurchased remained unpaid and was recorded in accrued expenses. At December 31, 2012 there were no
unsettled shares.

Shares for Tax Withholding
We withheld 0.1 million shares for each of the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, from restricted sharesthat vested
during the respective period to satisfy tax withholding obligations. Minimum tax withholding obligations that arose on the

vesting of restricted shareswere $0.6 million and $0.8 millionfor theyearsended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
These shares are reflected as treasury stock at cost.
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15. Fair Value Measurements

The accounting framework for determining fair value includes a hierarchy for ranking the quality and reliability of the
information used to measure fair value, which enables the reader of the financial statements to assess the inputs used to
develop those measurements. Thefair value hierarchy consists of threetiersasfollows: Level 1, defined as quoted market
pricesin active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2, defined as inputs other than Level 1 that are observable,
either directly or indirectly, such as quoted pricesfor similar assets or liabilities, quoted pricesin marketsthat are not active,
model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or other inputs that
are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities
and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

Our assetsand liabilitiesrecorded at fair value on arecurring basisinclude cash equival ent money market fundsand restricted
cash money market funds. Cash equivalent money market funds and restricted cash money market funds are invested in
U.S. money market fundsand various U.S. and foreign bank operating and time deposit accounts, which are due on demand
or carry a maturity date of less than three months when purchased. No restrictions have been imposed on us regarding
withdrawal of balances with respect to our cash equivalents as a result of liquidity or other credit market issues affecting
the money market funds we invest in or the counterparty financial institutions holding our deposits. Money market funds
are valued using quoted market pricesin active markets for identical assets. We aso measure certain assets and liabilities,
including property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and an equity investment, at fair value on a nonrecurring basis.
For theyear ended December 31, 2012, such measurementsincluded the consideration of third party valuation reports based
on acombination of market and cost approach val uation techniques. Thevaluationreportscontained variousinputsincluding
semiconductor industry data, replacement costs, price lists and general information regarding the assets being evaluated.
Nonrecurring fair value measurements related to property, plant and equipment impairments reflect the fair value of the
assets at the dates the impairments were taken during the period. Our fair value measurements consist of the following:

December 31,
2012 2011
(In thousands)

Recurring fair value measurements:
Cash equivalent money market funds(Level 1) . ........ ... ..o in... $ 151,066 $ 165,540
Restricted cash money market funds (Level 1) .. ... 2,680 2,680

Nonrecurring fair value measurements:
Long-lived assets held for use or disposal (Level 3). ..., $ 868

Losses for the Year Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

Nonrecurring fair value measurements:
Long-lived assets held for use or disposal (Level 3)............ $ 763 $ 3336 $ 2,061

In 2012, 2011 and 2010, all impairment losses on property, plant and equipment were recorded in cost of sales with the
exception of $0.6 million recorded in selling, general, and administrative expensesin 2010.
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We measure the fair value of our debt for disclosure purposes. The following table presents the fair value and carrying
value of financia instruments that are not recorded at fair value on arecurring basis:

December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Fair Carrying Fair Carrying
Value Value Value Value

(In thousands)

Seniornotes(Level 1)............... ... $ 1061945 $ 1045000 $ 737,049 $ 745,000
Convertible senior subordinated notes (Level 1) ... 371,975 250,000 405,625 250,000
Subsidiary revolvers and term loans (Level 2) . . ... 269,200 250,000 352,679 351,651

Totaldebt............ ... ... L. $ 1703120 $ 1545000 $ 1495353 $ 1,346,651

The estimated fair value of the debt is based primarily on quoted market prices reported on or near the respective balance
sheet dates for our senior and senior subordinated notes. The estimated fair value for the debt of our subsidiaries is based
on market based assumptions including current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements adjusted for
duration, optionality and risk profile.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

We have aletter of credit sub-facility of $25.0 million under our $150.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility that
matures in June 2017. As of December 31, 2012, we had $0.3 million of standby letters of credit outstanding and had an
additional $24.7 million available for letters of credit. Such standby |etters of credit are used in the ordinary course of our
business and are collateralized by our cash balances.

We generally warrant that our services will be performed in a professional and workmanlike manner and in compliance
with our customers’ specifications. We accrue costs for known warranty issues. Historically, our warranty costs have been
immaterial.

Legal Proceedings

We are involved in claims and legal proceedings and may become involved in other legal matters arising in the ordinary
course of our business. We evaluate these claims and legal matters on a case-by-case basis to make a determination asto
the impact, if any, on our business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. Except as indicated
below, we believe that the ultimate outcome of these claims and proceedings, individually and in the aggregate, will not
have amaterial adverse impact to us. Our evaluation of the potential impact of these claims and legal proceedings on our
business, liquidity, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows could change in the future.

Arbitration Proceedings with Tessera, Inc.

On March 2, 2006, Tessera, Inc. (“ Tessera”) filed arequest for arbitration with the International Court of Arbitration of the
International Chamber of Commerce (the “ICC”), captioned Tessera, Inc. v. Amkor Technology, Inc. (the "First Tessera
Arbitration™). The subject matter of the arbitration was a license agreement (“License Agreement”) entered into between
Tessera and our predecessor in 1996. Initsrulingsin 2008 and 2009, the arbitration panel in the First Tessera Arbitration
found that most of the packagesaccused by Tesserawerenot subject tothepatent royalty provisionsof theLicenseAgreement,
awarded Tessera $60.6 million as damages for someinfringing packagesfor the period March 2, 2002 through December 1,
2008, and denied Tessera's request to terminate the License Agreement. The final award, plus interest and the royalties
through December 2008 amounting to $64.7 million, was expensed in 2008 and paid when due in February 2009.
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Following Tessera's favorable decision in the U.S Internationa Trade Commission (the“ITC”) in May 2009 against some
of our customers, Tessera began making repeated statements to customers and others claiming that we were in breach of
the royalty provisions of the License Agreement. We informed Tessera that we believed we were in full compliance with
the License Agreement and of our intent to continue making the royalty payments when due in accordance with the terms
of the License Agreement.

OnAugust 7, 2009, wefiled arequest for arbitrationinthe | CC against Tessera, captioned Amkor Technology, Inc. v. Tessera,
Inc. (the “Second Tessera Arbitration”). We ingtituted the action in order to obtain declaratory relief confirming that we
werealicenseein good standing under our 1996 L icense Agreement with Tesseraand that the License Agreement remained
in effect.

On November 2, 2009, Tessera filed an answer to our request for arbitration and counterclaimsin the ICC. In the answer
and counterclaims, Tesseradenied Amkor’sclaims, alleged breach of contract, sought termination of the License Agreement
and asserted that Amkor owed Tessera additional royalties under the License Agreement, including royalties for use of
thirteen U.S. and six foreign patents that Tessera did not assert in the First Tessera Arbitration. Tessera later dropped its
claimsonfiveof those patents. On February 17, 2011, Tesserasent Amkor anotice of termination of the License Agreement.

In May 2011, Tessera filed a new request for arbitration against Amkor with the ICC captioned Tessera, Inc. v. Amkor
Technology, Inc. (the" Third TesseraArbitration") seeking undi sclosed damagesand adecl aration that theLicense Agreement
had been terminated.

In July 2011, the panel issued its decision in thefirst phase of the Second TesseraArbitration. The panel found that we did
not owe any of the approximately $18 million of additional royalties claimed by Tessera for packages assembled by usfor
customers who had been involved in proceedings with Tessera before the ITC. Our reguest for a declaration confirming
that we were in compliance with the License Agreement and that our royalty calculations from the First TesseraArbitration
were correct was denied. The panel found that we had materially breached the License Agreement by not paying the full
amount of royaltiesdue and by failing to satisfy theaudit provisions of the License Agreement. Thefinal amount of royalties
and interest owed relating to the first phase of the Second Tessera Arbitration was approximately $0.5 million, which has
been fully paid.

In July 2012, the panel issued an interim order in the second phase of the Second Tessera Arbitration finding that royalties
are due to Tessera on three of the ten asserted U.S. patents remaining at issue but not on the other seven, royalties are due
on four foreign patentsrelated to U.S. patents that the panel found to be royalty bearing in the First TesseraArbitration and
that the License Agreement was terminated by Tessera as of February 17, 2011. We do not believe the termination of the
License Agreement will interfere in any significant way with our ability to use our technology, conduct our business or
service our customers. The panel also raised the question of whether Tessera intends to pursue its allegations regarding
other patents which have not yet been addressed by the panel, and in July 2012, Tesserainformed the panel that it intends
to proceed on its claims related to three additional U.S. patents.

In February 2013, the panel issued another interim order in the second phase of the Second TesseraArbitration. Inthelatest
ruling, the panel determined that flip chip only packages and pin grid array only packages are not royalty bearing but that
certain other packages, principally certain wirebond and combination flip chip wirebond packages are royalty bearing. The
panel reserved for later decision the issues of the amount of royalties and pre-judgment interest due, and the allocation of
costs. In February 2013, Tessera publicly announced its intention to seek an amount in excess of $150 million in the
arbitration.

During 2012, we recorded a charge of $56.0 million, based on our estimates of the damages and interest due to date in
respect of the Second TesseraArbitration. We believe that $56.0 million of damages and interest is a reasonable estimate
of the low end of the possible range of loss up to the amount claimed by Tessera. Because we believe that no amount in
the range constitutes a better estimate than any other amount, we recorded the $56.0 million estimate. Of the total charge,
$50.0 million was recorded as cost of goods sold and $6.0 million was recorded asinterest expense. The ultimate amount
of damages and interest is subject to determination by the panel based on anumber of complex factors, including the panel's
determination of which package families the patents apply to, whether those packages meet criteria previoudly laid out by
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the panel, overlaps among the packages, the final date through which royalties are applicable and other factors. The fina
award could be more than the amount recognized, and we expect to record our estimate of interest accruing with the passage
of time and may record additional charges as information develops or upon the issuance of the fina award.

In August 2012, we paid $19.9 million to Tessera representing the undisputed amount and related interest that we owe in
connection with the Second Tessera Arbitration.

InJuly 2012, Tesserafiledacomplaintinthe U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware. The complaint seeksinjunctive
relief and damageswith respect to Amkor'salleged infringement of one of the U.S. patentsthat the panel found to be royalty
bearing in the Second Tessera Arbitration. We strongly dispute Tessera's claims and intend to vigorously defend against
them. However, the outcome of this matter is uncertain, and an adverse decision could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Amkor Technology, Inc. v. Carsem (M) Sdn Bhd, Carsem Semiconductor Sdn Bhd, and Carsem Inc.

On November 17, 2003, we filed a complaint against Carsem (M) Sdn Bhd, Carsem Semiconductor Sdn Bhd, and Carsem
Inc. (collectively “Carsem”) with the ITC in Washington, D.C., aleging infringement of our United States Patent Nos.
6,433,277; 6,455,356 and 6,630,728 (collectively the “Amkor Patents’) and seeking, under Section 337 of the Tariff Act
of 1930, an exclusion order barring the importation by Carsem of infringing products. We allege that by making, using,
selling, offering for sale or importinginto the U.S. the Carsem Dual and Quad Flat No-L ead Packages, Carsem hasinfringed
on one or more of our MicroL eadFrame packaging technology claimsin the Amkor Patents.

On November 18, 2003, we also filed acomplaint in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California, aleging
infringement of the Amkor Patents and seeking an injunction enjoining Carsem from further infringing the Amkor Patents,
compensatory damages and treble damages due to willful infringement plusinterest, costsand attorney’sfees. ThisDistrict
Court action has been stayed pending resolution of the ITC case.

Thel TCAdministrativeLaw Judge (“ ALJ") conducted an evidentiary hearing during July and August of 2004 inWashington
D.C. and, on November 18, 2004, issued an Initial Determination that Carsem infringed some of our patent claimsrelating
to our MicroL eadFrame package technology, that some of our 21 asserted patent claims are valid, that we have adomestic
industry in our patents and that all of our asserted patent claims are enforceable. However, the ALJdid not find a statutory
violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act.

We filed a petition in November 2004 to have the ALJ s ruling reviewed by the full ITC. On March 31, 2005, the ITC
ordered a new claims construction related to various disputed claim terms and remanded the case to the ALJ for further
proceedings. On November 9, 2005, the AL Jissued an Initial Determination on remand finding that Carsem infringed some
of our patent claims and that Carsem had violated Section 337 of the Tariff Act.

On remand, the ITC had also authorized the AL J to reopen the record on certain discovery issues related to a subpoena of
documents from a third party. An order by the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia enforcing the subpoena
became final on January 9, 2009, and the third party produced documents pursuant to the subpoena.

OnJuly 1, 2009, the I TC remanded the investigation for asecond timeto the AL Jto reopen the record to admit into evidence
documents and related discovery obtained from the enforcement of the above-referenced third-party subpoena.

Following atwo-day hearing, on October 30, 2009, the AL Jissued an Initial Determination reaffirming his prior ruling that
the Carsem Dual and Quad Flat No-Lead Packages infringe some of Amkor’s patent claims relating to MicroL eadFrame
package technology, that all of Amkor’s asserted patent claims are valid and that Carsem violated Section 337 of the Tariff
Act.

On December 16, 2009, thel TC ordered areview of the AL J sInitial Determination. On February 18, 2010, the Commission

reversed afinding by the ALJ on the issue of whether a certain invention constitutes prior art to Amkor’s asserted patents.
The ITC remanded the investigation to the ALJ to make further findingsin light of the ITC'sruling. On March 22, 2010,
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theALJissued a Supplemental Initial Determination. Althoughthe ALJ sruling did not disturb the prior finding that certain
Carsem Dual and Quad Flat No-L ead Packagesinfringe some patent claims of Amkor'sU.S. Patent No. 6,433,277 (the"277
Patent"), the ALJ found that these infringed claims are invalid and, as aresult, the ALJ did not find a statutory violation of
the Tariff Act. OnJuly 20, 2010, the ITC issued aNotice of Commission Final Determination, inwhichthe | TC determined
that thereis no violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act and terminated the investigation. We appealed the ITC'sruling of
invalidity for the claims of the 277 Patent to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (the "Federal Circuit"), and
oral arguments were heard in November 2011.

OnAugust 22, 2012, the Federal Circuit issued afavorable ruling in Amkor's appeal in its patent infringement case against
Carsem beforethe ITC. Initsruling, the Federal Circuit reversed the ITC's determination of invalidity on the 277 Patent,
and remanded the matter to the ITC for further proceedings consistent with its opinion. On October 5, 2012, Carsem filed
a Petition for Rehearing requesting the Federal Circuit to vacate its decision and affirm the ITC's determination of no
violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act. The Federal Circuit denied Carsem's petition on December 7, 2012 and remanded
the matter to the ITC for further action consistent with its August 22, 2012 ruling.

In September 2012, Carsem, Inc. filed requests for Inter Partes Reexamination of the 277 Patent with the United States
Patent and Trademark Office (* Patent Office”). In December 2012, the Patent Officegranted therequestsfor Reexamination.
On January 10, 2012, the Patent Office issued an Office Action rejecting all of the 277 Patent claims over certain prior art
references. Amkor believesthat all of the 277 Patent claims are valid and intends to file aresponse to the Office Action in
March 2013.

Leases

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases that have initial or remaining noncancelable lease termsin excess
of oneyear are:

Lease Payments
(In thousands)

20 . e e $ 11,671
200 . 7,926
200D . 5,517
2006 . . . 953
207 o e 860
LI 205 0= 1= 2,109

TOtal. . oo e $ 29,036

Rent expense amounted to $13.2 million, $15.1 million and $16.3 million for 2012, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
17. Related Party Transactions

We purchase |eadframe inventory from Acqutek Semiconductor & Technology Co., Ltd. (“Acqutek”) under arms-length
transactions at terms consistent with our non-related party vendors. Mr. James J. Kim, our Executive Chairman of the Board
of Directors, owned approximately 16.2% of Acqutek at December 31, 2010. In July 2011, Mr. James J. Kim sold al of
his sharesin Acqutek and no longer holds any interest in the company. Asaresult, Acqutek isnolonger considered arelated
party. During 2011 and 2010, related party inventory purchases from Acqutek were $2.8 million and $10.3 million,
respectively.
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18. Business Segments, Customer Concentrations and Geographic Information

We have two reportabl e segments, packaging and test. Packaging and test areintegral stepsin the process of manufacturing
semiconductor devices, and our customers may engage with us for both packaging and test services, or for packaging or
test services individually. We have concluded that our packaging and test services constitute a group of similar services
within each reportable segment.

Packaging Services

We offer a broad range of package formats and services to our customers. The differentiating characteristics of package
formats can include: (1) size and thickness, (2) number of electrical connections, (3) thermal, mechanical and electrical
characteristics, (4) number of chips incorporated, (5) types of interconnect technologies employed and (6) integration of
active and passive components.

Test Services

We provide a complete range of semiconductor testing services including wafer testing or probe, various types of fina
testing, striptesting and compl eteend-of -linetest servicesup toandincluding final shipping. Testing servicesvary depending
upon the complexity of the device.

The accounting policies for segment reporting are the same as those for our Consolidated Financial Statements asawhole.
We evaluate our operating segments based on gross profit and gross property, plant and equipment. We do not specifically
identify and all ocate total assets by operating segment. Summarized financial information concerning reportable segments
is shown in the following table. The “other” column includes corporate adjustments, gross property, plant and equipment
of our corporate and sal es officesand capital additionsthat do not directly support manufacturing operations, such asresearch
and development and infrastructure projects.

Packaging Test Other Total
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Netsales......ooovviiiiii e $ 2438572 $ 320,974 $ — $ 2,759,546
Depreciationexpense. .. ..., 238,482 98,060 — 336,542
Grossprofit. ........... . 334,968 88,842 — 423,810
Gross property, plant and equipment . .. ....... 3,372,071 1,076,513 150,469 4,599,053
Capital additions. . ........................ 224,838 212,798 95,541 533,177
Y ear Ended December 31, 2011
Netsales......oovviiiiii i $ 2493283 $ 282,942 $ 134 $ 2,776,359
Depreciation expense. .. ........ccooiein... 218,327 83,377 307 302,011
Grossprofit. ........... . 425,878 65,719 (1,028) 490,569
Gross property, plant and equipment . .. ....... 3,217,308 880,611 149,696 4,247,615
Capital additions. . ........................ 275,781 101,841 75,367 452,989
Y ear Ended December 31, 2010
Netsales......oooviiiiii i $ 2650257 $ 288871 $ 355 $ 2,939,483
Depreciation expense. .. ........ccooiein... 209,146 80,907 117 290,170
Grossprofit. ........... .. 584,190 79,621 (55) 663,756
Gross property, plant and equipment . .. ....... 3,018,216 800,125 143,221 3,961,562
Capital additions. . ........................ 316,397 97,122 90,944 504,463
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The following table presents net sales by country based on customer location:

Net Sales for the Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
JAPaN . . $ 349,360 $ 340,302 $ 455,339
SINQAPOIE . .t 452,737 539,467 643,496
TA AN, . 99,047 119,334 177,505
Thailand . ... 139,134 111,748 125,998
Other foreigncountries. ... 576,318 577,895 646,339
Total foreigncountries. .. ...t 1,616,596 1,688,746 2,048,677
United SEatesS. . .. .ot 1,142,950 1,087,613 890,806
Total NEtSAlES. . ..o 2,759546 $ 2,776,359 $ 2,939,483

In2012, onecustomer accounted for 21.3% of our consolidated net sal es, representing approximately 20.0% of our packaging
net salesand 31.9% of our test net sales. 1n 2011, onecustomer accounted for 16.5% of our consolidated net sales, representing
approximately 15.1% of our packaging net sales and 29.6% of our test net sales. |n 2011, another customer accounted for
11.3% of our consolidated net sales, substantially all of which were packaging net sales. No customer exceeded 10% of

consolidated net sales in 2010.

The following table presents property, plant and equipment, net, based on the physical location of the asset:

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
at December 31,

2012 2011
(In thousands)

ChiNa . .o $ 409,822 $ 321,037
JAaN. . o 17,545 18,729
KOrBa . . ot 907,844 822,509
PhilipPIiNES . . o e 211,323 213,377
TAWAN . 233,114 230,975
Other foreign CoUNtries. . .. ... ot e 77 138

Total foreign CoUNtries. . . ... ot e e e et e 1,779,725 1,606,765
UNited StateS . ..ottt e 40,244 49,449

Total property, plant and equipment, net

95

............... $ 1819969 $ 1,656,214




AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — (Continued)

19. Exit Activities and Reductions in Force

Aspart of our ongoing effortsto improve our manufacturing operations and manage costs, weregularly evaluate our staffing
level sandfacility requirementscomparedto businessneeds. Thefollowing tablesummarizesour exit activitiesand reduction
in force initiatives associated with these efforts. “Charges’ represents the initial charge related to the exit activity. “Cash
Payments’ consists of the utilization of “Charges.” “Non-cash Amounts’ consists of asset impairments, pension plan
curtailments and settlements and foreign currency adjustments.

Employee
Separation Contractual Asset
Costs Obligations Impairments Total
(In thousands)

Accrual at December 31,2009 ................. $ 3938 $ 2813 $ — $ 6,751
Charges. ... 4,614 41 282 4,937
CashPayments . .................coviiiinn.. (7,882) (2,854) — (10,736)
Non-cash AmountsS. . ..........covivinnnnnnn. — — (282) (282)
Accrua at December 31,2010 . ................ 670 — — 670
Charges. ... 8,326 — — 8,326
CashPayments . .................coviiiinn.. (7,416) — — (7,416)
Non-cash AmountS. . ..........covivvnnnnnnn. (1,580) — — (1,580)
Accrual at December 31,2011 ................. — — — —
Charges. ... 11,211 — — 11,211
CashPayments . .................coviiiinn.. (8,682) — — (8,682)
Non-cash AmountS. . ..........covivvnnnnnnn. (922) — — (922)
Accrual at December 31,2012 ................. $ 1,607 $ — $ — $ 1,607

Reductions in Force

In December 2012, we reduced our workforce by approximately 60 employees at our manufacturing operations in Korea.
We recorded $1.6 million in charges for one-time termination benefits, all of which was charged to selling, general and
administrative expenses. All amounts accrued at December 31, 2012 are classified in current liabilities.

In March 2012, we reduced our workforce by approximately 120 employees at our manufacturing operationsin Japan. We
recorded $7.2 million in charges for one-time termination benefitsincluding $1.0 million in net curtailment and settlement
charges, of which $5.5million, $1.6 million and $0.1 millionwere charged to cost of sales; selling, general and administrative
expenses and research and devel opment expenses, respectively. All amounts were paid as of December 31, 2012.

During 2011, we reduced our workforce by approximately 1,050 employees at our manufacturing operations in the
Philippines. We recorded $8.3 million in charges for one-time termination benefits including $1.6 million in curtailment
and settlement charges, of which $7.7 million and $0.6 million were charged to cost of sales and selling, genera and
administrative expenses, respectively. All amounts were paid as of December 31, 2011.

Early Retirement Program
In October 2012, our manufacturing operationsin K oreaoffered avoluntary early retirement programfor eligibleemployees.
As aresult, we recorded charges for special termination benefits of $2.4 million, of which $1.8 million and $0.6 million

were charged to cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses, respectively. All amounts were paid as of
December 31, 2012.
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During 2010, our manufacturing operations in Korea offered a voluntary early retirement program for eligible employees.
As aresult, we recorded charges for special termination benefits of $2.1 million, of which $1.8 million, $0.2 million and
$0.1 million were charged to cost of sales; selling, general and administrative expenses and research and devel opment
expenses, respectively. All amounts accrued at December 31, 2010 were classified as current liabilities. All amountswere
paid as of December 31, 2011.

Singapore Manufacturing Operations

During 2009, we communicated to our employees the decision to wind-down and exit our manufacturing operations in
Singapore. We completed our exit as of December 31, 2010. Thiswind-down affected approximately 600 employees and
enabled us to improve our cost structure by consolidating factories. The mgjority of the machinery and equipment was
relocated to and utilized in other factories. At December 31, 2010, therelated net book value of $13.1 million was classified
as held for sale and included in other current assets. In June 2011, we sold the facility in Singapore for $13.3 million in
cash, net of goods and services tax, and recorded a gain of less than $0.1 million, with no net tax effect.

Theliability for one-timeinvoluntary termination benefitsfor employeesthat provided service beyond aminimum retention
period was recognized over the service period. During 2010, we recorded charges for termination benefits of $2.6 million,
of which $1.9 million and $0.7 million were charged to cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses,
respectively.

Contractual obligation costs, asset impairments and other costs were included in costs of goods sold. In October 2009, we
entered into apre-terminati on agreement with thelessor, and this agreement required usto make specified paymentsthrough
January 2010 in exchange for early termination and relief from our $1.1 million asset retirement obligation related to the
leased property. As aresult of remeasuring our remaining expected future lease costs, we reduced our liability by $0.5
million during 2009. Thiswasreflected asanon-cash accrual amount in 2009 and acash payment in 2010. Assetimpairment
expenses of $0.3 million in 2010 related to non-transferable machinery and eguipment as well as abandoned building
improvements at the leased facility. All amounts accrued at December 31, 2010, were classified in current liabilities. All
amounts were paid as of December 31, 2011.
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SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Additions

(Credited)

Balance at Charged

Beginning of to @ Balance at
Period Expense Write-offs Other End of Period
(In thousands)
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance:

Y ear ended December 31, 2010. . ........... $ 208,925 15,009 (5) (317) $ 223,612
Year ended December 31, 2011. .. .......... 223,612 (509) (8,163) (671) 214,269
Y ear ended December 31,2012 ............ 214,269 (1,626) (1,486) (1,400) 209,757

(8 Column represents adjustmentsto the deferred tax asset valuation allowance directly through stockholders' equity for
changesinaccumulated other comprehensiveincomerel ated to our forei gn defined benefit pension plansand cumul ative
trangl ation adjustments of our investment in unconsolidated affiliate.
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Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our
periodic reports to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’srules and forms, and that such information isaccumulated and communicated
to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to alow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure, based on the definition of “disclosure controls and procedures’ in Rule 13a-15(e)
and Rule 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. In designing and evaluating the disclosure
controls and procedures, management recognizesthat any disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provideonly reasonabl eassurance of achieving thedesired control objectives, and management necessarily
isrequired to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures.

We carried out an eval uation, under the supervision and with the partici pation of management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and our Chief Financia Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of December 31, 2012, and concluded those disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of that date.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management isresponsiblefor establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, assuch term
is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed
to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting includesthose policies and proceduresthat (i) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have amaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectivenessto future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changesin conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an assessment of theeffectivenessof our internal control over financial reporting asof December 31,
2012, based on the framework established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based ontheresultsof thisevaluation, our management
concluded that our internal control over financia reporting was effective as of December 31, 2012, based on criteriain
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012, has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears
under Part I1, Item 8.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Aspreviously reported, we continueto implement an enterpriseresource planning (“ ERP”) system over amulti-year program

on acompany-widebasis. Inaddition, we are also implementing anew shop floor systemin certain of our factories. During
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the three months ended September 30, 2012, we implemented several significant ERP modules at a subsidiary, including
modules associated with financial reporting, inventory costing and invoicing. The implementation of the ERP modules
represented a change in our internal control over financial reporting during the period in which they were implemented.
During the three months ended December 31, 2012, there were no changesin our internal control over financial reporting
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.  Other Information
None.
PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item 10, with the exception of information relating to the Code of Business Conduct as
disclosed below, isincorporated herein by reference from the material included under the captions “ Election of Directors,”
“Executive Officers,” and “ Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive proxy statement
(to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A) for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Additionally, our Code of Business Conduct, Code of Ethics for Directors, Corporate Governance Guidelines, and the
charters of the Audit Committee, Nominating and Governance Committee and Compensation Committee of our Board of
Directors are available and maintained on our web site (http://www.amkor.com). We intend to disclose on our web site
future amendments or waivers of our Code of Business Conduct required to be disclosed pursuant to applicable rules and
regulations.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
Theinformation required by this Item 11 isincorporated herein by reference from the material included under the captions
“Executive Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Report of the

Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors’ in our definitive proxy statement (to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A) for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Theinformation required by this Item 12, with the exception of the equity compensation plan information presented below,
isincorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement (to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A) for our 2013
Annua Meeting of Stockholders.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The following table summarizes our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2012:

(©

(a) Number of Securities
Number of Remaining Available
Securities to be (b) for Future Issuance
Issued Upon Weighted- Under Equity
Exercise of Average Compensation Plans
QOutstanding Exercise Price of (Excluding Securities
Options Outstanding Reflected in Column(a)
(In thousands) Options (In thousands)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders(1). . . .. 4866 $ 9.47 14,415
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders (2) . . 27 17.06 444
Total equity compensationplans. ..................... 4,893 14,859

(1) Asof December 31,2012, atotal of 14.4 million shareswerereserved for issuance under the 2007 Plan. Sharesavailable
for issuance under our 2007 Plan can be granted pursuant to stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock
appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares.

(2) As of December 31, 2012, a total of 0.4 million shares were reserved for issuance under the 2003 Nonstatutory
Inducement Grant Stock Plan, and thereisaprovision in this plan that restores the number of shares of common stock
reserved for issuance under the plan to 0.3 million as of each January 1. On January 1, 2013, no additional shareswere
added to the plan pursuant to the annual restoration provision.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item 13 isincorporated herein by reference from the material included under the captions

“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Proposal One — Election of Directors’ in our definitive proxy

statement (to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A) for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by thisItem 14 isincorporated herein by reference from the material included under the proposal

“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our definitive proxy statement (to be

filed pursuant to Regulation 14A) for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits

Thefinancia statementsand schedulesfiled aspart of thisAnnual Report on Form 10-K arelisted intheindex under Part 11,
Item 8.

The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K which are filed with this report or incorporated by reference herein,
aresetforthintheExhibit Index. Management contractsor compensatory plansor arrangementsareidentified by an asterisk.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has
duly caused thisAnnual Report on Form 10-K to be signed, on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AMKOR TECHNOLOGY, INC.

By: /9 Kenneth T. Joyce

Kenneth T. Joyce
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 8, 2013

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONSBY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears bel ow constitutes and appoints
Kenneth T. Joyce and Joanne Solomon, and each of them, his attorneys-in-fact, and agents, each with the power of
substitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and al capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this
Report on Form 10-K, and all documentsin connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting
unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and
thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, asfully to al intents and purposes as he might or could
do in person, hereby ratifying and conforming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents of any of them, or his or their
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, thisreport has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date

/s Kenneth T. Joyce President and Chief Executive Officer March 8, 2013
Kenneth T. Joyce

/s Joanne Solomon Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 8, 2013

Joanne Solomon

/9 James J. Kim Executive Chairman March 8, 2013
James J. Kim
/s Roger A. Caralin Director March 8, 2013

Roger A. Carolin

/9 Winston J. Churchill Director March 8, 2013
Winston J. Churchill

/9 John T. Kim Director March 8, 2013
John T. Kim
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Name Title Date
/9 Robert R. Morse Director March 8, 2013
Robert R. Morse
/s John F. Osborne Director March 8, 2013
John F. Osborne
/s JamesW. Zug Director March 8, 2013
James W. Zug
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Sales Contract of Commaodity Premises between Shanghai Waigaoqiao Free Trade Zone Xin Development
Co., Ltd. and Amkor Assembly & Test (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. dated May 7, 2004.(4)
Certificate of Incorporation.(1)
Certificate of Correction to Certificate of Incorporation.(3)
Restated Bylaws.(10)
Specimen Common Stock Certificate.(2)

Indenture, dated asof April 1, 2009, between Amkor Technology, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association,
as trustee regarding the 6.00% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014.(8)

Form of Note for the 6.00% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2014.(8)

Letter Agreement, dated March 26, 2009, between Amkor Technology, Inc., James J. Kim and 915
Investments, LP.(8)

Indenture, dated May 4, 2010, by and between Amkor Technology, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, astrustee, regarding the 7.375% Senior Notes due 2018.(11)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 4, 2010, by and among Amkor Technology, Inc. and Citigroup
Global MarketsInc. and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. regarding the 7.375% Senior Notes due 2018.(11)

Indenture, dated May 20, 2011, by and between Amkor Technology, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee, regarding the 6.625% Senior Notes due 2021.(13)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 20, 2011, by and among Amkor Technology, Inc. and Deutsche
Bank Securities Inc. and Citigroup Global Markets Inc.(13)

Letter Agreement, dated May 17, 2011, between Amkor Technology, Inc., James J. Kim and 915
Investments, LP.(13)

Indenture, dated September 21, 2012, by and between Amkor Technology, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee, regarding the 6.375% Senior Notes due 2022.(19)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated September 21, 2012, by and among Amkor Technology, Inc.,
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and UBS Securities LLC.(19)

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors and officers.(2)
1998 Stock Plan, as amended.(7)*
Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 1998 Stock Plan.(5)*

Contract of Lease between Corinthian Commercial Corporation and Amkor/Anam Pilipinas Inc., dated
October 1, 1990.(1)

Contract of Lease between Salcedo Sunvar Realty Corporation and Automated Microelectronics, Inc.,
dated May 6, 1994.(1)

Lease Contract between AAPI Realty Corporation and Amkor/Anam Advanced Packaging, Inc., dated
November 6, 1996.(1)

1998 Director Option Plan and form of agreement thereunder.(2)*

2003 Nonstatutory Inducement Grant Stock Plan, as amended.(7)*

Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.(16)*

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.(18)*

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan.
(18)*

Executive Incentive Bonus Plan.(16)*

Credit Facility Agreement, dated March 30, 2007, between Woori Bank and Amkor Technology Korea,
Inc.(6)

Additional Agreement, dated March 30, 2007, between Woori Bank and Amkor Technology Korea, Inc.
(6)

General Termsand Conditions for Bank Credit Transactions, dated March 30, 2007, between Woori Bank
and Amkor Technology Korea, Inc.(6)

Kun-Mortgage Agreement, dated March 30, 2007, between Woori Bank and Amkor Technology Korea,
Inc.(6)

104



10.17
10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24
10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32
10.33

10.34

121
211
231
311

31.2

32.1

101.INS**
101.SCH**
101.CAL**
101.LAB**
101.PRE**
101.DEF**

*

Kun-Guarantee, dated March 30, 2007, delivered by Amkor Technology, Inc. to Woori Bank.(6)

Voting Agreement, by and among Amkor Technology, Inc. and the Investors named therein, dated
November 18, 2005.(5)

2009 Voting Agreement, dated as of March 26, 2009, between Amkor Technology, Inc., James J. Kim and
915 Investments, LP,(8)

Working Capital Facility Agreement, dated January 20, 2009, between China Construction Bank Co.,
Ltd. And Amkor Assembly and Test (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.(9)

Real Property Mortgage Agreement, dated January 20, 2009, between China Construction Bank Co.,
Ltd. and Amkor Assembly and Test (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.(9)

Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2012, among
Amkor Technology, Inc., itssubsidiariesfrom timeto time party thereto, thelending institutionsfromtime
to time party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent.(17)

Credit Facility Agreement, dated May 24, 2010, by and between Amkor Technology K orea, I nc. and Woori
Bank.(12)

Additional Agreement, dated May 24, 2010, between Woori Bank and Amkor Technology Korea, Inc.(12)

General Terms and Conditions for Bank Credit Transactions, dated May 24, 2010, between Woori Bank
and Amkor Technology Korea, Inc.(12)

Amendment to Kun-Mortgage Agreement, dated May 24, 2010, by and between Amkor Technology Korea,
Inc. and Woori Bank.(12)

Kun-Guarantee, dated May 24, 2010, by and between Amkor Technology, Inc. and Woori Bank.(12)

Credit Facility Agreement, dated March 20, 2012, by and between Amkor Technology Korea, Inc. and
Woori Bank.(15)

General Terms and Conditions for Bank Credit Transactions, dated March 20, 2012, between Woori
Bank and Amkor Technology Korea, Inc.(15)

Loan Agreement, dated June 28, 2012, by and between Amkor Technology Korea, Inc. and The Korea
Development Bank.(17)

Factory Mortgage Agreement, dated June 28, 2012, by and between The Korea Development Bank and
Amkor Technology Korea, Inc.(17)

Loan Agreement, dated November 23, 2012, by and between Amkor Technology Korea, Inc. and The
K orea Devel opment Bank.(20)

Form of Amendment to Factory Mortgage Agreement, by and between The Korea Devel opment Bank and
Amkor Technology Korea, Inc.(20)

Severance Agreement and Release, dated May 23, 2011, by and between James Fusaro and Amkor
Technology, Inc.(14)*

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
List of subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopersLLP.

Certification of Kenneth T. Joyce, Chief Executive Officer of Amkor Technology, Inc., Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Certification of Joanne Solomon, Chief Financia Officer of Amkor Technology, Inc., Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Indicates management compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
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**  Thisinformationisfurnished and not filed or a part of aregistration statement or prospectus for purposes
of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the
SecuritiesExchangeAct of 1934, asamended, and otherwiseisnot subject toliability under these sections.

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed October 6, 1997 (File
No. 333-37235).

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on October 6, 1997, as
amended on March 31, 1998 (File No. 333-37235).

Incorporated by reference to the Company’ s Registration Statement on Form S-1filed on April 8,1998, asamended
on August 26, 1998 (File No. 333-49645).

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 6, 2004.
Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2006.
Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 4, 2007.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 7, 2008.
Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 1, 2009.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 6, 2009.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 5, 2009.
Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 5, 2010.
Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 27, 2010.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 20, 2011.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 4, 2011.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 23, 2012.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed April 5, 2012.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 2, 2012.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 2, 2012.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 21, 2012.
Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 27, 2012.
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